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Innovation Group provides 
specialist software and expert 
business process services to 
‘Future Ready’ global motor and 
property insurers, fleet owners 
and manufacturers.
We work for over 1,100 clients including 75% of the top property and casualty 
insurance companies globally, along with many regional players.

Over 3,000 employees and one of the largest repair networks in the world support the 
complete insurance value chain for our clients, handling over 4m motor and property 
claims and incidents a year.
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Five years of progress
2014 highlights

Future growth potential secured via complementary acquisitions in key growth areas

• 10% revenue increase at constant currency to £209.8m
• Adjusted profit before tax up 38% at constant currency to £27.5m
• Sales of one-off licences increased by £3.0m year on year, (see Asia Pacific and the UK Regional reviews)
• Operating cash conversion rate remains high at 88% 
• The Directors propose a final dividend of 0.2p per share making a total dividend for the year of 0.3p (2013: nil). The final dividend, if approved  

will be payable on 31 March 2015 to shareholders on the Company’s share register as at close of business on 20 February 2015

Future growth potential secured via complementary acquisitions in key growth areas

• Acquisition today of EMaC Limited, a UK service plan business, provides a strong, profitable, cash generative platform for expansion  
of the Group’s Motor offering in the UK and across Europe

• Acquisition of LAS Claims Management Limited broadens the Group’s outsourced service offering in UK Property
• Acquisition of Crashworth Limited and Driven Solutions Inc enhances the Group’s outsourced service offering in both the UK and US 

Motor divisions

Group structure and Board roles realigned to ensure long-term success of the Group

• Two distinct business divisions established, aligned to the Group’s market opportunities: Business Services (BPS) and Insurer  
Business (Technology)

• Appointment of Paul Nichols, Chief Executive – Insurer Business, in March 2014 to develop and grow our global software business
• Jane Hall, appointed Chief Executive – Business Services, from 1 January 2015 
• Lewis Miller will succeed Jane Hall as Group Finance Director on 1 March 2015
• Andy Roberts, will continue to lead the Group until 31 December 2015 at which time he will take up a part-time role 

12 months ended 30 September

Financial metrics 2014 2013

2013
at constant 

currency Growth

Growth
at constant 

currency

Revenue £209.8m £204.4m £191.1m 3% 10%
Adjusted EBITDA1 £37.0m £29.8m £27.8m 24% 33%
Adjusted profit before tax1 £27.5m £21.9m £20.0m 26% 38%
Profit before tax £13.2m £14.4m £12.4m (8)% 6%
Adjusted earnings per share1 1.87p 1.44p 1.33p 30% 41%
Operating cash inflow £22.9m £19.1m £17.2m 20% 33%

1 For a full definition of adjusted EBITDA, adjusted profit before tax, adjusted earnings per share after tax please see Appendix 2 on page 128.

Revenue 
Revenue at 
constant currency

+3% +10%
£209.8m

 
Profit before tax

Profit before tax at 
constant currency

-8% +6%
£13.2m

Adjusted earning per share at 
constant currency

+41%
1.87p

 
Operating cash flow

£22.9m

Adjusted profit before tax at  
constant currency

+38%
£27.5m

 
Net cash

£56.9m
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Building momentum
Innovation Group at a glance

We have been serving the worldwide insurance sector  
for over 20 years. Over that time we have come to believe  
that the business of insurance should be viewed and run  
as an end-to-end optimised, collaborative and integrated 
process, rather than a series of individual and unconnected 
actions. We apply this belief in all our work.

Our industry-leading business process and data services, our innovative and effective 
software products, our extensive repair networks, and our fixed price commercial models 
come together to give insurers market-leading cost efficiencies and the ability to provide 
a great customer experience.

Business process services

We offer an unrivalled and complete 
portfolio of software and services that can 
be deployed throughout a business, or on 
a service-by-service basis as required.

Our proven end-to-end solutions cover Policy 
& Fleet management; Claims, Incident & Risk 
management, as well as a full range of specialist 
services such as big data business analytics and 
fraud management.

Software

Our software business only develops software 
for the insurance market. We apply deep sector 
knowledge with an acute awareness of the 
challenges facing the industry, from changes 
in customer behaviour to the adoption of 
new technologies.

All of our software is designed to improve business 
agility, provide more flexible underwriting 
capabilities, enhance risk management and give 
customers a superior experience.
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Revenue split by geography 

● 25.8% UK
● 27.6% Germany
● 8.1% Rest of Europe

● 16.5% South Africa
● 12.9% North America
● 9.1% Asia Pacific

Revenue split by type

● 63.7% Motor BPS
● 20.3% Property BPS
● 1.3% Other BPS
● 14.7% Software

Where we operate
Australia
Belgium
Canada
France
Germany
India
Japan
Namibia
Netherlands
Pakistan
Poland
South Africa
Spain
United Kingdom
USA

Revenue breakdown by location (£’000)

UK

Germany

Rest of Europe

South Africa

North Africa

Asia Pacific

 £54,073

 £57,922

 £16,997

 £34,530

 £27,039

 £19,211
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Financial 
statements

Strategic 
report

Corporate 
governance

3,000
Employees

+1,100
Clients worldwide

+75%
of the top property  
and casualty insurance 
companies globally are  
our clients
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Structuring for growth
Chairman’s statement

In our last Annual Report, I said that our strategy 
was bearing fruit. I am pleased to report that we 
have continued to perform well and have met 
our profit expectations. We have now provided 
our shareholders with five years of revenue 
and adjusted profit growth – a record I am  
very proud of. 

In our last Annual Report, I said that our strategy 
was bearing fruit. I am pleased to report that we 
have continued to perform well and have met 
our profit expectations. We have now provided 
our shareholders with five years of revenue 
and adjusted profit growth – a record I am very 
proud of.

In addition, I am delighted to say that the  
three acquisitions we made during the year 
following our successful fund raising in March 
are integrating well, and last, but not least, we 
have reintroduced a dividend in order to share 
our success with our shareholders.

“ We have been able to produce  
increased revenue and adjusted profit  
by delivering higher value services  
and gaining market share.”

All of this has been achieved in the face of a 
market environment that has evolved differently 
to our expectations. We had thought that as the 
world’s economies emerged out of recession, 
increased economic activity would bring about 
higher claims volumes but this has not yet 
materialised to any great extent.

We have been able to generate increased 
revenue and adjusted profit by delivering more 
and higher value services and gaining market 
share based on our service levels, processes 
and technology together with the impact of  
the three acquisitions completed in the year. 
However, there have been few adverse weather 
events that lead to increased claims in the 
countries and markets which we served over the 
last year, and weather in Europe in particular was 
benign, further depressing claims volumes. We 
have also faced fiscal headwinds as currencies 
weakened against the pound. Despite all this 
our business model continues to prove itself 
in terms of both profit and cash generation. 
The Group is net cash positive which allows us 
to continue to invest in both acquisitions and 
our own research & development. By doing this 
we broaden the solutions we are able to offer  
to our customers.
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It is important to note that the Group remains 
committed to sustainability. At the recent 
UN Climate Talks, we were a signatory to a 
declaration that committed us to report 
on climate change information on a regular 
common basis.

We continue to invest in our people and of 
special note this year was our Centurion training 
programme that gave one hundred colleagues 
intensive exposure to our improved and 
updated methodologies and frameworks. 
Already we are seeing significantly better 
delivery capability from this.

The Board has also been considering how to 
structure the leadership of the business and to 
deal with succession planning. We believe the 
following changes will significantly aid our 
growth plans in the years ahead and enable  
us to further drive shareholder value. 

Effective from 1 January, Jane Hall will assume 
the commercially and operationally focused  
role of Chief Executive – Business Services.  
In this role Jane will be responsible for the 
performance of all of our international services 
businesses. I am delighted that Jane, as one of 
our most capable and committed executives, 
has elected to take up this position. Lewis Miller, 
currently MD of our North American BPS 
business and prior to that Finance Director of 
that business, will succeed Jane on 1 March 
2015. Jane will perform both roles until that  
time and will then step down from the Board.

Jane will work alongside Paul Nichols, who is 
already Chief Executive – Insurer Business 
(Technology) and has made good progress  
in developing and growing our global software 
business since his appointment in March.  
In the role of Group Chief Executive, Andy 
Roberts will continue to lead the Group until  
31 December 2015 at which time he will take 
 up a part-time role. Both Jane and Paul will 
report to Andy Roberts.

These are exciting times for our Group. At the 
close of a fifth successive year of revenue and 
adjusted profit growth, I would like to extend my 
personal thanks – and those of the Board and 
wider team – to Andy and Jane for their 
exemplary efforts in bringing us to this point  
so that we can embark on the next exciting 
chapter for the company and our shareholders.

Finally, as previously reported, I have indicated 
that I will be stepping down as Chairman. The 
search for my successor is now well underway 
and with these changes agreed I intend to had 
over to my successor at the Company’s AGM.

I would like to thank my fellow Board members, 
our management team, our advisors and our 
staff, who have worked hard to transform 
Innovation Group into an success story.

David Thorpe
Non-Executive Chairman
Innovation Group plc

“ A significant part of our 
value proposition is 
delivering excellent 
customer service at 
every customer 
interaction. 
 
Innovation Group 
continue to partner with 
us to deliver a valued 
service to our customers 
in their time of need; 
when making claims”

Neil Bowman
Managing Director
NLC Insurance
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Momentum continues
Chief Executive’s review

Innovation Group is clearly on a growth path 
under a stable and strong management team. 
Our task now is to build on these foundations 
and achieve our top three market share 
ambition in each operating region and grow 
our newly separated software business.

The results in this report come from very good 
operational and sales momentum. This is in turn 
based on the stability and quality of our regional 
management. I believe that we now have the 
best team of senior management we have had 
in the business since I first became involved, all 
aligned towards achieving our strategic goals. 
This clarity of purpose is already resulting in 
a consistency of results and a depth of 
engagement with the market that is building a 
strong pipeline of new and extended business.

This engagement is vital as the market is 
changing rapidly with more use of mobile 
technologies, data analysis and customer 
self-service. We are at the forefront of these 
changes, both through our own R&D with our 
Insurer software business, and also by working 
with partners such as Wunelli and Symbility. 
As well as technology leadership, we also aim 
to lead the market through innovative business 
models such as fixed price claims, backed up by 
partnerships with major reinsurers.

This year also saw us add the ability to manage 
both wet and dry perils in our property claims 
business in the UK. We will expand this capability 
into our other operating regions over the 
coming year, giving insurers access to a 
complete range of motor and property policy 
and claims services.

We are now well placed to grow strongly and 
consistently in all areas of our business.

With clear opportunities in both divisions of our 
business and with a strong pipeline in all regions, 
I look forward to the year ahead with confidence.

Andrew Roberts
Chief Executive Officer
Innovation Group plc

Innovation Group is clearly on a growth path 
under a stable and strong management team. 
Our task now is to build on these foundations  
and achieve our top three market share ambition 
in each operating region and grow our newly 
separated software business. 
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Market Share

To gain top 3 market 
share in services and 
technology in our 
 chosen markets.

Technology

To create a market 
competitive software 
business and to embed 
new ‘consumer 
technologies’ into our 
client’s value propositions.

Sustainability

To embed the principles
– low carbon, recycling, 
community partnerships, 
ethical employer – of a 
sustainable business in
all we do.

Supplier and
Repair Networks

To ensure long term 
partnerships using fair
yet business-like
relationship management. 

Innovative
Solutions

Growth from sales of 
innovative solutions to 
existing and new clients.

High-quality
customer service

Growth based on our 
reputation for high-quality 
customer service.

Strategic
acquisitions

Growth from strategic
and bolt-on acquisitions.

Knowledge

To transfer knowledge 
and global best practice 
between and among 
our clients.

Portfolio

To offer motor and 
property services in 
every operating territory.

Data

To provide data and 
analytical services to 
our clients giving them 
both insight and relevance. 

Business Models

To provide clients 
with new and 
innovative enterprise 
business models.

Clients

To be a strategic solution partner 
to major insurers and risk carriers, 
reducing their operational costs 
and indemnity spend while also 
improving their customer 
experience and satisfaction.

Growth

To operate in all of the world’s 
major insurance markets through 
organic growth, complementary 
acquisitions, and strategic 
partnerships. 

Our strategic objectives

• We act with 
integrity.

• We respect our 
clients, their 
customers our 
colleagues and 
suppliers.

Our values

• We are reliable. • We are 
innovative. 

• Our solutions 
are sustainable.
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Our promise

• for our customers: 
reduce costs and risks, 
improve efficiency and 
increase customer 
satisfaction and loyalty; 

• for our employees: 
provide meaningful jobs 
and a fulfilling working 
environment; and 

• for our shareholders: 
focus on delivering 
market-leading returns.

Our strategic goals



08 The Innovation Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014

Transaction
fees

Business
Process
Services

Software

Sale of
goods

Revenue
shares

Licence
fees

Implementation
fees 

Recurring
fees

Business model

Chief Executive’s review

How we generate value

Our Business Model

Typically, and unlike some of our 
competitors, we only report our fee for 
handling the claim, rather than the gross 
claims cost as we act under delegated 
authority from our clients. This provides 
earlier cash settlements from our clients 
and a positive cash flow model. 

Where we do carry risk, for example in the 
sale of parts in our German motor business, 
and on-risk service and maintenance plans 
in South Africa, we recognise revenue gross 
of claims cost. 

All of our software products have been 
designed to improve agility, provide more 
flexible underwriting capabilities, enhance 
risk management and give customers the 
experience they deserve. 

The key components of the Insurer suite 
are Insurer Policy, Insurer Claims and 
Insurer Analytics.

Business Structure
We operate a regional structure consisting 
of 6 regions operating in 12 countries. 
These regions are mature, well regulated 
insurance markets, where we believe there 
remains significant scope for further 
penetration for our services and 
technology into both existing and 
new clients.

We add to our product set, either 
 through internal research and 
development or the identification of 
strategic and bolt-on acquisitions. 

Our acquisition criteria is as follows:

• increases the volume of incidents handled; 
• makes us more efficient at handling 

incidents;
• broadens our product set, so we can  

sell different services to more  
customers; and

• increases our share of the margin within 
the supply chain.

Core Competitive Advantages
We believe our ability to deliver both 
Software and Business Process Service 
solutions to our customers makes our 
value proposition extremely strong.

Our own use of our Insurer technology in 
our BPS operations – Enterprise – provides 
us significant operational leverage.

We generate service revenues in three ways: 

1. Transaction fees, where we receive a fee per claim for handling 
motor and property claims on behalf of our clients; 

2. Sale of goods, where we sell motor parts and paint for use within 
the supply chain and attract a margin either as agent or principal; 

3. Revenue shares, where we use ‘risk and reward’ models to 
deliver quality service at the most efficient price to our 
customers and generate revenue based on cost savings.

We generate software revenues in three ways: 

1. Licence fees, for use of our software as a perpetual licence,  
a fixed term licence or on a transactional basis; 

2. Implementation fees, for the implementation of our software  
by our internal delivery team or chosen partners; 

3. Recurring fees, such as software maintenance & licence rental 
and data centre hosting. 

Sector Focus
We focus on motor and property general insurance, across personal and commercial lines, as well as fleet, lease management companies 
and motor manufacturers.
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Platform 
for change

Agility and 
flexibility

Innovation, insight 
and performance
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We provide future ready 
insurers with a platform of 
software and services so 
they can change and 
improve their business.

Our services and technology 
provide insurers with the 
ability to respond to market 
change and surge events, 
without drama.

We invest in new models, 
technologies and techniques. 
As all we do is insurance 
related we can offer real insight 
and share in the performance 
issues and challenges.
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Corporate 
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Future ready insurer

We want to work with insurers who are open to change and embrace both new technologies and new 
ways of working. These insurers want to create new products and services and engage on a deeper, 
more informed basis with their customers. They have ambition to grow and to lead their market with 
a reputation for customer service and experience. 

We call these insurers, ‘Future Ready’.

 75m+
We save continental 
European insurers more 
than €75m per annum
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Market context

Chief Executive’s review

17
Since 2010, Innovation 
Insurer has been recognised 
with 17 awards within six 
different award categories

Telematics

Digital

The Future of Data 

Innovation Group Says 

Innovation Group Says 

One of the fastest growing areas of innovation is in the 
field of telematics, which uses wireless devices to record 
data about driving behaviour to enable insurers to develop 
more accurate pricing for their policies and improve claim 
assessments. The telematics market is still relatively small 
although it’s set to increase as tracking capabilities are 
added in cars. The challenge for insurers then becomes 
how they manage a telematics claim.

The explosion in the provision of digital technology – social, 
mobile, analytics, cloud – is changing the way in which  
brands interact with their customers. 

Through digital technology – mainly smartphones – 
customers making a claim expect the same level of 
technology-led digital service that they get from elsewhere. 
In particular they want to know what is going on at every 
stage of a claims process and to interact  
with those involved.

All technological change generates large volumes of data 
– the question is how is that data stored, analysed, used 
and archived, and how can the future ready insurer optimise 
their business? Arguably, the big data revolution has yet 
to arrive for the insurance industry. Much insurance data 
remains unstructured and unorganised, meaning insurers 
are yet to see the full value of that data. Insurance 
companies are certainly behind their retail counterparts. 
Supermarkets have been building profiles of their 
customers for years. How insurers treat their data and how 
much value they can extract from them will come to shape 
their ability to remain competitive. 

Innovation Group believes 
that telematics will change 
the way insurance is sold. 
How insurers manage their 
systems in relation to all 
the new types of data will 
determine whether they 
can build a successful 
strategy around telematics. 
We provide the software, 
services and processes 
to enable them to flexibly 
update their systems whilst 
continuing to provide 
excellent customer service.

Innovation Group provides a 
number of different software 
and service packages that 
analyse and manage data for 
the insurer, enabling them 
to focus on what they need 
to do with the data output 
in order to drive customer 
acquisition and retention.
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At Innovation Group our subject matter experts work with clients, prospects, industry 
commentators and research organisations to establish the key impacts on the 
insurance industry over the coming decade. Understanding this market context 
determines how we organise ourselves to truly help the Future-Ready insurer.

The Future of Selling 

Flexibility

Innovation Group Says 

Innovation Group Says 

Innovation Group Says 

The digital revolution has led to a shift in the balance of 
power from the industry to consumer. Consumers are able 
to discuss their insurance purchases with hundreds of 
thousands of other consumers before making a decision, 
thanks to social platforms like Twitter or Facebook. 

Some have said that the circle of trust that existed 
between consumers and insurers has been broken. 
However, consumer loyalty is the new frontline of 
competition for insurers, and relationships need to be 
managed more closely than ever to ensure that loyalty 
is embedded into the buying cycle from day one.

Consumers are demanding greater flexibility. The rigid, 
annualised policies that currently dominate the industry are 
increasingly looking unsuited to the lifestyles (and finances) 
of drivers and homeowners today. 

Transparency and a willingness to meet and serve the 
consumer where they are on digital channels will be 
increasingly important. The question now is: will insurers 
take note of this shift in public sentiment and adjust their 
product portfolios and their practices accordingly?

Because customer 
experience and service is a 
strategic differentiator for 
insurers, Innovation Group 
works to deliver touchpoints, 
be they human, online, or 
through our repair networks, 
with empathy, efficiency 
and total quality. We also 
deliver smart technology 
that allows the insurers to 
develop their marketing 
packages in order to ensure 
customer retention. 

Our solution is to make the 
customer journey much 
smoother. We provide a single 
point of entry for insurers, 
customers and others involved 
in a claim, so they can access 
all of the various services. 

In our Property business, our 
software enables us to provide 
pre-paid cards to customers 
for major DIY chains. The wait 
for money and upfront costs 
are eradicated, and the insurer 
benefits from a smoother clear-
out of their claims backlog.

Innovation Group is able to 
provide flexible solutions 
which allow insurers to not 
only respond to the market 
challenges but also to grow. 
We target our sales resource 
towards the segments of the 
insurance market that are 
likely to have the greatest 
need and the greatest 
propensity to take advantage 
of our software and services. 

The next decade is set 
to be the most disruptive 
yet for the insurance 
industry. Response to 
market developments 
is happening against  
a backdrop of 
technological change 
that is overhauling 
traditional insurance 
models.
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Key risks and uncertainties 
Group strategic report

We operate a risk identification framework at a regional level, 
which assesses risks and categorises them as strategic, financial, 
operational and environmental risks. The risks are ranked to 
identify those risks that require assessment by the Board based 
on the potential exposure and likelihood of occurrence. All of these 
risks have controls and actions identified to mitigate them and 
these are reported on every month as part of the executive 
review process. 

Below is a summary of the key risks we have identified based upon 
the current market context and trends that we see developing,  
the linkage and potential impact on our strategic objectives as  
well as a commentary as to how we manage these as a Group. 

In common with all businesses we face 
a number of risks and uncertainties in 
relation to the achievement of our stated 
strategic objectives. It is vital that we 
understand and mitigate these risks and 
uncertainties so we can achieve our defined 
strategy, maximise value for, and protect 
the interests of all of our stakeholders. 

Description of 
identified risk

Link to strategic objective  
and potential impact if we  
fail to mitigate the risk

How management mitigates 
the identified principal risk

Failure to retain our 
competitive advantage

There is a risk that our software 
becomes obsolete in a competitive 
market place if we do not 
understand the wants and needs 
of the insurance carriers in each 
of the regions we operate in.

Our BPS business has relatively 
low barriers to entry. Product 
offerings and service levels 
must be continually improved 
through process and technology 
to avoid competition being 
based solely on price.

Strategic objective – Growth from 
sales of innovative solutions to 
existing and new clients.

Strategic objective – Growth 
based on our reputation for 
high-quality customer service.

Impact – If we are unable to 
maintain competitive advantage, 
our ability to gain and maintain 
market share will be impaired. 

We will continue to perform research and development 
and invest in our product offerings to ensure the 
Innovation Insurer product suite remains technologically 
competitive. Our product and road map is regularly 
validated by industry analysts and insurance consultants 
and we will continue to perform strategic acquisitions 
and partnerships which enhance our product set.

Our own BPS business uses “Enterprise” (our internal 
version of Innovation Insurer) to process claims. Enterprise 
will be continually upgraded to benefit from improved 
functionality in the product. We continue to invest in 
developing or acquiring ‘point’ solutions in both our Motor 
and Property divisions which will improve processes 
and give better efficiencies in the claims value chain.

Risk of acquisitions 
underperforming

The Group looks to undertake 
acquisitions which enhance 
our offering or increase the 
volume of claims entering our 
business, funded by the use of 
our credit facility, or through 
the issuance of shares as 
consideration. In all cases, the 
Group undertakes acquisitions 
which are identified as earnings 
accretive for our shareholders. 

There is a risk that an acquisition 
fails to perform as expected 
due to unforeseen issues, 
poor integration with the 
Group or underperformance 
against forecasts. 

Strategic objective – Growth 
through strategic and bolt-
on acquisition activity.

Impact – The failure of any 
acquisition to perform to plan will 
significantly impact our ability to 
deliver significant returns to our 
shareholders. Underperformance 
of acquisitions also increases the 
risk of impairment of goodwill or 
any intangible assets recognised 
as part of the acquisition. 

Detailed business plans are submitted to the Board for 
approval of all acquisitions costing most than £1m. These 
include integration plans (where appropriate) and projections 
of the acquisition on the basis that it is part of the Group. 

The Group Finance team will engage external advisors 
to perform due diligence, where the specifics of the 
acquisition is such that specialist advice is required. 

All acquisitions are budgeted for separately post 
acquisition, especially in the case where any element of 
consideration is dependent upon future performance. 

The integration of each acquisition with the rest of the 
Group is managed carefully with appropriate senior 
management involvement to minimise the disruption to 
acquired employees and customers and to ensure the 
maximum benefit is gained from identified synergies.
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Description of 
identified risk

Link to strategic objective  
and potential impact if we  
fail to mitigate the risk

How management mitigates 
the identified principal risk

Dependence on key 
clients and suppliers

The Group’s revenues depend in 
part on maintaining technology 
and BPS agreements with key 
insurance industry clients. There 
is a risk that key customers 
might cancel material contracts 
or decide to take technology 
or BPS services in-house. 

The Group relies on its 
relationships with its supplier 
networks. There is a risk that 
these key suppliers do not 
cost effectively satisfy their 
obligations to the Group.

Strategic objective – Growth 
from sales of innovative solutions 
to existing and new clients.

Strategic objective – Growth 
based on our reputation for 
high-quality customer service.

Impact – The loss of key customer 
contracts could result in a 
materially adverse effect on the 
Group’s ability to deliver planned 
financial results to shareholders.

A significant failure of delivery by 
the Group’s supplier networks 
could result in damage to 
the Group’s reputation and 
client relationships as well 
as adversely impacting on 
the results of operations.

We will continue to invest in our product offerings to ensure 
the Innovation Insurer product suite remains technologically 
competitive. Our product and road map is regularly 
validated by industry analysts and insurance consultants.

We will continue to invest in Enterprise and our internal  
processes to ensure we continue to deliver real value to  
our customers.

Supplier networks will continue to be managed to ensure the  
efficiency and cost effectiveness of these operations for  
our customers. 

Revenue may be significantly 
affected by weather conditions

The majority of the Group’s 
BPS services revenue is 
derived from handling motor or 
property claims. We therefore 
run the risk of significant claims 
fluctuations due to extreme or 
abnormal weather conditions. 

Through climate change, 
catastrophic (CAT) events are more 
unpredictable and are increasing 
in frequency and geographical 
range of occurrence. The claims 
process needs to undergo 
significant transformation to allow 
insurers to respond to customers 
more quickly and effectively.

Strategic objective – Growth 
from sales of innovative solutions 
to existing and new clients.

Impact – In order to become 
and remain a go-to partner 
for the customer base in our 
chosen target markets, we must 
be able to respond in an agile 
manner to changes in claims 
volumes which are triggered by 
changes in climatic conditions. 

Inability to prove this capability 
will reduce our ability to grow 
market share, impacting our 
future revenue growth and hence 
reduce the potential to provide 
returns to our shareholders. 

We continue to be able to respond quickly so as to  
handle any change in volumes whilst still maintaining  
high levels of customer service.

Part of our customer model is to provide overflow in 
times of their need. Therefore we have to be able to 
respond quickly to changes in required capacity. We have 
tested surge plans in place so as to satisfy our customers 
that we are able to cope with this additional volume. 

 Innovation Group will continue to develop a capability  
to deal with CAT events, using its global footprint to provide  
24/7 coverage to respond timely and effectively on  
behalf of clients.

Credit facilities and 
banking covenants

We have a £50.0m revolving credit 
facility which has a number of 
financial covenants. There is a risk 
of the Group breaching covenants 
if financial performance is not met. 

Strategic objective – Growth 
through strategic and bolt-
on acquisition activity.

Impact – A level of debt is required 
to fund significant earnings 
enhancing acquisitions, be they 
either strategic or bolt-on. 

Breach of covenants or removal 
of our credit facility would 
significantly impact our ability 
to perform acquisitions which 
support our strategic goal. 

At 30 September 2014, we had a net cash position of £56.9m 
and an undrawn revolving credit facility of £26.7m, out of a 
total available facility of £50.0m. The revolving credit facility 
expires in September 2019. As such, all debt drawn down 
under this facility is presented as a non-current liability. 

Financial covenants are reviewed as part of any significant 
acquisition and as part of the annual budget process. As 
part of this process, we prepare detailed profit and cash flow 
forecasts to assess these covenants on a forward looking 
basis so as to test the risk of breach. In addition, as per the 
terms of the covenants, they are tested every quarter with 
the results provided to our corporate bankers. There have 
been no covenant breaches nor are there any forecasted.

This is not an exhaustive list and other factors may impact the Group.
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The Group also has a number of operational 
KPIs that are used to manage the business on a 
day by day basis, many of which are woven into 
service level agreements within our customer 
contracts. Examples of these include:

• Number of claims notified within a time  
period (daily/weekly/monthly) – BPS;

• Number of claims closed within a time  
period – BPS;

• Average settlement value per claim – BPS;
• Size of sales pipeline – BPS and Software;
• Customer satisfaction – BPS and  

Software; and
• Utilisation of staff – Software.

It is considered impractical to separately 
report on these operational KPIs within the 
Group’s Annual Report and Accounts because 
although the KPI measurement may be the 
same, the targets will vary by region, driven 
predominantly by individual contractual service 
level requirements. 

The financial KPIs noted above are linked to the 
operational KPIs in a manner which mean that 
tracking the financial KPIs is considered to be a 
reasonable proxy for some of these operational 
KPIs. For instance, transactional revenue is 
driven by the number of claims handled in 
a period. 

These KPIs are considered to be relevant to the 
strategic goals as stated on the following bases: 

Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
Management has determined a number of KPIs, 
which are used to track progress throughout 
the year against our strategy. Prior period 
financial information is presented both at 
previously reported values and on a constant 
currency (“CC”) basis, using 2014 exchange 
rates to retranslate these reported numbers. 
We have done this so we may present the 
underlying performance of the business without 
the effect of translation. 

The Group’s Financial KPIs are:

• Revenue;
• Adjusted EBITDA;
• Adjusted Profit;
• Adjusted earnings per share; and
• Cash conversion as a percentage of 

adjusted EBITDA.

These measures have been selected as they are 
deemed to be most appropriate in measuring 
what is required to generate an increase in 
shareholder value and are consistent with 
previous years. Certain of these KPIs also form 
the basis of senior management reward, 
therefore ensuring that this is aligned with 
shareholder value creation. The Group’s 
performance against these KPIs is referred  
to as part of the following financial review. 

The definition of these terms and the method 
of calculation of them are outlined further in 
Appendix 2 on page 128.

How will we reach our strategic goal Relevance of KPIs to how we will achieve our strategic goal

Growth based on our reputation for  
high-quality customer service

On a day to day basis, our operations measure 
customer and client satisfaction as part of our 
service level agreements.

If we do not provide excellent service, then we 
run the risk of the loss of a client or a reduction 
in the volume of claims that we are asked to 
handle, thereby impacting revenue growth, 
profitability and generation of cash. 

Growth from sales of new innovative  
solutions to existing and new clients

We continually assess our sales pipeline in order 
to ensure that we have enough opportunities to 
support our growth targets. We use a Group 
wide standard methodology to consistently 
measure the size of opportunity.

Sales growth is measured by our ability to 
increase revenue. We measure and report 
revenue growth as a KPI. 
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How will we reach our strategic goal Relevance of KPIs to how we will achieve our strategic goal

Strategic and bolt-on acquisition activity Success of acquisition activity is measured  
by the returns we are able to generate through 
the integration of the acquired business into  
the Group and hence the level of adjusted  
profit generated. Part of the acquisition  
process is the submission of forecasts for 
revenue, profitability and cash generation;  
and identification of expected synergies  
(growth, strategy, leverage) to be gained  
from the acquisition. 

We separately track the performance of 
acquisitions, for at least the first full year post 
acquisition (unless that business is merged into 
another operation) so as to ensure we are able 
to compare the returns generated to that 
originally forecast in the acquisition process. 

Unless already budgeted for within that financial 
year (due to proximity of acquisition to the year 
end), all performance targets used to pay an 
incentive in the year of acquisition are increased 
to reflect the expected contribution from the 
acquisition target used to justify the acquisition.

 
Overall Group performance
Achievement against approved budget
The Board approved a budget for the Group in 
October 2013. On an overall basis, the Group 
achieved its adjusted profit and cash conversion 
targets set under this budget, but missed the 
revenue target due predominantly to the 
performance of our North American region and 
currency depreciation across all overseas 
territories and most particularly in South Africa.

Revenue (KPI)
Overall the Group achieved 3% growth in 
revenues to £209.8m (2013: £204.4m).

The Group aimed to achieve 21% year on year 
growth in overall group revenue at constant 
currency through a mixture of organic and 
in-organic (acquired) growth in all of its territories. 
Revenue growth at constant currency was  
10%, comprising an increase in BPS revenues  
of 7% to £179.0m (2013: £167.5m) and an 
increase in software revenues of 31% to  
£30.8m (2013: £23.6m). The Group’s 
underperformance against the constant 
currency target was primarily the result of lower 
than originally anticipated claims volumes in  
some regions linked to benign weather and 
lower than expected implementation revenues 
in the software business.

Excluding revenue from the acquisitions made 
in the year, which amounted to £7.6m, organic 
growth at constant currency was 6%.
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The Group operates internationally and results 
for the year are subject to movements in 
currency exchange rates. Approximately  
74% (2013: 77%) of the Group’s revenues are 
generated in currencies other than Sterling.  
The Group has a policy of not hedging 
translation movements that arise, although 
material transactions are hedged at the point 
they become more likely than not to occur. 
During the 2014 financial year the value of the 
Group’s overseas earnings has been impacted 
by the strengthening of Sterling against each  
of the Group’s main foreign currencies. 
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Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Profit and 
Adjusted Earnings Per Share (“AEPS”) (KPI)
The Group aimed to achieve 37% year on year 
growth in adjusted profit at constant currency. 
Over performance of this KPI when compared 
to revenue growth indicates strong operational 
leverage in the BPS business and an increase in 
high margin software licence revenue. Growth in 

reported adjusted profit, adjusted EBITDA and 
AEPS were 38%, 33% and 41% respectively 
against revenue growth of 10%.
 
Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted profit before tax 
for the year ended 30 September 2014 is 
calculated as follows:

2014 
(£m)

2013 
(£m)

2013 
(£m) c.c

Profit before tax 13.2 14.4 12.4
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets recognised under 

business combinations 5.1 3.9 3.9
Impairment of acquired intangible assets recognised under 

business combinations – 0.8 0.8
Share based payment costs 2.1 3.2 3.2
Exceptional costs 5.7 0.4 0.3
Post acquisition compensation 1.2 – –
Cost/(profit) in connection with disposal of subsidiary 0.2 (0.8) (0.6)

Adjusted profit before tax for the year 27.5 21.9 20.0
Amortisation of non-acquired intangibles 6.5 5.4 5.4
Share of profit of associate (0.1) (0.8) (0.7)
Net finance income – – –
Depreciation 3.1 3.3 3.1

Adjusted EBITDA 37.0 29.8 27.8

The improvement in the Group’s adjusted profit 
before tax is principally the result of the 
following significant items:

• Increased profits from the revenue sharing 
arrangements in the UK subsidence business;

• Increased volumes through the Group’s 
partnership with AXA in France;

• Sales of one-off licences increased by £3.0m 
year on year, mainly in Asia Pacific and the UK;

• Increased implementation revenues from 
software sales across the Group;

• Increased margins in a number of divisions 
from improved operational leverage; and 

• Contributions from acquisitions made in the 
current year of £3.0m; offset by

• Increased amortisation of non-acquired 
intangibles of £1.1m.

 

The regional improvements noted above are 
further expanded upon as part of the 
Regional review. 

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 
recognised under business combinations 
increased from £3.9m in 2013 to £5.1m in 2014. 
This increase is due to the full year impact of the 
2013 acquisitions as well as the additional 
acquisitions made during the current year – 
being Crashworth (February 2014), LAS (March 
2014) and Driven Solutions (September 2014). 
No impairment charge (2013: £0.8m) has been 
recognised against acquired intangible assets. 

The cost of share based payments was £2.1m 
(2013: £3.2m). The main driver of the reduced 
charge was the lower share price towards the 
end of the year, which reduced both the number 
of shares expected to vest and the absolute 
value of the awards, particularly in respect of the 
2011 Plan. The associated employer’s national 
insurance charge was at a similar level to the 
prior year. The Group made three further 
awards under the PSP scheme during the year 
and issued discounted share options to staff 
under the Group’s Sharesave scheme. 
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During the year, the Group incurred net 
exceptional costs of £5.7m (2013: £0.4m),  
this was the principal reason for the reduction  
in the Group’s profit before tax year on year. 
The exceptional costs comprised:

• A charge of £1.3m for deal costs relating  
to acquisition activity in the year; 

• A charge of £0.2m relating to additional 
payments of contingent consideration due  
on acquisitions of previous subsidiaries;

• A charge of £2.6m relating to restructuring 
the BPS business in Europe predominantly 
relating to the integration of the LAS and 
Crashworth acquisitions into the UK business;

• A charge of £0.6m relating to restructuring 
the Technology business in North America 
and the UK following the appointment of  
Paul Nichols in March 2014; and

• A charge of £0.9m relating to restructuring 
the BPS business in North America, Asia 
Pacific and South Africa.

During the year the Group paid £1.2m (2013: 
£nil) in post acquisition compensation which  
is recorded as an expense in the income 
statement rather than in goodwill as it is 
dependent on the continued employment  
of the vendor in the UK Motor business. 

During the year the Group incurred a debit to 
revenue of £0.2m (2013: £nil) in connection  
with the warrants to the disposal of 30% of  
our French subsidiary to AXA in April 2013.
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The decrease in profit before tax together 
with the share placement in the year has 
resulted in a 1% decrease in basic earnings 
per share (“EPS”) to 0.77p (2013: 0.78p).  
The significant increase in adjusted profit offset 
by the dilutive effect of the share placement in 

the year has resulted in a 30% improvement 
in adjusted earnings per share (“AEPS”) to  
1.87p (2013: 1.44p). 

Adjusted earnings per share is calculated 
as follows:

2014 
(p)

2013 
(p)

Basic earnings per share 0.77 0.78
Amortisation of 

intangible assets 
recognised under 
business 
combinations 0.46 0.41

Impairment of 
intangible assets 
recognised under 
business 
combinations – 0.08

Share based payment 
costs 0.19 0.32

Exceptional items 0.50 0.04
Post acquisition 

compensation 0.11 –
Profit on disposal of 

subsidiary 0.01 (0.06)
Tax effect of adjusted 

items (0.17) (0.13)

Adjusted earnings per 
share 1.87 1.44

The reduction in basic EPS is the result  
of significant costs of acquisitions and 
restructuring activity performed to position  
the Group’s UK and US BPS operations and  
the software business so as to maximise  
future shareholder return. The increase in 
adjusted EPS demonstrates the continued 
growth in underlying profitability of the Group. 
Commentary on the adjusting items is as 
described on pages 16 and 17 as part of the 
reconciliation from profit before tax to  
adjusted profit before tax. 

Group – Cash and Cash Conversion (KPI)
The Group ended the year with net cash of 
£56.9m (2013: £26.9m) comprising gross cash 
of £79.3m (2013: £50.7m) and debt of £22.4m 
(2013: £23.8m). On 22 September 2014,  
the Group entered into a new £50.0m,  
multi-currency revolving credit facility expiring 
in September 2019 with Barclays Bank plc.  
At the year end £26.7m of the facility was 
undrawn. Included within gross cash is £16.2m 
(2013: £16.7m) of cash available for use within 
our South African business; this continues to  
be subject to the normal government imposed 
exchange controls for that country.
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Operating cash inflow, adjusted for exceptional 
and taxation payments represents a conversion 
of cash relative to adjusted EBITDA of 88% 
(2013: 90%). Cash Conversion is a Group KPI  
and demonstrates the Group’s ability to convert 
profits into cash either for reinvestment into the 
business or for dividend distribution. This target 
is set at 85% to allow for the funding of growth in 
the business. 

 
Operating cash inflow (£m)

25

20

15

10

5

0 16
.9

16
.6

19
.1

22
.9

2011

7.
7

2010 2012 2013 2014

―  Target 85%

Cash conversion (%)

120

100

80

60

40

20

0 10
3

95 90 88

2011 2012 2013 2014

11
9

2010

Operating cash inflow was £22.9m (2013: 
£19.1m) after the payment of exceptional  
cash costs of £4.1m (2013: £1.4m) relating  
to exceptional charges in the current year  
and those accrued from previous years. 

The net cash outflow from investing activities 
was £51.2m (2013: £13.5m). This includes 
interest received of £0.9m (2013: £0.9m), 
payments for business combinations net of 
cash received of £40.8m (2013: £6.8m), cash 
received on sale of a non-controlling interest in 
a subsidiary of £nil (2013: £3.0m) and fixed asset 
additions of £11.1m (2013: £10.8m) of which 
£5.0m (2013: £3.7m) is the capitalisation of 
costs relating to the ongoing development and 
regionalisation of the Group’s core Innovation 
Insurer product and Innovation Enterprise.

Financing cash inflow of £61.0m (2013: inflow 
£3.3m) includes interest paid of £1.1m (2013: 
£0.8m), repayment of borrowings of £0.4m 
(2013: £1.7m), new bank loans of £1.0m  
(2013: £5.6m), dividends paid to minorities of 
£3.2m (2013: £2.3m), receipts from sale of 
shareholding in subsidiary undertakings where 
control has been retained of £nil (2013: £2.9m) 
and net proceeds from issue of shares of 
£64.7m (2013: £0.4m).

Group – Tax
The Group’s tax charge was £2.2m (2013: 
£4.3m). The Group’s adjusted tax charge of 
£4.1m (2013: £5.9m) is calculated by adding  
back the deferred tax credit recognised against  
IFRS acquired intangible asset amortisation  
of £0.9m (2013: £1.0m), the tax effect of 
exceptional costs of £0.9m (2013: £0.1m), the 
tax effect of post acquisition compensation of 
£0.2m (2013: £nil), the tax effect of the gain on 
disposal of £0.1m (2013: reduction of £0.2m) 
and deducting the movement in deferred tax  
on share based payments of £0.2m (2013: add 
back of £0,2m). 
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When expressed as a percentage of adjusted 
profit, this represents an adjusted effective tax 
rate of 15% (2013: 27%). This is much lower  
than the guidance given at the half year due  
to the recognition of £2.1m of previously 
unrecognised deferred tax assets in the UK  
and USA which have been crystallised by the 
creation of deferred tax liabilities on acquired 
intangibles. No other significant deferred tax 
assets have been recognised in the year. 

The Group’s adjusted effective tax rate is  
driven by a number of factors, such as:

• Split of profitability between the Group’s 
operating regions with differing tax charges; 

• Ability to efficiently group relieve tax losses; 
and

• Recognition of deferred tax assets where  
it is anticipated that these will be utilised  
in the future particularly in the UK and 
North America. 

The Group continues to carry forward significant 
unrecognised tax losses in certain UK and  
US entities, this is outlined in further detail  
on page 89 of note 10 to the accounts. 

Group – Trade and other Debtors 
Trade debtors have increased by £8.8m from 
£28.8m to £37.6m. The year end balance 
includes £2.5m of trade debtors acquired with 
Driven (see note 17) and approximately £4.0m  
in respect of a licence sale in the Australian 
software business. The underlying level of trade 
debtors is in line with the improved levels of 
revenues seen across the Group in the year.

Total accrued income has increased by  
£2.1m from £25.1m to £27.2m. This is primarily 
due to the acquired accrued income in the  
LAS and Driven businesses. During the year  
the Group crystallised £8.0m in relation to  
the revenue sharing arrangements in the UK 
Property business.

Group – Trade and other creditors
Trade creditors have increased by £5.8m from 
£35.2m to £41.0m. This is primarily due to the 
acquired trade creditors within the LAS and 
Driven businesses. 

Total deferred income has increased by £2.5m 
from £16.7m to £19.2m. This is primarily due to 
an increase in deferred income in South Africa 
from higher activity and the acquired deferred 
income within the Driven business. 

Group – Acquisition activity 
During the year the Group completed three 
acquisitions for a maximum total cost of 
£51.3m, all of which will be payable in cash. 
£4.8m of this balance was deferred at the 
year end. 

The revenue and adjusted profit before tax 
contributions from these acquisitions in the 
year to 30 September 2014 were £7.6m and 
£3.0m respectively. Further details on these 
acquisitions are included in the following 
Regional Review, on pages 20 to 25, and in  
note 17 to the accounts, on pages 96 to 99. 
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Regional review
United Kingdom

Group strategic report

Our UK business generates revenue across all  
of our product offerings – Motor BPS, Property 
BPS and Software. It has grown significantly in 
profitability over recent years driven by the 
exceptional performance of the UK subsidence 
business and through the impact of acquisitions.

Revenue
The UK reported revenue growth of 17%. 
Overall organic growth was 2% with the 
non-organic growth due to the in-year 
acquisition of Crashworth and LAS and the 
impact of a full year’s revenue from GVS 
acquired in 2013. 

Our Property business had year on year revenue 
growth of 28%. Organic revenue improved by  
7% due to the impact of the contract win with  
a Tier 1 insurer in October 2013. Although the 
subsidence business experienced a lower than 
normal year for new claims notifications; strong 
progression of existing open claims once again 
enabled us to generate high margin revenue  
due to the revenue sharing arrangements. We 
continue to focus on minimising indemnity and 
other costs incurred within the settlement of 
these claims, whilst ensuring we continue to 
meet the requisite standards of excellent 
customer service.

The acquisition of LAS in March 2014 was a 
strategically important step for the Group.  
LAS provides its customers with a full suite of 
outsourced services that handle claims across a 
range of property-related perils including storm, 
burst pipes, flood, fire, theft and accidental 
damage. The vast majority of LAS’s revenue 
comes from water-related claims: also known  
in the insurance industry as wet perils. The 
addition of wet perils skills and capabilities 
increases the addressable market claims spend 
of the UK Property business from £100m, 

(our existing subsidence or dry perils market),  
to £1.3bn. The combination of the two 
businesses is expected to generate significant 
revenue opportunities and the restructuring 
performed since acquisition has delivered 
significant operational synergies for the UK 
Property business as a whole.

Our UK Motor business grew by 2% on a year  
on year basis, reflecting a contraction in the 
existing business of 16% offset by the impact  
of acquisitions with a full year’s results from 
GVS, acquired in April 2013, and eight months 
results of Crashworth, acquired at the end of 
January 2014. The main reason for the lack of 
organic growth was the loss of certain customer 
contracts. However, the acquisition of 
Crashworth has transformed the UK Motor 
business into the second largest manager of 
vehicle repair claims in the UK, allowing clients 
to benefit from increased efficiencies. The 
combination of the two businesses under the 
leadership of Chris Ashworth, the founder of 
Crashworth and a leading figure in the UK motor 
claims industry for the last 20 years, is expected 
to deliver significant growth in the future. 

The UK Software business grew by 10% on  
a year on year basis, largely as the business 
benefitted from two one-off licence sales that 
generated £1.0m of revenues in the year. Both 
of these one-off licence sales converted annual 
licence rental into a perpetual licence for the 
Group’s historic Huon product. The combined 
annual licence retail income stream from these 
two customers was £0.6m and these revenue 
streams had been expected to be terminated  
by the customers in the near future.
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Germany’s main revenue stream is the provision 
of BPS solutions to the Motor industry across 
both insurance and fleet, this is augmented by a 
smaller property business. 

Revenue
The Motor division in Germany grew revenue 
by 2% year on year, or 5% at constant currency 
to £52.1m. The repair management business 
experienced volumes of claims below prior year 
levels due to the benign weather conditions 
experienced throughout the year. Overall 
revenue was flat in this business but is expected 
to grow significantly from the contract win with 
Zurich announced in October 2014.

The Fleet business had several new client 
wins and has rebuilt revenue to prior year levels 
despite having lost a significant fleet customer 
at the end of 2013.

Revenue in the motor division also includes 
£29.2m (2012: £27.3m) from the sale of parts 
which attracts very low EBITDA margins but 
grew quite strongly in the year with higher 
conversion rates from the Group’s own network. 

The Property division saw revenue growth of 
3% year on year, or 7% at constant currency to 
£5.8m. Volumes of claims were relatively flat as 
there were no significant weather events.

Adjusted Profit
Adjusted profit for the year improved by 3%, 
or 7% at constant currency to £9.2m. This was 
achieved through the revenue growth noted 
above, from continued cost efficiencies and 
from efforts to reduce cancellation rates. 

The first UK sale of Insurer Claims in the year 
followed the first UK sale of Insurer Policy at the 
end of 2013. These two implementations are 
important to the UK Software business as they 
will both offer solid reference sites to support 
the strong pipeline.

Adjusted Profit
Adjusted profit for the year increased slightly at 
£9.4m compared to £9.1m in the previous year. 

The increase in adjusted profit as compared to 
the previous year is the result of the following:

• Profits relating to the in-year and prior 
year acquisitions; 

• Profits in UK property generated through 
high margin revenue shares; and

• Profit of £1.0m from one-off licence sales  
offset by £0.9m loss from software 
implementation projects. 

 
Germany
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Rest of Europe revenue by division (£m)
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Regional review

Rest of Europe

Group strategic report

The Rest of Europe operations solely provide 
Motor BPS solutions to insurers and fleets. We 
use our own software, Enterprise, to manage 
repairs on behalf of both insurers and fleets 
across all regions, France, Belgium and Spain 
and we believe that the benefits of this are clear 
within the profits and profit margins generated 
by this part of the Group. 

Revenue
Revenue grew by 12% or 16% at constant 
currency to £17.0m, all of which was organic.

Last year the Group announced a strategic 
partnership with AXA France (“AXA”) which saw 
a subsidiary of AXA acquire a 30% shareholding 
in Nobilas France in return for AXA significantly 
increasing the volume of claims channelled 
through Nobilas France into the future. This 
partnership has proved very successful and has 
driven an increase in revenue in Nobilas France 
of 13% at constant currency.

The significant revenue growth in Belgium since 
the acquisitions in 2012 has continued in the 
year with revenue up 15% at constant currency. 
We continue to penetrate the broker and insurer 
market and we continue to see this as an area of 
exciting potential.

Revenue in our Spanish business has increased 
by 29% year on year at constant currency with 
the Group’s proposition being attractive to 
insurers and fleets seeking to reduce operating 
and indemnity costs. 

Adjusted Profit
Adjusted profit increased year on year by 42%  
or 46% at constant currency to £3.2m in 2014. 
This organic profit growth has been generated 
through the continued revenue growth as 
described above and the ability of these 
businesses to generate economies of scale, 
partly through the use of Enterprise. 
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South Africa revenue by division (£m)
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South Africa

South Africa’s main revenue stream is the 
provision of BPS solutions to the Motor  
industry. The largest contributor of revenue  
is the administration of warranty and service & 
maintenance products from a strong customer 
base of both motor manufacturers and  
finance houses. 

Revenue
On a constant currency basis, the business  
has again performed strongly, with revenue 
increasing by 7% (2013: 10%). Reported 
revenues in our South African business 
decreased from £39.1m in 2013 to £34.5m  
in 2014. This was caused by the significant 
weakening of the South African Rand on a  
year on year basis. 

The increase in revenues on a constant 
currency basis has been driven by new contract 
wins both in the service plan and warranty 
businesses and also in the smaller insurance 
division. Revenues were also impacted in the 
year by £0.5m through the agreement of price 
increases with a customer. The contract win 
with Fonesure announced in October 2013 did 
not perform as expected and the Group exited 
this arrangement during the year. 

It should be noted that the 2013 reported 
revenue for South Africa included £2.2m 
relating to the Travel Insurance business 
disposed of in June 2013. Therefore organic 
growth on a like for like constant currency 
basis was 14%.

Adjusted Profit
Adjusted profit fell from £8.3m in 2013 to  
£7.5m in 2014, a fall of 10%. On a constant 
currency basis the region improved adjusted 
profit by £0.6m, an increase of 9%. The increase 
in profitability on a constant currency basis was 
the result of increased revenues in the motor 
division as detailed above.

As in the previous financial year, we have 
recognised a profit share in regards to  
our Associate – Guardrisk. In total this  
has contributed £0.1m in the current year  
(2013: £0.8m). Of this figure, £nil (2013: £0.6m) 
was generated from a revision of the  
expected reserves required to settle out  
all claims within the cell.
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North America revenue by division (£m)
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Regional review

North America

Group strategic report

Our North American region generates  
revenue across all product lines, being Motor 
BPS, Property BPS and Software. The largest 
contributor is Motor. The North American 
market remains our largest opportunity in 
regards to improvement in market share  
across the Group. 

Revenue
Reported revenue in North America grew by  
4% on a year on year basis, or 11% at constant 
currency to £27.0m. Overall organic growth  
was 1% or 8% at constant currency.

Performance from our Motor BPS division saw 
reported revenue decrease by 1% year on year, 
or increase by 5% at constant currency to 
£10.7m. However, reported revenue included 
£0.8m from acquisitions, organic revenue 
decreased by 9% year on year, or 3% at constant 
currency to £9.9m. The fall in organic revenues 
resulted from a number of loss making 
contracts being terminated as part of the 
business restructure in 2013. By the end of 2014 
the Motor business had rebuilt revenues to prior 
year levels through winning new business.

Driven Solutions Inc. (“Driven”) was acquired  
in August 2014. Driven provides customers  
with access to a national towing and roadside 
assistance network and the acquisition 
broadens the Group’s product set in the region. 
The acquisition of Driven is expected to 
enhance the results of the Motor business as a 
whole in the region by increasing margins from 
the supply chain. 

The Property business contracted by 24% on a 
year on year basis, or 19% at constant currency 
to £2.5m. This was as a result of a number of 
loss making contracts being terminated as part 
of the business restructure in 2013 and a 
customer taking business back in house.

The Software business grew by 26% on a year 
on year basis, or 34% at constant currency to 
£11.2m (2013: £9.0m). This growth was 
generated from continuing implementation 
revenue associated with sales of Insurer in the 
current and prior years. Licence revenues were 
flat at £1.4m (2013: £1.4m). 

Adjusted Profit
The region recorded an adjusted loss of £0.3m 
which was an improvement of £0.9m from 2013 
as a result of the following:

• Impact in the prior year of the termination  
of a number of loss making contracts;

• Improved margins on software 
implementation revenue; and

• Adjusted profit from acquisitions of £0.1m.
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Asia Pacific revenue by division (£m)
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Asia Pacific

The Asia Pacific region generates revenue 
across all product lines being Motor BPS, 
Property BPS and Software, the largest 
contributor being Motor.

Revenue
Revenue in our Asia Pacific business fell by 10% 
on a year on year basis from £21.4m to £19.2m. 
However, on a constant currency basis there 
was growth of 3%. 

The business had a difficult start to the year 
following the last minute withdrawal by a 
prospective customer of a significant new 
contract which would have underpinned both 
software and BPS revenues for a number  
of years.

Motor BPS revenue contracted by 25% year  
on year, or 14% at constant currency to £10.1m 
as a result of a number of customers taking 
claims management back in-house. There was 
no significant weather event for the third year 
running which prevented any significant growth 
from existing business. Property BPS revenue 
contracted by 39% year on year, or 30% at 
constant currency to £2.6m as a result of a key 
client moving their business offshore. However, 
the pipeline has been re-built and two significant 
new deals have been concluded that are 
expected to drive double-digit revenue and  
profit growth in the Motor division over the  
next few years. 

The Software division benefitted from a  
one-off licence sale of £3.9m. This was the 
conversion of an annual licence rental into a 
perpetual licence for the Group’s historic Huon 
product. This annual licence rental was worth 
approximately £1.0m per annum and as the 
contract was expected to be terminated before 
2020, the Group settled for the equivalent of 
four years rental. Underlying performance from 
this division was below target for the year due to 
the lack of any new sales of the Insurer product.

Adjusted Profit
Adjusted profit was up £1.0m on a year on year 
basis, or £1.2m at constant currency. This is  
due to the one-off licence sale in the year  
noted above which contributed incremental 
revenues of £3.9m resulting in adjusted profit  
of £1.5m after the relevant software royalty 
back to the Centre. 
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Maintaining the certainty
Case study: South Africa

Group strategic report

Assuring IntegriSure’s 
insurance excellence
The mission
The insurance industry, like most other 
industries, is not exempt from the tremendous 
influence that technology has on day-to-day 
operations. The challenge is to harness the 
potential of these new technologies to support 
efficient and effective services to the end-user 
that enable client retention and provide a 
flexible framework for ongoing growth and 
change. As a global provider of business process 
services and software solutions, Innovation 
Group has been associated with specialised 
short term insurance provider, IntegriSure, for 
almost a decade. This relationship necessitates 
the constant development and refinement of 
client interfacing solutions that reflect 
technological advancements. 

The solution
Innovation Group has been instrumental in 
developing client solutions in conjunction  
with IntegriSure that are based on advanced 
web technology. The ability to transact online 
has become an essential part of modern day 
business. IntegriSure’s E-centre positions the 
company at the forefront in the adoption of 
cutting edge technology and offers clients the 
opportunity to view and track policy and claims 
information online in real-time. 

IntegriSure’s Web Quote System, developed in 
partnership with Innovation Group, has given 
the organisation not only a competitive edge 
but has proven to be a sustainable contributor 
of sales to the business and is an integral part  
of their offering to potential clients. 

“Having a long-term relationship with a business 
partner such as Innovation Group ensures 
stability and sustainability for both businesses. 
Working closely with the software development 
and insurance services teams has resulted in 
the achievement of shared organisational 
objectives,” says IntegriSure’s Head of Systems 
and Support, Marlene Lennox. “Together we 
are able to create synergistic solutions to 
business challenges.” 

Innovation Group’s provision of insurance 
services; such as assessing, legal recoveries and 
the handling and disposal of salvage on behalf of 
IntegriSure ensures that the cycle of insurance 
activities runs smoothly without interruption  
or delay. Continued innovation is applied 
throughout to improve results and reduce  
the cost of claims. 

The result 
IntegriSure’s appetite for technology-based 
solutions, coupled with Innovation Group’s 
ability to help develop these product offerings, 
allows the partnership to consistently improve 
the front-end of their services which has a 
positive knock-on effect on market share and 
customer satisfaction. The key differentiator 
between the software services developed by 
Innovation Group and those offered by other 
service providers, centres around bespoke 
solutions. Products are conceived and 
customised through extensive consultation  
and needs analysis allowing for the delivery of 
specialised software that fulfils industry as well 
as individual organisational requirements. 

“Our software development team at Innovation 
Group has become an extension of our own 
Systems and Business Support team,” says 
Lennox. “In terms of performing business 
analytics and software development functions, 
the group’s dedicated resources allocated to 
our account ensure rapid implementation of 
system solutions in our ever-evolving 
environment.”

Supporting a targeted approach 
IntegriSure, established in 1998, is an 
Authorised Financial Services Provider that 
offers specialised short term insurance and 
other value added products for niche markets. 
Their range of tailor-made products are 
underwritten by South Africa’s leading insurers. 

IntegriSure Executive Chairman, Arnold van der 
Linde, saw the benefits associated with doing 
business with a responsible market when other 
insurance companies were still concerned with 
high-risk demographics. 
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Van der Linde took the view that clients falling 
within the responsible definition are, generally, 
more established and pose a lesser risk. They 
take the time to safeguard their valuables 
properly, tend to spend more time at home and 
drive more responsibly. Another advantage is 
that they are more informed in terms of the 
insurance product options available to them and 
appreciate the necessity of fully investigating 
them before purchase. 

“The factors that make this demographic a 
valuable market segment also influence the 
type of service that is required. It is imperative 
that these clients have access to accurate 
information wherever and whenever they want 
it,” says Innovation Group’s Chief Information 
Officer, Christine Sheffield. “This is why the 
software deployed has to deliver a successful 
and reliable experience.” 

Data that is meaningful
Traditionally, players within the short-term 
insurance industry have built their applications 
and systems in a silo, from the ground up.  
The result is that the industry has generated 
vast amounts of data, but the challenge of 
consolidating data stored in several different 
databases often means that data analytics is 
not as effective as it could be.

“IntegriSure runs a software system that allows 
data to be accessed bi-directionally and all of 
the data is stored on a single database. This 
means that data is readily available and can  
be used more advantageously for analytical  
and actuarial purposes” explains Sheffield. 
“Existing data can be used to gather new 
insights into consumer behaviour, attitudes 
and demographics.” 

Reducing the cost of claims
Certain supply chain initiatives, when 
administered efficiently, can significantly reduce 
the cost of claims. For this reason, Innovation 
Group provides a number of insurance services 
on behalf of IntegriSure. These services range 
from assessing to the handling and disposing 
of salvage. 

It is through creative consultation with clients 
and a resolute belief in new technology that 
Innovation Group is able to offer fully 
customisable solutions.

Setting the trend 
Innovation Group’s commitment to enabling 
clients to become Future Ready and to comply 
with industry regulation and legislation is 
demonstrated by the processing of the first live 
batch of insurance policies through the STRIDE 
industry switch in 2013. 

STRIDE was formed as an industry initiative  
to enable binder holders and insurers to share 
data, in the ACORD standard format, through  
a secure electronic connection, to optimise 
data sharing, processing and reuse. 

Innovation Group (the Solution Provider), 
Santam (the Insurer) and IntegriSure (the Binder 
Holder) reached an historical milestone as they 
co-ordinated multiple development teams 
across different technology platforms to 
standardise the integration of data via the 
STRIDE switch provided by ASTUTE. 

“We are steadfast in our dedication to creating 
pioneering solutions for the Short Term 
Insurance Industry,” remarks Sheffield. 
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From start-up to challenger
Case Study: Australia

Group strategic report

Insurance claims  
processing services 
supporting market entry
Heritage 
Progressive is a leading car insurer in the  
USA, one of the top five by market share and 
awareness. Established in 1937 Progressive  
has a long heritage as a car insurer. Its brand  
is heavily based on the value proposition of 
competitive pricing with high service levels. 
Aggressive use of comparative pricing features 
heavily in Progressive’s marketing campaigns 
and on its website.

Progressive is also known for innovation.  
One of its most notable achievements is early 
development of an online presence and selling 
the first car insurance policy via the Web, in 
1996; a world first.

Challenge of a start-up 
Establishing an Australian operation in 2009 
meant applying start-up thinking. Progressive’s 
brand and reputation were unknown by 
Australian consumers. With no infrastructure  
in place and no supply chain network, start-up 
was an accurate description, according to 
Simon Lindsay, Progressive’s Country  
Manager for Australia.

Sensing an opportunity to enter the  
Australian car insurance market, Progressive 
chose an online-only business model. This  
helps differentiate their offering to prospective 
customers. With little awareness of the 
Progressive brand the Australian start-up  
had to get the value proposition right in order  
to succeed.

Pricing risk and offering premiums competitive 
with established market players was one part of 
the value proposition Simon and his team had to 
get right. Implementing an online-only channel 
for policy sales and administration keeps 
overheads low. It’s a cost effective method for a 
start-up compared to the cost of establishing 
call centres. Being exclusively online for policy 
sales and administration also helps reinforce  
the value proposition to policy holders.

The other part of Progressive’s value 
proposition is service quality. With insurance, 
service delivery occurs when claims are made. 
Until then it’s largely a promise, an expectation 
of what will be delivered, if the need arises. 
Simon and his team sought an Australian  
based claims service provider with a strong 
commitment to quality to deliver a claims 
service worthy of the Progressive brand.

Exhaustive investigations led to the selection  
of a claims service provider but this was just the 
beginning. The claims service provider had to 
work closely with Simon’s team to effectively 
deliver Progressive’s value proposition to the 
Australian market. Starting from scratch means 
there were no previous reference points from 
which to start. The experience and capabilities 
of the service provider were critical as was their 
ability to adapt processes to suit Progressive’s 
exacting requirements. Leveraging a proven 
claims-service provider’s capabilities; one 
offering scalable solutions, addressed some  
of Progressive’s start-up challenges.

Measure the service measure the success
Progressive uses a service rating system  
known as the Net Promoter Score® (NPS).  
It measures satisfaction after a service event 
using customers’ likelihood to recommend  
or promote the service to others as a measure 
of how they actually valued the service 
experienced.

Customers will reward an insurer with loyalty  
if they experience good service. A good  
NPS score indicates the claims service met  
or exceeded expectations and therefore is a 
good indicator of customer loyalty. Deliver poor 
service, as indicated by low NPS ratings and 
policy renewals will be negatively impacted, 
along with reputation. For Progressive in 
Australia, NPS is one measure of the claims 
service provider’s effectiveness.
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From start-up to challenger –  
living up to the promise 
Progressive is now a fast-growing brand in the 
Australian car insurance market; a challenger 
brand to others. Progressive is experiencing 
good growth in new policy sales as well as  
strong renewal rates. Consistently good  
NPS ratings indicate the service delivered by 
their claims provider, Innovation Group, is 
successfully living up to Progressive’s value 
proposition and service promise.

Reflecting on the journey from start-up to 
challenger, Simon commented: “Introducing a 
new car insurance brand in Australia’s mature 
market meant we faced many challenges and 
many risks. Innovation Group helped us address 
some of those risks”. Progressive relies on 
Innovation Group’s infrastructure, flexible 
processes and extensive experience in critical 
aspects of car insurance claims processing.

Progressive’s Australian advertising campaigns 
use a character, Kitty and a store setting to 
represent their website to prospective 
purchasers. Using humour, Kitty explains the 
Progressive value proposition of saving money 
and time buying car insurance online, to people 
browsing the site, shown in the ads as visiting 
the Progressive store. The claims service must 
reflect the same convenience Kitty promises in 
the ads. Simon emphasises: “The service quality 
can’t be compromised”.

In a show of confidence that Progressive is 
delivering on its value proposition to customers, 
customer comments from claims survey 
responses are posted on the Progressive 
Australia website (www. progressiveonline.com.
au/customer-rating.aspx). This also indicates 
confidence in Innovation Group.

Progressive continues to benefit from a  
close working relationship with Innovation 
Group. “As our competencies and capabilities 
evolve, Innovation Group works closely with  
us, adapting to our changing needs; more  
like a partner than a service provider”,  
Simon explained.

Progressive’s marketing campaigns are 
generating good results. Combined with strong 
renewals, Progressive is increasing its share of 
the Australian car insurance market.

“As a challenger brand in the Australian car 
insurance market, we fight for new customers 
by presenting a superior value proposition 
based on combining lower cost car insurance 
policies with swift, dependable claims-service. 
Getting that right means we generate strong, 
loyal promoters within our customer base. 
Innovation Group helps us get it right.”

– Simon Lindsay Country Manager, Australia

Solutions for insurers wishing  
to be future-ready
Innovation Group provides technology-based 
and business-processing solutions to insurers in 
most of the world’s major insurance markets.  
In particular, Innovation Group’s solutions help 
insurers become future-ready, enabling them  
to be prepared for the challenges of the future.

Business processing solutions for motor and 
property insurers include end-to-end claims 
processing as well as claims-processing 
components, such as:

• Motor assessing;
• Loss adjusting;
• First notification of loss; 
• Management of repairer  

and supplier networks.

Handling many millions of claims incidents  
each year for insurers around the world, 
Innovation Group is a proven provider of 
customised solutions that meet insurers’ 
requirements by delivering high-quality  
service outcomes for policy-holders while 
minimising indemnity costs for insurers.

www. progressiveonline.com.au/customer-rating.aspx
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Sustainability at our Core
Corporate responsibility and sustainability

“ Sustainability needs to 
be core to our business 
strategy and not just a 
bolt-on consideration, 
building our strategy 
around not just what we 
do but also the way we 
do it. As referenced by 
the Chairman in his 
statement, our recent 
signature of the “CDSB 
Statement on Fiduciary 
Duty and Climate 
Change Disclosure”, 
which was submitted by 
leading businesses to 
UN Climate Change 
talks in September, is an 
important commitment 
which underpins our 
strategic intent.”

Andrew Roberts
Chief Executive Officer
Innovation Group plc

Innovation Group has set out a vision for  
itself which is to have ‘Sustainability at our Core’. 
A brief summary of the eight principles that 
underpin this are set out below. 

In addition, the Group has produced a separate 
Sustainability report for financial year ended 
30 September 2014.

For the full report on the actions we are taking  
to realise our vision, as well as the risks and 
opportunities these represent to the business, 
please see link below.

  Our Sustainability report can be found at: 
www.innovation-group.com/sustainability

The following documents are also available  
at this link:

• GHG Emissions Inventory report (providing 
further details about our carbon emissions, 
including the methodology used, as well as a 
summary of our carbon abatement plan and 
carbon offsets purchased).

• UN Global Compact Communication  
on Progress.

• Sustainability policy.
• Anti-Bribery policy.
• Code of Conduct.

Theme 1: Impacts on society

The Group recognises that it must act in a 
responsible and ethical manner which respects 
the societies in which we operate. We have 
developed and implemented relevant policies, 
procedures and training to ensure that we 
protect these communities. We also run a 
number of charity giving and community 
programmes across the Group and have 
established objectives to support local 
communities in our Sustainability Strategy.

Acting with integrity is one of our core values 
and is central to everything we do as a Group. 
Fraud, bribery and corruption are not only illegal 
but also represent a significant reputational and 
financial risk. It is Innovation Group’s policy to 
conduct business in an honest way, and without 
the use of corrupt practices or acts of bribery  
as a means to obtain an unfair advantage.  
Our Anti-Bribery policy is available on our 
website and mandatory Anti-Bribery and 
Corruption training has been rolled out globally.

Our business principles concerning all human 
rights issues e.g. discrimination, child labour 
and forced labour are documented in the 
Company Code of Conduct available online. 
These commitments are reaffirmed in our 
Sustainability report as well as in our submission 
to the United Nations Global Compact.

Theme 2: Impacts on  
the environment

We consider that our business poses relatively 
low risk to the environment and societies in  
which we operate. Some specialist Divisions  
within the UK business do present a slightly  
higher risk where we own elements of the  
supply chain (e.g. arboriculture, ground works  
and drainage services). However, in the UK 
business, and Stuttgart office in Germany,  
we have Environmental Management Systems 
in place to ensure than we understand our 
significant aspects and minimise our impact  
on the environment. 

We aim to comply with all applicable environmental 
legislation and other requirements, to prevent 
pollution and to continually improve our 
performance globally. Our full Sustainability  
policy, which meets the requirements of ISO 
14001, can be found on our website.

EMAS certificate for the  
Stuttgart office, Germany
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CO emissions (total annual tCOe) for FY14

● 3,122 Scope 1: Fuels (vehicles and non-transport)

● 7,058 Scope 2: Electricity
● 3,572 Scope 3: Business travel
● 678 Scope 3: Transmission and 
   distribution of electricity
● 22.1 Outside of scopes  (UK biofuel)

14,452.2
(less 2,890 offsets)

Total Scope 1 & 2 tCOe per FTE = 3.45

CO emissions (total annual tCOe) for FY13

● 3,238 Scope 1: Fuels (vehicles and non-transport)

● 7,496 Scope 2: Electricity
● 3,211 Scope 3: Business travel
● 716 Scope 3: Transmission and 
   distribution of electricity 

● 11.7 Outside of scopes (UK biofuel)

14,673.7
(less 1,656 offsets²)

Total Scope 1 & 2 tCOe per FTE = 4.09
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Theme 3: Carbon emissions

Carbon is our number one Sustainability 
concern. Any organisation working in the 
insurance sector is well aware that climate 
change is already having, and will continue to 
have, a profound impact on our sector. Our 
stakeholder engagement activities have 
confirmed that this issue is a matter of great 
concern to many key parties including our CEO, 
our senior management team, employees 
and customers.

We have aligned our carbon reporting process 
to the requirements of both the Green House 
Gas Protocol and the Climate Disclosure 
Standards Board (‘CDSB’) Climate Change 
Reporting Framework. We have adopted a 
financial control approach to setting the 
boundary of our carbon footprint and FY13 
has been set as our base year1.

The quantity of emissions in tonnes of carbon 
dioxide equivalent (tCO2e) resulting from 
activities for which the Group is responsible has 
been calculated for year ended 30 September 
2014 and is detailed in Appendix 3 on page 130:

Our Scope 1 & 2 emissions for year ending 
30 September 2014 were 10,180 tCO2e 
compared with 10,734 tCO2e1 for our base year 
ended 30 September 2013. Our intensity 
performance for FY14 was 3.45 tCO2e per FTE. 
This is a 15.7% reduction against our base year 
intensity ratio of 4.09 tCO2e per FTE¹. This is 
particularly good news as it appears that we 
have not only achieved the target we set to 
reduce our emissions by 6% per FTE by FY15 
but we have also achieved the 15% per FTE 
reduction target we set for FY203. However,  
as noted below, we will be carrying out an 
independent external audit in early 2015 to 
further validate this data. We also observe that 
the milder weather in many of our locations 
have contributed to this achievement and are 
not complacent about the need to seek out 
further measures to deliver a sustained 
reduction in our overall emissions.

Note 1 – This base year figure has been recalculated from the figures  
in our FY13 Annual Report and Accounts. The recalculated figure  
now includes emissions for Crashworth Limited and LAS Claims 
Management Limited which were acquired on 31 January and 13 March 
2014. The recalculation has been completed in line with the GHG Protocol 
guideline. We have recalculated under the fixed base year approach where 
emissions sources from an acquired company are included both with their 
emissions in the base year (when the acquiring company didn’t control 
these sources yet) and in the current years. Emissions have also been recalculated for the entire year (all-year option), rather than only for the remainder 
of the reporting period after the structural change occurred (the pro-rata option). Further detail is available in our GHG Emissions Inventory report at this 
link: http://www.innovation-group.com/sustainability.

Note 2 – We reported the purchase of 828 tCO2e for FY13 in last year’s Annual Report and Accounts. However, we later doubled our offset 
commitment and purchased a further 828 tCO2e to account for 12% of the Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions for FY13.

Note 3 –Whilst we have a high degree of confidence in the data reported, and have completed several internal checks and audits of the figures and 
evidence for each region, we have decided to arrange an external audit by an independent third party in Q1 of 2015 to verify FY13 and FY14 figures. 
Further detail is available in our separate GHG Emissions Inventory report online.

We have now achieved3 the Group’s  
global carbon intensity reduction  
targets set last year to:
Reduce our full time equivalent Scope 1  
and Scope 2 emissions intensity (tCO2e/FTE) 
by 6% by the end of FY15 against a FY13 base 
year. Extend this reduction to achieve 15%  
by the end of FY20.
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Theme 4: Employee engagement

As a Group we employ over 3,000 people in 14 
countries, all of whom contribute to the success 
of our business. As required by legislation, we 
report the split of our employees as detailed in 
Appendix 4 on page 131.

Our employment policies meet the 
requirements of the local jurisdictions that we 
operate in. We do not discriminate on any basis 
and we encourage our people to speak out if 
they believe something is wrong. We operate  
a whistleblowing telephone hotline and a 
web-based reporting whistleblowing service.

We respect the rights of our employees and 
ensure that all are given a fair wage, that all have 
the right to organise and that none shall be 
subject to any form of discrimination whilst in 
employment with Innovation Group. Further 
information on all of these topics can be found 
within our Sustainability report.

We have sent questionnaires to all employees 
to record their feelings and opinions around 
sustainability issues and encourage suggestions 
to improve our performance in this area. 93% 
of those employees that responded agree that 
sustainability is important and 90% feel that 
Innovation Group has a responsibility to care  
for the environment and its local communities. 
Our other sustainability activities, therefore, 
whilst making business sense in their own right, 
are also aligned to the interests of our most 
valuable asset – our people.

Sustainability at our Core

Corporate responsibility and sustainability

Theme 3: Carbon emissions continued

In addition to reporting our Scope 1 & 2 
emissions as required by legislation, we think 
it is appropriate to also report our Scope 3 
emissions from business travel. In FY13 the  
total Scope 1, 2 and 3 intensity performance 
was 5.31 tCO2e per FTE1. This has reduced to 
4.66 tCO2e per FTE in FY14 which represents a 
12.24% reduction. We have also achieved a 
reduction in our absolute emissions of Scope 1, 
2 and 3 emissions of 1.4% despite organic 
growth against our recalculated base year2. 

The Group has established a range of 
actions across the Greenhouse Gas 
Management Hierarchy
• We have developed and implemented a 

Carbon Abatement Plan with targets in each 
region. This has helped us to achieve our 
reduction targets ahead of schedule.

• We have, for the first year, submitted our 
complete carbon emissions data for 
assessment through the CDP (formerly 
Carbon Disclosure Project), an international, 
not-for-profit organisation providing the only 
global system for companies and cities to 
measure, disclose, manage and share vital 
environmental information. We received  
a disclosure score of 80 (out of a possible  
100 points).

• We have developed an innovative new service 
which focuses on preventing property claims 
arising, therefore reducing emissions 
associated with the claim process.

• Last year we doubled up on our previous 
target of offsetting 6% of our emissions  
and have now offset 12% of our FY13 
emissions3. This was achieved through a 
Carbon Fix Foundation endorsed and Ashden 
award winning, gold standard premium quality 
carbon credits clean cook stove scheme in 
Kampala, Uganda. In addition, we have 
committed to purchase 2,890 tCO2e to 
compensate for 20% of the FY14 footprint.

• We are also working with our supply chain 
members in Subsidence Management 
Services Division (within UK Property) to 
support them to calculate and report their 
carbon emissions.

Note 1 – This base year figure has been recalculated from the figures in our FY13 Annual Report and Accounts. The recalculated figure now includes 
emissions for Crashworth Limited and LAS Claims Management Limited which were acquired on 31 January and 13 March 2014. The recalculation 
has been completed in line with the GHG Protocol guideline. We have recalculated under the fixed base year approach where emissions sources 
from an acquired company are included both with their emissions in the base year (when the acquiring company didn’t control these sources yet) 
and in the current years. Emissions have also been recalculated for the entire year (all-year option), rather than only for the remainder of the 
reporting period after the structural change occurred (the pro-rata option). Further detail is available in our GHG emissions inventory report at this 
link: http://www.innovation-group.com/sustainability.

Note 2 – Whilst we have a high degree of confidence in the data reported, and have completed several internal checks and audits of the figures and 
evidence for each region, we have decided to arrange an external audit by an independent third party in Q1 of 2015 to verify FY13 and FY14 figures. 
Further detail is available in our separate GHG Emissions Inventory report online.

Note 3 – We reported the purchase of 828 tCO2e for FY13 in last year’s annual report. However, we later doubled our offset commitment and 
purchased a further 828 tCO2e to account for 12% of the Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions for FY13.
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Theme 6: Supply chain management

Suppliers of our Subsidence Management 
Services Division (within UK Property) are 
required to report their annual carbon emissions 
via the web-based SmartCarbon™ tool as part 
of their contractual obligations. Through this 
system we can assist our supply chain partners 
to reduce their emissions. We plan to expand 
this programme across the rest of our UK 
business, European business and then globally, 
as detailed in our strategy.

Theme 7: Innovation

We have continued to act upon our strategy 
of embedding innovation for sustainability 
into our business through our Kairos team 
of high calibre employees. This team have 
created a new service which focuses on 
preventing property claims arising and the 
potential impacts that are associated with 
claims resolution.

Theme 5: All stakeholders

We have continued to engage with our 
stakeholders to ensure that we are recognising 
and acting upon the most important areas of 
sustainability according to the people who 
are most important to us. We have used the 
results of our stakeholder engagement 
programme to develop our first materiality 
matrix which has informed our ever evolving 
Sustainability Strategy.

Theme 8: Governance

• We have maintained our commitment to the 
United Nations Global Compact. This includes 
our commitment to Human Rights, Labour, 
Environment and Anti-Corruption.

• We have maintained our listing on the 
FTSE4Good index for FY14.

• We were scored as being grade B (scale of 
A-E) by the Ethical Investment Research 
Service (EIRIS) Ltd following their review of 
our ESG profile during FY14 in a sector 
specific ranking indicating that, at this time, 
we were within the top 20% of Software and 
Computer Services Companies globally for 
ESG performance.

• Innovation Group Subsidence Management 
Services Division (with UK Property) has been 
awarded Gold standard by Investors in People 
for FY 2014 ahead of target.

“ FTSE Group confirms 
that Innovation Group 
has been independently 
assessed according to 
the FTSE4Good criteria 
and at the September 
2014 review satisfied 
the requirements to 
remain a constituent of 
the FTSE4Good Index 
Series. The Supersector 
relative score places 
Innovation Group in the 
86th percentile (where 
100 is the highest). The 
Supersector relative 
score provides an 
indication of how each 
company on the index 
scores relative to others 
in its Supersector.  
 
Created by the global 
index company FTSE 
Group, FTSE4Good is 
an equity index series 
that is designed to 
facilitate investment in 
companies that meet 
globally recognised 
corporate responsibility 
standards. Companies 
in the FTSE4Good 
Index Series have 
met stringent 
environmental, social 
and governance criteria, 
and are positioned 
to capitalise on the 
benefits of responsible 
business practice.”

Andrew Roberts
Chief Executive Officer
3 December 2014

Jane Hall
Group Finance Director
3 December 2014

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.
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A wealth of industry knowledge
Board of Directors

Andy Roberts
Chief Executive Officer

Jane Hall
Group Finance Director

David Thorpe
Non-executive Chairman

James Morley
Non-executive Director, 
Senior Independent Director

Chris Harrison
Non-executive Director

Length of service on the Board 5 years 5 years 11 years 7 years 3 years

Relevant skills and experience to 
the Group

• 	Significant	track	record	in	the	software	
and computer services and BPS sectors

•  Led management team turn-around of 
Data Sciences (a leading BPS business  
at	that	time)	before	sale	to	IBM	in	1996

• 	Non-executive	chairman	of	Vega	Group	
plc until sale to Finmeccanica SPA for 
£61m	in	2008

• 	Non-executive	director	of	Kewill	until	
2010,	where	he	successfully	worked	with	
the	executive	management	team	to	
reinvigorate	the	company’s	product	line	
and	financial	performance

• Wealth	of	experience	gained	through	 
13	years	working	in	the	Group	in	a	variety	
of	finance	roles

• 	Innovation	Group:	Group	Financial	
Controller	(2004	–	2008),	Group	
Company	Secretary	(2005	–	2008)	

• 	Appointed	acting	Group	Finance	Director	
in	2008	(made	permanent	in	2009)

• 	Member	of	the	Institute	of	Chartered	
Accountants in England and Wales and 
qualified	in	1993

• 	Over	25	years’	experience	in	the	IT	
software,	services	and	BPS	market	

• 	Bull	Information	Systems	–	Member	of	
the	UK	board	of	directors	and	Managing	
Director	of	Bull’s	largest	operating	unit,	
Systems	Integration	and	Services	

• 	Electronic	Data	Systems	–	Head	of	their	
European	business	with	responsibility	for	
operations	in	20	countries	and	revenue	
of	$4.0bn

• 	Non-executive	Director:	Anite	plc,	 
VT	Group	plc	and	ISoft	plc	

• 	Member	of	the	Institute	of	Public	
Finance and Accountancy

• 	Liveryman	of	the	Worshipful	Company	 
of	Information	Technologists

• 	Significant	financial	and	operational	
experience	in	the	insurance	industry	

• 	Group	Finance	Director:	Guardian	Royal	
Exchange,	Cox	Insurance	Holdings

• 	Chief	Operating	Officer:	Primary	
Insurance	Group

• 	Non-executive	director:	Trade	Indemnity	
Group	plc	

• 	30+	year	career	in	the	international	
professional	services	arena	and	the	
European	technology	sector

• 	Ernst	&	Young	–	Former	leader	of	
European	Technology	Sector	practice	

• 	Advised	five	of	the	world’s	leading	
technology	companies	in	this	role	

Board Committees None None • 	Nomination	Committee	–	Chairman
• 	Audit	and	Remuneration	Committees	
–	Member

• 	Remuneration	Committee	–	Chairman
•  Nomination and Audit Committees 
–	Member

• 	Audit	Committee	–	Chairman
• 	Nomination	and	Remuneration	
Committees	–	Member

Other current appointments None • Outsourcery	plc	–	Non-executive	
Director	and	Chair	of	Audit	Committee	
(2013	–	present)

• Non-executive	Director:	Interserve	plc	
(2009	–	present)

•  Non-executive Director and 
Senior	Independent	Director	of	Costain	
Group	plc	(2008	–	present)

•  Non-executive Director and Audit 
Committee	Chairman	of	Speedy	Hire	plc	
(2009	–	present)

•  Non-executive Director and Audit 
Committee	Chairman	of	Clarkson	plc	
(2008	–	present)

• 	Director	of	Leaders’	Quest	Limited	 
(2011	–	present)

•  Non-executive Director of four 
subsidiary companies of Australian 
mining	group,	Arrium

• 	Chairman	of	IV	League	(2011	–	present)
• 	Member	of	the	Appeal	Committee	of	 
the	Institute	of	Chartered	Accountants	
in	England	and	Wales	(2006	–	present)

• 	Chairman	of	The	Friends	of	Baale	Mane	
Gopalapura,	a	charity	which	he	founded	
(2007	–	present)

The	Directors	of	the	Company	and	their	
responsibilities	within	the	Group	are	set	
out	below:
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Andy Roberts
Chief Executive Officer

Jane Hall
Group Finance Director

David Thorpe
Non-executive Chairman

James Morley
Non-executive Director, 
Senior Independent Director

Chris Harrison
Non-executive Director

Length of service on the Board 5 years 5 years 11 years 7 years 3 years

Relevant skills and experience to 
the Group

• 	Significant	track	record	in	the	software	
and computer services and BPS sectors

•  Led management team turn-around of 
Data Sciences (a leading BPS business  
at	that	time)	before	sale	to	IBM	in	1996

• 	Non-executive	chairman	of	Vega	Group	
plc until sale to Finmeccanica SPA for 
£61m	in	2008

• 	Non-executive	director	of	Kewill	until	
2010,	where	he	successfully	worked	with	
the	executive	management	team	to	
reinvigorate	the	company’s	product	line	
and	financial	performance

• Wealth	of	experience	gained	through	 
13	years	working	in	the	Group	in	a	variety	
of	finance	roles

• 	Innovation	Group:	Group	Financial	
Controller	(2004	–	2008),	Group	
Company	Secretary	(2005	–	2008)	

• 	Appointed	acting	Group	Finance	Director	
in	2008	(made	permanent	in	2009)

• 	Member	of	the	Institute	of	Chartered	
Accountants in England and Wales and 
qualified	in	1993

• 	Over	25	years’	experience	in	the	IT	
software,	services	and	BPS	market	

• 	Bull	Information	Systems	–	Member	of	
the	UK	board	of	directors	and	Managing	
Director	of	Bull’s	largest	operating	unit,	
Systems	Integration	and	Services	

• 	Electronic	Data	Systems	–	Head	of	their	
European	business	with	responsibility	for	
operations	in	20	countries	and	revenue	
of	$4.0bn

• 	Non-executive	Director:	Anite	plc,	 
VT	Group	plc	and	ISoft	plc	

• 	Member	of	the	Institute	of	Public	
Finance and Accountancy

• 	Liveryman	of	the	Worshipful	Company	 
of	Information	Technologists

• 	Significant	financial	and	operational	
experience	in	the	insurance	industry	

• 	Group	Finance	Director:	Guardian	Royal	
Exchange,	Cox	Insurance	Holdings

• 	Chief	Operating	Officer:	Primary	
Insurance	Group

• 	Non-executive	director:	Trade	Indemnity	
Group	plc	

• 	30+	year	career	in	the	international	
professional	services	arena	and	the	
European	technology	sector

• 	Ernst	&	Young	–	Former	leader	of	
European	Technology	Sector	practice	

• 	Advised	five	of	the	world’s	leading	
technology	companies	in	this	role	

Board Committees None None • 	Nomination	Committee	–	Chairman
• 	Audit	and	Remuneration	Committees	
–	Member

• 	Remuneration	Committee	–	Chairman
•  Nomination and Audit Committees 
–	Member

• 	Audit	Committee	–	Chairman
• 	Nomination	and	Remuneration	
Committees	–	Member

Other current appointments None • Outsourcery	plc	–	Non-executive	
Director	and	Chair	of	Audit	Committee	
(2013	–	present)

• Non-executive	Director:	Interserve	plc	
(2009	–	present)

•  Non-executive Director and 
Senior	Independent	Director	of	Costain	
Group	plc	(2008	–	present)

•  Non-executive Director and Audit 
Committee	Chairman	of	Speedy	Hire	plc	
(2009	–	present)

•  Non-executive Director and Audit 
Committee	Chairman	of	Clarkson	plc	
(2008	–	present)

• 	Director	of	Leaders’	Quest	Limited	 
(2011	–	present)

•  Non-executive Director of four 
subsidiary companies of Australian 
mining	group,	Arrium

• 	Chairman	of	IV	League	(2011	–	present)
• 	Member	of	the	Appeal	Committee	of	 
the	Institute	of	Chartered	Accountants	
in	England	and	Wales	(2006	–	present)

• 	Chairman	of	The	Friends	of	Baale	Mane	
Gopalapura,	a	charity	which	he	founded	
(2007	–	present)
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The	Directors	present	the	annual	report	and	the	audited	consolidated	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	30	September	2014.

Directors and their interests
A	list	of	the	present	directors	of	the	Company	is	given	on	pages	34	and	35.

The	interests	in	the	Company	of	the	directors	in	office	at	the	year-end	are	set	out	in	the	Directors’	Remuneration	report	on	pages	53	 
to	61.	All	of	the	Non-executive	Directors	are	considered	to	be	independent.	James	Morley	is	currently	the	Senior	Independent	Director.

Andy	Roberts,	Chris	Harrison	and	David	Thorpe,	offer	themselves	for	re-election	at	the	forthcoming	Annual	General	Meeting	in	March	
2015.	Lewis	Miller	has	been	put	forward	for	re-election	in	March	2015.	The	Board	believes	that	these	Directors	should	be	re-elected	as	
their	participation	and	experience	within	the	industry	and	markets	in	which	the	Group	operates	adds	considerably	to	the	Group’s	overall	
ability to deliver its objectives.

Directors’ liabilities
The	Company	has	granted	an	indemnity	to	its	Directors	against	all	liability	in	respect	of	proceedings,	whether	civil	or	criminal,	in	respect	of	
alleged	negligence,	default,	breach	of	duty,	breach	of	trust	or	otherwise	in	which	judgement	is	given	in	a	Director’s	favour	or	in	which	such	
Director	is	acquitted	or	in	defending	or	settling	any	such	proceedings	which	are	otherwise	disposed	of	on	terms	previously	agreed	with	
the	Board	or	on	terms	otherwise	approved	by	the	Board	without	a	finding	or	admission	of	negligence,	default,	breach	of	duty	or	breach	of	
trust	on	the	Director’s	part	brought	by	third	parties,	subject	to	the	conditions	set	out	in	s234	of	the	Companies	Act	2006.	Such	qualifying	
third	party	indemnity	provision	was	in	force	throughout	the	period	and	remains	in	force	as	at	the	date	of	approving	the	Directors’	report.

Appointment of Directors
Directors	may	be	appointed	by	the	Company	by	ordinary	resolution	or	by	the	Board.	A	director	appointed	by	the	Board	holds	office	only	
until	the	next	Annual	General	Meeting	and	is	not	taken	into	account	in	determining	the	directors	who	are	to	retire	by	rotation	at	that	
meeting.	Unless	and	until	otherwise	determined	by	ordinary	resolution,	the	number	of	directors	shall	not	be	less	than	two	and	shall	not	be	
subject to any maximum.

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
The	statements	of	compliance	with	the	principles	of	the	UK	Corporate	Governance	Code	on	Corporate	Governance	(the	‘Code’)	
published	by	the	Financial	Reporting	Council	(“FRC”)	in	September	2012,	as	required	by	DTR	7.1,	are	set	out	on	page	39.	The	Board	
considers	that	it	has	complied	with	the	provisions	of	the	Code	during	the	financial	year	and	to	the	date	of	the	signing	of	the	 
Directors’	report.

Disclosure and Transparency Rule 7
The	compliance	statement	on	page	40	complies	with	sub-sections	2.1;	2.2(1);	2.3(1);	2.5;	2.7;	and	2.10	of	Rule	7	of	the	UK	Listing	Authority	
Disclosure	Rules.	The	information	required	to	be	disclosed	by	sub-section	2.6	of	Rule	7	is	shown	in	the	Corporate	Governance	report	on	
pages	40	to	43	and	is	incorporated	in	this	corporate	governance	statement	by	reference.

Disabled Employees
The	Group	is	committed	to	a	policy	of	recruitment	and	promotion	on	the	basis	of	aptitude	and	ability	without	discrimination.	The	Group	
gives	full	consideration	to	applications	for	employment	from	disabled	persons	where	the	requirements	of	the	job	can	be	adequately	
fulfilled	by	a	handicapped	or	disabled	person.	Where	existing	employees	become	disabled,	it	is	the	Group’s	policy	wherever	practicable	to	
provide continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career development and promotion to 
disabled	employees	wherever	appropriate.

Our Relationship with Shareholders
The	Board	recognises	the	significance	of	effective	communication	with	both	institutional	and	private	investors,	and	the	need	to	respond	
promptly to queries received.

During	the	year	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Group	Finance	Director	held	presentations	for,	and	attended	meetings	with,	analysts	 
and	institutional	shareholders.	The	Senior	Independent	Director	attends	sufficient	meetings	to	develop	a	balanced	view	of	shareholders’	
needs.	In	addition	the	Chairman	and	Senior	Independent	Director	have	notified	themselves	to	all	major	shareholders	and	offered	
themselves	as	an	alternative	point	of	contact	for	any	matters	of	concern.

A	large	amount	of	investor	information	is	available	from	the	Group’s	website	(www.innovation-group.com).	This	includes:	

• The	Group’s	published	interim	and	annual	financial	statements;	
• Material	presented	at	institutional	investor	meetings;	
• A	library	of	stock	exchange	notices	issued	by	the	Group;	and	
• Other	information	on	the	Group	such	as	press	releases	and	contact	details.

The	annual	general	meeting	is	also	used	as	a	forum	to	introduce	the	directors	to	shareholders	and	to	take	questions	from	investors.	 
All	Executive	and	Non-executive	Directors	attended	the	annual	general	meeting	held	in	March	2014.

The	Directors	meet	the	Group’s	brokers	to	discuss	items	raised	by	shareholders	and	feedback	from	the	analysts	attending	the	interim	
and	annual	presentations	is	also	collated	by	the	Group’s	advisors	and	reviewed	by	the	Directors.	The	Directors	also	receive	copies	of	
analyst	coverage	as	and	when	it	is	released.

Directors’ report
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Our Shareholders – significant shareholdings
At	17	November	2014	the	Company	had	been	notified	of	the	following	shareholdings	of	3%	or	more	of	the	Company’s	share	capital.

Shareholder

Ordinary	share	
holding	as	at	

30 September	2014 %	of	capital

Ordinary	share	
holding	as	at	

17 November	2014 %	of	capital

Henderson	Global	Investors 166,159,911 13.77 170,728,576 14.14
Cazenove	Capital	Management 128,388,059 10.64 100,915,303 8.36
Old	Mutual	Global	Investors 92,735,666 7.68 93,032,509 7.71
Kabouter	Management	LLC 76,563,161 6.34 90,412,859 7.49
Fidelity	Worldwide	Investment 69,850,356 5.79 64,520,981 5.34

Dividends
The	Directors	propose	a	final	dividend	for	the	year	of	0.2p	per	share	(2013:	nil).	An	interim	dividend	of	0.1p	per	share	was	paid	in	June	2014	
(2013:	nil).

Dividend rights
Holders	of	the	Company’s	ordinary	shares	may,	by	ordinary	resolution,	declare	dividends	but	may	not	declare	dividends	in	excess	of	the	
amount	recommended	by	the	directors.	The	Board	of	directors	may	also	pay	interim	dividends.	No	dividend	may	be	paid	other	than	out	 
of	profits	available	for	distribution.

If	a	dividend	remains	unclaimed	for	12	years,	from	the	date	when	it	became	due	for	payment,	it	shall,	if	the	Board	of	Directors	so	resolves,	
be	forfeited	and	cease	to	remain	a	liability	of	the	Company.

Voting rights
The	Company’s	articles	of	association	provide	that	a	resolution	put	to	the	vote	of	a	general	meeting	shall	be	decided	on	a	show	of	hands	
unless,	before	or	on	the	declaration	of	the	result	of	a	vote	on	the	show	of	hands	or	on	the	withdrawal	of	any	other	demand	for	a	poll,	a	 
poll	is	duly	demanded.	On	a	poll,	each	shareholder	who	is	entitled	to	vote	and	is	present	in	person	or	by	proxy	has	one	vote	for	every	share	
held.	In	addition,	the	articles	of	association	allow	persons	appointed	as	proxies	of	shareholders	entitled	to	vote	at	general	meetings	to	
vote	on	a	show	of	hands,	as	well	as	to	vote	on	a	poll	and	attend	and	speak	at	general	meetings.

Save	as	otherwise	provided	by	the	Company’s	articles	of	association,	two	persons	present	in	person	or	by	proxy	(not	being	corporate	
representatives	or	proxies	appointed	by	the	same	member)	are	entitled	to	vote	shall	be	a	quorum	for	any	general	meeting.

On	a	show	of	hands	at	a	general	meeting	of	the	Company,	every	holder	of	shares	present	in	person	and	entitled	to	vote	shall	have	one	
vote	and	on	a	poll,	every	member	present	in	person	or	by	proxy	and	entitled	to	vote	shall	have	one	vote	for	every	ordinary	share	held.	 
The	notice	of	the	general	meeting	specifies	deadlines	for	exercising	voting	rights	either	by	proxy	notice	or	present	in	person	or	by	proxy	 
in	relation	to	resolutions	to	be	passed	at	the	general	meeting.	All	proxy	votes	are	counted	and	the	numbers	for,	against	or	withheld	in	
relation	to	each	resolution	are	announced	at	the	annual	general	meeting	and	published	on	the	Company’s	website	after	the	meeting.

Ordinary Share capital 
There	are	no	restrictions	on	the	transfer	of	ordinary	shares	in	the	Company	other	than:	

• Certain	restrictions	may	from	time	to	time	be	imposed	by	laws	and	regulations	(for	example,	insider	trading	laws);	and	
• Pursuant	to	the	model	code	on	Directors’	Dealings	in	Securities	and	the	Listing	Rules	of	the	Financial	Conduct	Authority	whereby,	 
in	accordance	with	the	Company’s	share	dealing	code,	certain	employees	of	the	Company	require	the	approval	of	the	Company	to	 
deal	in	the	Company’s	securities.

There	have	been	no	changes	in	share	capital,	other	than	the	use	of	shares	to	perform	acquisitions	and	the	exercise	of	options	under	
employee	incentive	plans.	There	have	been	no	purchases	by	the	Company	of	its	own	shares	and	the	Company	holds	no	shares	in	treasury.

Articles of Association 
The	following	description	summarises	certain	provisions	of	the	Company’s	articles	of	association	and	applicable	English	law.	 
This	summary	is	qualified	in	its	entirety	by	reference	to	the	Companies	Act	2006	of	England	and	Wales	and	the	Company’s	articles	 
of association.

The	articles	of	association	can	be	obtained	from	the	Company	Secretary.

The	Company	is	a	public	limited	company	under	the	laws	of	England	and	Wales.	The	Company	is	registered	in	England	and	Wales	under	
the	name	“The	Innovation	Group	plc”	with	the	registration	number	3256771.

All	of	the	Company’s	ordinary	shares	are	fully	paid.	Accordingly,	no	further	contribution	of	capital	may	be	required	by	the	Company	from	
the	holders	of	such	shares.	English	law	specifies	that	any	alteration	to	the	articles	of	association	must	be	approved	by	a	special	resolution	
of	the	shareholders.
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At	30	September	2014,	the	Company’s	issued	share	capital	comprised	a	single	class	of	shares	referred	to	as	ordinary	shares.	No	individual	
disclosed	carries	special	voting	rights	over	their	shareholding.

The	Company’s	articles	of	association	may	only	be	amended	by	a	special	resolution	at	a	general	meeting	of	shareholders.

Authority to purchase own shares
The	Company	purchased	none	of	its	own	shares	during	the	year.	At	the	end	of	the	year,	the	Directors	had	authority,	under	the	
shareholders’	resolutions	dated	20	March	2013,	to	make	market	purchases	of	the	Company’s	own	shares	up	to	a	maximum	of	97,385,504	
(being	10%	of	issued	share	capital	as	at	21	February	2013).

A	resolution	will	be	proposed	as	a	special	resolution	at	the	2015	Annual	General	Meeting	which	will	continue	to	give	the	Company	
authority	to	use	its	available	cash	resources	to	acquire	up	to	10%	of	its	own	shares	in	the	market	for	either	cancellation	or	to	hold	them	as	
treasury	shares.	The	Directors	will	continue	to	use	this	authority	only	after	careful	consideration,	taking	into	account	market	conditions	
prevailing	at	the	time,	other	investment	opportunities,	appropriate	gearing	levels,	and	the	overall	position	of	the	Company.	The	Directors	
only	purchase	such	shares	after	taking	into	account	the	effects	on	earnings	per	share	and	the	benefits	for	shareholders.

On	20	March	2013	the	shareholders	granted	the	directors	authority	to	allot	equity	shares	up	to	a	maximum	nominal	amount	equal	to	
£6,492,367,	save	in	respect	of	the	issue	of	equity	securities	for	cash,	either	by	way	of	rights	issue	or	in	any	other	way,	where	the	maximum	
nominal	amount	was	restricted	to	£973,855	(representing	5%	of	the	Company’s	issued	share	capital	at	21	February	2013.	The	Company	
will	consult	with	major	shareholders	in	the	event	usage	of	the	authority	to	allot	equity	shares	for	cash	would	result	in	more	than	7.5%	of	the	
Company’s	issued	share	capital	being	allotted	with	a	rolling	three	year	period.

Authority to allot equity shares
Under	section	549	of	the	Companies	Act	2006	directors	are,	with	certain	exceptions,	unable	to	allot	the	Company’s	ordinary	shares	or	
securities	convertible	into	the	Company’s	ordinary	shares	without	the	authority	of	the	shareholders	in	a	general	meeting.	In	addition,	
section	561	of	the	Companies	Act	2006	imposes	further	restrictions	on	the	issue	of	equity	securities	(as	defined	in	the	Companies	Act	
2006	which	include	the	Company’s	ordinary	shares	and	securities	convertible	into	ordinary	shares)	which	are,	or	are	to	be,	paid	up	wholly	in	
cash	and	not	first	offered	to	existing	shareholders.	The	Company’s	articles	of	association	allow	shareholders	to	authorise	directors	for	a	
period	specified	in	the	relevant	resolution	to	allot	(i)	relevant	securities	generally	up	to	an	amount	fixed	by	the	shareholders	and	(ii)	equity	
securities	for	cash	other	than	in	connection	with	a	pre-emptive	offer	up	to	an	amount	specified	by	the	shareholders	and	free	of	the	
pre-emption	restriction	in	section	561.

The	authority	to	allot	relevant	securities	fixed	by	shareholders	at	the	AGM	in	2014	as	set	out	otherwise	than	for	cash	and	for	cash	 
were	both	in	line	with	corporate	governance	guidelines.	The	directors	consider	it	desirable	to	have	the	maximum	flexibility	permitted	 
by	corporate	governance	guidelines	to	respond	to	market	developments	and	to	enable	allotments	to	take	place	to	finance	business	
opportunities	as	they	arise.	In	order	to	retain	such	maximum	flexibility,	the	directors	propose	to	renew	the	authorities	granted	by	
shareholders	in	2014	at	this	year’s	AGM.	Further	details	of	such	proposals	are	provided	in	the	2015	notice	of	AGM.

Change in Control
Within	the	Recruitment,	Retention	and	2011	Plans	are	change	of	control	clauses	which	will	result	in	the	pro-rata	vesting	of	the	awards	
subject	to	certain	conditions	being	achieved	at	the	point	that	change	of	control	takes	place.	There	are	no	shares	options	or	awards	issued	
under	share	schemes	with	rights	not	directly	exercisable	by	employees	as	the	shares	are	only	issued	when	the	share	option	or	award	is	
exercised	by	the	employee.	The	Company	is	not	aware	of	any	agreements	between	shareholders	that	may	result	in	any	restriction	on	the	
transfer	of	securities	or	in	regards	to	any	voting	rights.

There	are	no	agreements	between	the	Company	and	its	Directors	or	employees	providing	for	compensation	for	loss	of	office	or	
employment	(whether	through	resignation,	purported	redundancy	or	otherwise)	that	occurs	because	of	a	takeover	bid.	The	agreements	
between	the	Company	and	its	Directors	for	compensation	for	loss	of	office	are	given	in	the	Directors’	Remuneration	Policy	report	see	
page 53.

The	Group	has	a	facility	with	Barclays	Bank	that	would	require	all	outstanding	amounts	to	be	repaid	upon	a	change	in	control,	being	a	
multi-currency	revolving	credit	facility	of	£50.0m,	entered	into	in	September	2014	of	which	£23.3m	was	utilised	as	at	30	September	2014.

Going concern
After	making	appropriate	enquiries,	the	Directors	have	formed	a	judgement,	at	the	time	of	approving	the	financial	statements,	that	 
there	is	a	reasonable	expectation	that	the	Group	has	adequate	resources	to	continue	in	operational	existence	for	the	foreseeable	future.	
The	Group	held	£56.9m	of	net	cash	at	30	September	2014	(2013:	£26.9m)	and	has	access	to	borrowing	facilities	with	its	bankers	that	are	 
in	place	until	September	2019.

The	Group	tests	all	banking	covenants	on	a	quarterly	basis	and	reports	on	these	covenants	to	its	bankers.	Forward	looking	covenants	 
are	also	tested	based	on	the	Group’s	financial	forecasts	and	these	forecasts	indicated	continued	compliance	based	on	the	2015	Budget.

For	these	reasons,	the	Directors	have	adopted	the	going	concern	basis	in	preparing	the	financial	statements.

Responsibilities of Directors
Financial statements and accounting records
Company	law	in	England	and	Wales	requires	the	Directors	to	prepare	financial	statements	for	each	financial	year	which	give	a	true	and	fair	
view	of	the	state	of	affairs	of	the	Group	at	the	end	of	the	financial	year	and	of	the	profit	or	loss	of	the	Group	for	that	period.

Directors’ report continued
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In	preparing	those	financial	statements	the	directors	are	required	to:

• select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	apply	them	consistently;
• make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;
• state	whether	the	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	
Standards	(‘IFRS’)	as	issued	by	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(‘IASB’),	in	accordance	with	IFRS	as	adopted	for	use	in	the	
EU	and	Article	4	of	the	EU	IAS	Regulations;	and

• prepare	the	financial	statements	on	a	going	concern	basis	unless	it	is	inappropriate	to	presume	that	the	Group	will	continue	in	business.

The	Directors	are	responsible	for	keeping	proper	accounting	records	which	disclose	with	reasonable	accuracy	at	any	time	the	financial	
position	of	the	Group	and	to	enable	them	to	ensure	that	the	financial	statements	comply	with	the	Companies	Act	2006	and	Article	4	of	
the	EU	IAS	Regulation.	They	are	also	responsible	for	the	system	of	internal	control,	for	safeguarding	the	assets	of	the	Group	and,	hence,	
for	taking	reasonable	steps	for	the	prevention	and	detection	of	fraud	and	other	irregularities.

Responsibility statement of the Directors in relation to the Group Consolidated Financial Statements
In	accordance	with	the	FCA’s	Disclosure	and	Transparency	Rules,	the	Directors	confirm	to	the	best	of	their	knowledge	that:

• the	financial	statements,	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	as	adopted	by	the	European	Union,	
give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	assets,	liabilities,	financial	position	and	profit	of	the	Group;	and

• the	Strategic	report	includes	a	fair	review	of	the	development	and	performance	of	the	business	and	the	position	of	the	Group,	together	
with	a	description	of	the	principal	risks	and	uncertainties	faced	by	the	Group.

The	directors	are	responsible	for	preparing	the	annual	report	in	accordance	with	applicable	law	and	regulations.	The	Board	considers	the	
report	and	accounts,	taken	as	a	whole,	as	fair,	balanced	and	understandable	and	that	it	provides	the	information	necessary	for	
shareholders	to	assess	the	Group’s	performance,	business	model	and	strategy.

Neither	the	Group	nor	the	directors	accept	any	liability	to	any	person	in	relation	to	the	annual	report	except	to	the	extent	that	such	liability	
could	arise	under	English	law.	Accordingly,	any	liability	to	a	person	who	has	demonstrated	reliance	on	any	untrue	or	misleading	statement	
or	omission	shall	be	determined	in	accordance	with	section	90A	and	schedule	10A	of	the	Financial	Services	and	Markets	Act	2000.

Disclosure of information to auditor
The	Directors,	who	were	members	of	the	Board	at	the	time	of	approving	the	Directors’	report	and	the	Group	Strategic	report	are	listed	on	
page 34 and 35.

Having	made	enquiries	of	fellow	directors	and	of	the	Company’s	auditor,	each	of	these	Directors	confirms	that:

• to	the	best	of	each	Director’s	knowledge	and	belief,	there	is	no	information	relevant	to	the	preparation	of	their	report	of	which	the	
Company’s	auditor	are	unaware;	and

• each	Director	has	taken	all	the	steps	a	director	might	reasonably	be	expected	to	have	taken	to	be	aware	of	relevant	audit	information	
and	to	establish	that	the	Company’s	auditor	are	aware	of	that	information.

Auditors
In	accordance	with	s485	of	the	Companies	Act	2006,	a	resolution	to	reappoint	Ernst	&	Young	LLP	as	auditors	will	be	put	to	the	members	
at	the	Annual	General	Meeting.

The	Group	has	chosen	in	accordance	with	section	414C(11)	to	set	out	within	the	Strategic	report	the	following	information,	that	would	
otherwise	have	been	required	to	be	included	within	the	Directors’	report:	

• Employee	engagement	(page	32)
• Research	and	Development	and	Future	Developments	(pages	6	to	11)
• Greenhouse	Gas	Emissions	(pages	31	to	32)

The	Group’s	Financial	Risk	objectives	&	disclosure	of	the	gearing	of	the	Group	is	disclosed	in	note	27	on	page	107.

Approved	by	the	Board	of	Directors	and	signed	on	behalf	of	the	Board.

James Liddiard
Company Secretary
3	December	2014

The	company’s	registration	number	is	3256771
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Chairman overview
The	Innovation	Group	is	committed	to	high	standards	of	corporate	governance.	As	required,	this	statement	describes	 
how	the	Group	has	applied	the	principles	of	The	UK	Corporate	Governance	Code	2012	(“the	Code”)	published	by	the	FRC	 
in	September	2012.

The	Board	considers	that	it	has	complied	with	the	provisions	of	the	Code	during	the	financial	year	and	to	the	date	of	the	 
signing	of	the	Directors’	report.

This	report	explains	how	the	Board	applies	the	principles	of	the	Code	to	the	running	of	the	business	for	the	benefit	of	our	
Shareholders,	following	the	structure	of	the	Code	itself.

David Thorpe
Chairman

Chairman’s introduction
Corporate governance report
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The Board
The structure of the Board
The	Board	operates	in	the	following	manner:

Chairman

Audit
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Executive 
Directors

Regional 
Executive 

Group

The Board of Innovation Group plc

The role of the Board
The	Board	is	responsible	to	shareholders	for	the	proper	management	of	the	Group	and	for	its	system	of	corporate	governance.	 
The	Board	meets	regularly	and	prior	to	significant	decisions	being	taken.

The	Non-executive	Chairman	and	Non-executive	Directors	meet	regularly	as	a	group	without	the	executives	present	and	at	least	 
once	a	year	without	the	Chairman	present.	During	the	year	there	were	eleven	scheduled	meetings,	including	three	Board	calls.

In	advance	of	each	meeting,	each	Director	receives	documentation	concerning	the	Group’s	financial	performance,	an	update	on	 
legal	matters	and	other	information	to	enable	decisions	to	be	taken	on	the	resolutions	proposed.

These	resolutions	are	made	with	reference	to	a	formal	schedule	of	matters	reserved	for	Board	approval,	which	include:

• the	Group’s	long-term	objectives,	commercial	strategy	and	related	plans;
• approval	of	interim	and	final	financial	statements	and	reports;
• the	Group’s	acquisition	and	divestment	policy	and	any	transactions	arising;
• approval	of	major	capital	expenditure	projects	and	consideration	of	significant	financing	matters;
• approval	of	all	circulars,	listing	particulars	and	press	releases	concerning	matters	decided	by	the	Board;
• the	approval	of	the	annual	budgets;	and
• matters	concerning	the	membership	and	terms	of	reference	of	the	Board	and	its	Committees.

During	the	year,	operational	management	of	the	Group	was	delegated	to	the	Executive	Directors	and	the	Regional	Executive	Group	 
who	meet	monthly	to	discuss	and	approve	operational	matters,	on	a	region	by	region	basis,	under	a	schedule	of	matters	reserved	for	this	
forum.	From	1	January	2015,	operational	management	will	be	delegated	to	the	Executive	Directors	and	the	Chief	Executive	–	Business	
Services	and	Chief	Executive	–	Insurer	Business.

These	matters	include	review	of	segment	results,	project	delivery,	maintaining	customer	relationships	and	initial	due	diligence	on	 
mergers and acquisitions.
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The composition of the Board
During	the	financial	year,	the	Board	comprised	two	executive	Directors	and	three	Non-executive	Directors,	including	a	Non-executive	
Chairman,	all	of	whom	served	throughout	the	year	and	to	the	date	of	the	signing	of	the	annual	report.

The	structure	of	the	Board	is	aligned	with	the	recommendations	of	the	Code	which	for	large	companies	requires	a	board	structure	 
where	at	least	half	the	members	of	the	Board	excluding	the	Chairman	are	independent	Non-executive	directors.	The	executive	and	
Non-executive	Directors	are	equal	members	of	the	Board	and	have	collective	responsibility	for	the	direction	of	the	Group.

The	Board	has	concluded	that	the	Non-executive	Directors	comprising	David	Thorpe	(Non-executive	Chairman),	James	Morley	 
(Senior	Independent	Director)	and	Chris	Harrison	are	independent	of	management	in	character,	judgement	and	opinion.	In	coming	to	 
this	assessment,	the	Board	has	taken	into	consideration	a	number	of	factors,	which	include	the	criteria	contained	in	the	Code	which	are	
whether,	the	Director:	

• has	been	an	employee	of	the	Group	within	the	last	five	years;
• has,	or	has	had	within	the	last	three	years,	a	material	business	relationship	with	the	Group;
• has	received	or	receives	additional	remuneration	from	the	Group	apart	from	a	director’s	fee;
• has	close	family	ties	with	any	of	the	Group’s	advisors,	Directors	or	senior	employees;
• holds	cross-directorships	or	has	significant	links	with	other	directors	through	involvement	in	other	companies	or	bodies;
• represents	a	significant	shareholder;	and
• has	served	on	the	Board	for	more	than	nine	years	from	the	date	of	their	first	election.

The	Chairman	is	responsible	for	the	effective	operation,	leadership	and	governance	of	the	Board.	He	is	also	responsible	for	setting	the	
agenda,	style	and	tone	of	Board	discussions.

Balance of the Board 
The	skills	and	experience	of	each	Director	is	included	in	their	biographies	on	pages	34	and	35.	The	Nomination	Committee	considers	this	
at	each	meeting	in	order	to	ensure	that	the	Board	contains	the	capabilities	required	to	meet	the	needs	of	the	business,	its	strategic	goals	
and	the	activities	it	performs	to	achieve	them.	At	the	balance	sheet	date,	this	is	considered	to	have	been	met.	Further	disclosure	of	the	
policies	of	the	Nomination	Committee	is	shown	on	page	44.

Re-election of Directors
All	Directors,	in	accordance	with	the	Code,	will	submit	themselves	for	re-election	at	least	once	every	three	years	and	at	the	first	annual	
general	meeting	following	their	appointment	as	a	director.

Performance evaluation of the Board
The	Code	requires	each	company	to	conduct	performance	evaluations	of	its	board,	committees	and	individual	directors	and	to	report	 
on	these	evaluations.	Evaluations	of	the	individual	directors,	the	Board,	the	Nomination,	Remuneration	and	Audit	Committees	were	
performed	during	the	year	through	the	use	of	tailored	questionnaires.	The	results	of	each	questionnaire	were	reviewed	and	reported	 
back	to	the	Board	and	relevant	committee	by	the	chairman	of	that	body.	In	each	case,	any	specific	strengths	and	perceived	weaknesses	
were	highlighted	and	discussed,	and	any	resultant	requirements	documented.

The	performance	evaluation	of	each	individual	Director,	including	the	Chairman,	was	also	performed	during	the	year	by	the	completion	 
by	each	Board	member	and	the	Company	secretary	of	a	series	of	questionnaires.	The	results	of	these	were	communicated	to	the	Board	
by	the	Chairman,	or	in	the	case	of	the	appraisal	of	the	Chairman,	by	the	Senior	Independent	Director,	noting	any	appropriate	actions	that	
were	required.

Corporate governance report continued
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Independent advice available to the Board
All	Directors	have	access	to	the	advice	and	services	of	the	Company	Secretary	and	are	entitled	in	furtherance	of	their	duties	to	take	
independent	professional	advice	at	the	Group’s	expense,	including	if	necessary	requesting	the	attendance	of	external	legal	counsel	 
or	other	professional	advisors	at	Board	meetings.	All	Directors	receive	appropriate	training	on	appointment	to	the	Board	and	are	
encouraged	to	attend	training	courses	and	presentations	on	an	ongoing	basis	as	required	to	fulfil	their	roles	and	responsibilities.

Further	information	on	the	balance	of	the	Board	is	shown	in	the	following	tables:

Length	of	appointment

0	–	1	years 0	(0%)
1	–	4	years 1	(20%)
4	+	years 4	(80%)

Gender

Male 4	(80%)
Female 1	(20%)

Executive/Non-executive

Executive 2	(40%)
Non-executive 3	(60%)

Board Committees

The	Board	has	three	standing	committees	which	deal	with	specific	aspects	of	the	Group’s	affairs.

These	are	as	follows:

• Nomination Committee 
• Audit Committee 
• Remuneration	Committee	

The	objectives,	key	duties	and	main	activities	of	the	Committees	undertaken	in	the	year	are	described	on	pages	44	to	61	of	the	 
Corporate	Governance	report.

The	Board	members,	their	respective	committee	responsibilities	and	their	attendance	details	at	scheduled	meetings,	including	those	
where	attendance	has	been	by	telephone,	for	the	year	ended	30	September	2014	are	as	follows:

Committee 
Membership

Committee 
Chairman Board

Audit 
Committee  

(A)

Remuneration	
Committee  

(R)

Nomination 
Committee  

(N)

David	Thorpe A,	R,	N N 11/11 4/4 4/4 2/2
Andrew	Roberts 11/11 4/41 4/41 4/41

Jane	Hall 11/11 4/41 4/41 4/41

James	Morley A,	R,	N R 11/11 4/4 4/4 2/2
Chris	Harrison A,	R,	N A 11/11 4/4 4/4 2/2

1	 Meetings	attended	by	invitation.

The	terms	of	reference	for	each	of	the	committees	are	available	from	the	Group’s	website	at:	
http://www.innovation-group.com/corporate-governance.

Shareholders
Further	information	for	shareholders	is	included	within	Appendix	1	on	page	127.
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Letter from David Thorpe, Chairman of the Nomination Committee 
The	members	of	the	committee	are	James	Morley,	Chris	Harrison	and	I.	James	Liddiard	acts	as	secretary	to	the	Committee.	All	members	
of	the	Committee	are	considered	independent	of	management	in	the	opinion	of	the	Board.

The objective of the Nomination Committee	is	to	ensure	that	the	Board	continues	to	comprise	of	individuals	with	the	appropriate	skills	
and	knowledge	to	guarantee	the	future	success	of	the	Group	and	to	discharge	its	responsibilities	in	regards	to	Corporate	Governance.

The key duties of the Nomination Committee	is	included	as	part	of	the	Terms	of	Reference	for	the	Committee,	which	is	available	from	
the	Group’s	website	at:	http://www.innovation-group.com/corporate-governance.	The	Terms	of	Reference	also	include	policies	on	
gender and diversity.

Committee Meetings
The	Committee	held	one	meeting	in	the	current	year.	Only	members	of	the	Committee	are	entitled	to	be	present	at	its	meetings;	
however	the	Executive	Directors	and	external	advisors	may	be	invited	to	attend.	In	the	event	of	matters	concerning	my	membership	 
of	the	Board,	I	would	excuse	myself	from	the	meeting	at	that	time	and	the	Board’s	Senior	Independent	Director	would	take	the	chair.

Main activities of the Committee during the year

Topic Area of focus

Executive Succession We	focused	upon	the	process	for	appointment	to	the	Board	in	the	event	of	
departure	of	either	Executive	Director	or	Non-executive	Director.	On	the	
appointment	of	Jane	Hall	as	Chief	Executive	–	Business	Services	we	enacted	a	
succession	plan	to	appoint	Lewis	Miller	to	the	role	of	Group	Finance	Director.

Re-election of Directors During	the	year,	we	considered	the	re-election	of	Directors	both	for	the	AGM	in	
March	2014,	but	also	for	the	future	AGM	in	2015.

In	considering	this,	we	took	account	of	the	fact	that	I	will	be	leaving	the	Board	in	
December	2014.	External	advisors	have	been	engaged	to	assist	in	the	identification	
of	a	new	non-executive	director	and	Chairman	remains	in	progress	at	the	date	of	 
this	report.

Andy	Roberts,	Chris	Harrison	and	David	Thorpe	offer	themselves	for	 
re-election	in	March	2015.	Lewis	Miller	has	been	put	forward	for	re-election	in	 
March	2015.

Diversity of the Board We	considered	the	diversity	of	the	Board	during	the	year,	in	line	with	best	practice	
developing	in	the	marketplace.

The	policy	of	the	Committee	is	to	ensure	that	the	relevant	skills	and	experience	
relevant	to	the	Group	and	its	operations	are	present	in	the	membership	of	the	Board.

We	will	continue	to	monitor	and	assess	developments	in	corporate	governance	to	ensure	that	the	structure	of	the	Board	remains	within	
the	guidelines	for	best	practice.

Effectiveness
The	committee	monitors	its	effectiveness	each	year	through	the	use	of	a	questionnaire	which	is	completed	by	each	member	and	
submitted	to	the	Company	Secretary	to	collate	and	summarise.	Any	suggestions	for	improvement	are	discussed	by	the	Committee	and	
implemented	if	it	is	agreed	that	this	will	lead	to	improvements	in	the	Committee’s	effectiveness.

David Thorpe
On	behalf	of	the	Nomination	Committee
3	December	2014

Corporate governance report continued
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Letter from Chris Harrison, Chairman of the Audit Committee 
The	members	of	the	committee	are	David	Thorpe,	James	Morley	and	myself.	James	Liddiard	acts	as	secretary	to	the	Committee.	 
All	members	of	the	Committee	are	considered	independent	of	management	in	the	opinion	of	the	Board.

The objective of the Audit Committee	is	to	provide	rigour	and	challenge	to	the	financial	reporting	process	of	the	Group,	including	
assessment	of	the	performance	of	both	the	internal	and	external	audit	functions	and	the	management	of	the	Group’s	internal	control	and	
risk	management	systems.	The	Committee	also	monitors	the	Group’s	sustainability	policies,	which,	as	reported	in	the	Group	Operational	
and	Financial	Review	are	increasingly	becoming	a	more	integral	part	of	the	Group’s	overall	strategy.	The	terms	of	reference	for	the	
committee,	which	can	be	found	at	http://www.innovation-group.com/corporate-governance,	are	formally	reappraised	on	an	annual	basis	
and	modified	as	considered	appropriate	by	the	Committee.

The key duties of the Audit Committee	is	included	as	part	of	the	Terms	of	Reference	for	the	Committee,	which	is	available	from	the	
Group’s	website	at:	http://www.innovation-group.com/corporate-governance.

Conduct of Committee meetings
The	Committee	held	five	meetings	in	the	current	year.	Only	members	of	the	Committee	are	entitled	to	be	present	at	its	meetings;	
however	Ernst	&	Young	LLP,	the	Chief	Executive	Officer,	the	Group	Finance	Director,	the	Group	Financial	Controller	and	the	Head	of	
Internal	Audit	attend	each	meeting	by	invitation	to	the	extent	that	it	is	deemed	to	be	appropriate.	On	occasion	other	members	of	
management	may	be	called	to	report	to	the	Committee.

The	Committee	also	meets	separately	with	Ernst	&	Young	LLP,	as	further	discussed	later	in	this	letter,	and	may	meet	with	the	 
Head	of	Internal	Audit	or	the	Group	Financial	Controller	without	other	members	of	the	executive	management	team	being	present.	 
As	Chair	of	the	committee,	I	also	hold	private	meetings	with	each	of	these	parties	and	they	are	encouraged	to	consult	with	me	 
should	they	see	a need.	

Main activities of the Committee during the year

Topic Area of focus

Financial Reporting We	focused	upon	the	interim	and	annual	results	and	reports	(including	a	review	of	
matters	raised	by	the	external	auditor)	and	reported	to	the	Board	on	whether	the	
Annual	Report	and	Accounts	are	fair,	balanced	and	understandable.

We	have	also	had	significant	input	into	the	preparation	of	the	Annual	Report	and	
Accounts	in	order	to	ensure	that	this	principle	has	been	met.	

Significant accounting matters We	assessed	significant	accounting	matters	which	may	have	a	material	impact	on	
the	results	of	the	Group.

Risk Management and Internal Control We	reviewed	management’s	risk	register	and	internal	controls	reports.

Internal Audit We	approved	the	programme	of	work	for	Internal	Audit,	reviewed	Internal	Audit	
reports and proposed management actions to address any areas for improvement 
that	are	identified.

The	Committee	also	assessed	of	the	Internal	Audit	function	and	its	effectiveness.

External Audit We	assessed	the	effectiveness,	independence	and	objectivity	of	the	External	
Auditor,	Ernst	&Young	LLP,	as	well	as	agreed	the	level	of	non-audit	fees.

Sustainability We	reviewed	the	Group’s	achievements	against	the	strategy	for	sustainability	
established	in	2013	and	provided	input	into	the	sustainability	strategy	to	2020	 
which	is	at	an	advanced	state	of	drafting.	We	also	reviewed	and	approved	the	 
Group	sustainability	report	at	www.innovation-group.com/sustainability,	which	is	 
a	crucial	document	for	communicating	both	our	intent	and	our	performance	to	 
our	internal	and	external	stakeholders.	

Corporate Governance We	reviewed	the	Group’s	compliance	with	the	Code.

Effectiveness We	made	assessment	of	the	effectiveness	of	the	Committee	and	its	communication	
with	management.

Outside	of	Committee	meetings,	I	and	other	members	of	the	Committee	hold	conversations	with	operational	and	financial	management	
on	matters	of	risk	and	control	during	our	periodic	Board	visits	to	key	operating	segments.	

During	the	year,	I	travelled	with	the	Board	to	the	USA	and	met	with	the	global	head	of	our	insurer	business,	executives	from	our	North	
American	business	and	since	the	year	end	travelled	to	South	Africa	to	meet	with	executives	from	that	business.	The	Board	has	also	
received	a	presentation	from	the	head	of	our	UK	property	business.

During	the	year,	the	Group	also	initiated	a	360	degree	feedback	process,	initially	for	the	executive	directors	of	the	main	Board.	
I participated	in	this	process	which	gave	me	the	opportunity	to	meet	in	person	with	each	of	the	heads	of	our	business	units.
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Financial Reporting
The	primary	role	of	the	Committee	in	regards	to	financial	reporting	is	to	meet	prior	to	the	release	of	financial	results	to	review	the	interim	
and	full	year	results	announcements,	in	conjunction	with	both	management	and	the	external	auditors.	

This	includes	an	assessment	of	the	appropriateness	of	the	going	concern	basis	in	the	preparation	of	the	accounts	so	as	to	be	able	to	
advise	the	Board	on	its	statement	on	page	38	made	in	this	regard.

The	matters	that	we	consider	include:

• 	Whether	the	annual	financial	statements	are	fair,	balanced	and	understandable	and	provide	a	depth	and	quality	of	information	
necessary	to	enable	shareholders	and	other	stakeholders	to	assess	the	Group’s	business	model	and	its	performance	against	its	stated	
strategy;	

• 	Ensuring	the	consistent	application	of	accounting	policies	and	appropriate	disclosure	in	the	event	of	any	changes;
• 	Material	items	where	judgements	and	estimates	have	been	applied;	and
• 	Compliance	and	appropriate	disclosures	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards

In	the	current	year	the	committee	has	paid	particular	attention	to	the	programme	for	integration	and	reporting	for	businesses	acquired	
during	the	current	year	as	the	scale	of	the	businesses	we	have	acquired	has	increased	significantly.

The	Committee	receives	reports	from	both	the	Group	Financial	Controller	and	Ernst	&	Young	LLP	to	assist	its	deliberations	on	these	
matters.	In	addition,	as	Chairman	of	the	Committee,	I	held	a	meeting	with	the	Group	External	Audit	Partner	and	Group	Finance	Director	
immediately	prior	to	the	regional	Audit	close	meetings	and	reported	to	the	Committee	on	the	discussions	in	these	meetings.	

The	Committee	is	acutely	aware	that	despite	the	Group	having	an	increasingly	clear	and	consistent	strategy	across	the	geographies	in	
which	it	operates,	there	are	differences	in	how	the	Group	provides	its	services	to	the	property	and	motor	insurance	industries	across	
these	territories.	This,	together	with	the	Group’s	strategy	of	both	organic	and	acquisition	led	growth	gives	rise	to	a	considerable	degree	 
of complexity in certain areas. 

The	significant	matters	considered	by	the	Committee	in	relation	to	the	Annual	Report	and	Accounts	in	the	year	were:
 

Matter
Judgement	and	 
estimation required

How	the	Committee	 
gained	comfort	on	the	matter

Intangible	Assets	–	Capitalisation	
of	Insurer	and	Intangible	Assets	
identified	as	a	result	of	business	
acquisitions

For	a	number	of	years	the	Group	has	been	
developing	its	Insurer	software	suite	using	
internal	resources.	This	base	software	is	critical	
to	the	Group’s	software	sales	and	the	effective	
delivery	of	the	Group’s	BPS	offering	in	those	
regions	where	“Insurer	Enterprise”	has	been	
implemented. 

Judgement	is	required	to	determine	that	only	
appropriate	levels	of	cost	are	capitalised,	that	
the	rate	of	amortisation	of	this	software	is	also	
appropriate	and	that	the	carrying	value	of	the	
asset	at	each	reporting	period	is	supported	by	
the	net	present	value	of	future	cash	flows	to	
be derived from it (see Goodwill and Intangible 
Assets – Carrying value and the associated risk  
of impairment).

There	are	a	number	of	key	estimates	when	
assessing	the	valuation	of	intangible	assets	
recognised	upon	the	acquisition	of	business	
combinations,	which	include	continuation	of	
contracts,	intellectual	property	acquired	and	
the	cash	flows	generated	from	them.	

We	enquired	into	the	work	carried	out	during	
the	year	so	as	to	satisfy	ourselves	that	only	
costs	that	have	given	rise	to	enhancements	
in	the	product	offering	have	been	capitalised	
during	the	year.	This	required	closer	scrutiny	
than	in	prior	years	as	there	have	been	a	number	
of	enhancements	at	a	regional	level	which	have	
been	undertaken	concurrently	with	first	time	
implementations	of	modules	of	the	product	 
at a regional level.
 
We	also	satisfied	ourselves	that	actual	 
software	sales	and	the	pipeline	of	potential	
sales,	together	with	the	economic	benefits	 
of	deploying	the	software	in	the	Group’s	 
BPS	offering	are	sufficient	to	support	the	
carrying	value	of	the	unamortised	cost	in	 
the	Balance	Sheet.

Management	documented	the	types	of	assets	
capitalized	as	part	of	business	combinations,	
the	assumptions	made	as	part	of	the	process.	
Given	the	materiality	of	LAS,	PwC	were	
engaged	by	management	to	advise	on	the	
fair value of intangible assets acquired as part 
of	this	combination.	We	are	satisfied	that	the	
resultant	acquisition	is	accounted	for	in	line	with	
the	Group’s	accounting	policies.	

Corporate governance report continued
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Matter
Judgement	and	 
estimation required

How	the	Committee	 
gained	comfort	on	the	matter

Goodwill	and	Intangible	Assets	–	
Carrying	value	and	the	associated	
risk	of	impairment

Determining	whether	the	carrying	value	of	
goodwill	and	intangible	assets	is	at	risk	of	
impairment	involves	a	number	of	estimates,	
which	includes	the	value	of	cash	flows	
estimated	to	be	generated	from	the	asset	 
in	the	future	(initially	driven	by	the	budget	for	 
the	following	financial	year)	and	the	discount	
rate	to	be	applied	to	these	cash	flows	so	that	 
an	assessment	of	their	net	present	value	can	 
be made. 

We	assess	the	anticipated	performance	of	the	
Group	and	the	associated	cash	flows	based	on	
the	approved	budget.	

We	have	assessed	the	assumptions	on	 
growth	rates	and	the	discount	rates	applied	
within	management’s	report	on	this	matter,	
paying	particular	attention	to	those	assets	
where	the	headroom	between	the	carrying	
value	of	the	asset	and	the	calculated	net	
present	value	of	estimated	future	cash	flows	 
is	most	vulnerable	to	the	assumptions	used.	 
We	are	satisfied	that	the	carrying	value	of	
intangible assets is appropriate and in line  
with	stated	accounting	policies.

Revenue	recognition	–	Software	
contracts

Software	licensing	agreements	invariably	
include complex multiple element 
arrangements and a number of judgements  
are	required	to	determine	the	elements	that	 
can	be	treated	as	revenue	and	those	which	 
need to be deferred for recognition as revenue 
in future periods. 

The	primary	judgement	is	whether	the	Group	
is able to separate recognition of revenue 
generated	on	professional	services	from	that	
on	licence	sales	as	part	of	the	same	contract,	
dependent	upon	the	substance	of	the	solution	
provided	to	the	customer	on	each	specific	
contract.	An	additional	consideration	is	if	the	
customer,	or	a	separate	third	party	provider,	
could	perform	these	professional	services.	

We	enquired	into	each	new	licensing	agreement	
entered	into	by	the	Group	during	the	year,	so	
as	to	understand	the	judgements	made	by	
management	in	arriving	at	the	level	of	revenue	
recognized	in	the	current	year.	Management’s	
treatment	was	presented	in	a	paper	considered	
by	the	committee.	

Recognising	the	inherent	subjectivity	in	certain	
of	the	judgements	made	by	management,	we	
satisfied	ourselves	that	the	level	of	revenue	
recognition	was	fair	and	in	accordance	with	the	
Group’s	disclosed	accounting	policies.

Revenue	recognition	–	Revenue	
shares	on	on-risk	contracts

There	are	a	number	of	key	estimates	that	are	
required	to	be	made	in	regards	to	establishing	
the	revenue	recognition	profile	on	revenue	
share	arrangements.	

For	the	on-risk	contracts	handled	by	the	UK	
subsidence	business,	these	include:

• 	The	levels	of	outstanding	recoveries	to	 
be	made	on	a	portfolio	of	claims;

• 	The	level	of	potential	increase	in	the	
settlement	value	for	open	claims	within	 
a	portfolio;	

• 	The	projection	of	the	ultimate	settlement	
value	for	a	portfolio	of	claims;	and

• 	The	costs	to	complete	on	a	“work-in-
progress”	run	off	book.	

For	the	on-risk	service	plans	handled	by	the	
South	African	motor	business,	these	include:

• 	The	cancellation	rate	of	policies	sold;
• 	The	number	of	services	taken	under	a	 
policy;	and

• 	The	number	of	policies	that	may	lapse.	

Management’s	treatment	was	presented	in	a	
paper	considered	by	the	committee.	

Recognising	the	inherent	subjectivity	in	certain	
of	the	judgements	made	by	management,	 
we	satisfied	ourselves	that	the	level	of	revenue	
recognition	was	fair	and	in	accordance	with	the	
Group’s	disclosed	accounting	policies.
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Matter
Judgement	and	 
estimation required

How	the	Committee	 
gained	comfort	on	the	matter

First time accounting for acquired 
businesses

Including	profits	from	acquired	businesses	
for	the	first	time	in	the	consolidated	results	
requires	appropriate	determination	of	the	
effective	date	of	acquisition,	the	balance	 
sheet	at	that	date,	and	effective	reporting	
procedures	consistent	with	the	group’s	
standard	procedures	to	be	adopted	by	the	
acquired business.

The	due	diligence	conducted	by	PwC	on	behalf	
of	the	group	into	LAS,	highlighted	a	number	of	
shortcomings	in	the	accounting	procedures	
at	LAS,	and	as	a	consequence	of	these	it	
took	longer	than	had	been	hoped	to	finalise	
the	opening	balance	sheet	of	LAS	for	the	
purposes	of	purchase	price	determination	and	
the	attribution	of	post-acquisition	profits.	In	
addition,	the	changes	necessary	to	bring	LAS’s	
accounting	into	line	with	group	procedures	had	
not	been	completed	at	the	year-end.

We	enquired	into	the	work	that	was	undertaken	
to	confirm	the	opening	balance	sheet	of	LAS	
and	supported	EY	in	their	additional	procedures	
to	satisfy	themselves	that	the	closing	balance	
was	drawn	up	in	accordance	with	group	
standards.	This	additional	work	did	give	rise	to	
adjustments	and	we	ensured	that	all	identified	
specific	errors	have	been	reflected	in	the	
consolidated accounts.

Tax	matters The	Group	operates	in	12	countries,	with	a	
variety	of	tax	regimes	which	have	different	levels	
of	complexities	and	challenges	dependent	upon	
the	tax	environment.	

The	Group	also	sells	software	licences	
internationally,	with	the	intellectual	property	
for	this	asset	residing	in	the	United	Kingdom.	
Because	of	this	the	Group	operates	a	transfer	
pricing	policy,	which	requires	some	judgements	
over	the	level	of	benefit	derived	locally	and	the	
amount	which	can	be	charged	as	this	royalty.	

Establishing	the	carrying	value	for	potential	
tax assets and liabilities involves a number of 
estimates.	These	include	the	assessment	of	
future	profits	budgeted	in	the	next	financial	
year	that	would	enable	the	available	losses	to	
be	utilised	and	the	size	of	intangible	assets	
recognised	as	part	of	the	accounting	for	
business combinations. 

We considered a report prepared by 
management	for	the	committee	which	analysed	
the	Group	tax	charge,	highlighting	areas	of	
subjectivity	particularly	with	regard	to	the	
recognition of deferred tax assets.
 
We also considered areas of uncertainty and 
satisfied	ourselves	that,	where	appropriate,	
provision	has	been	made	for	identified	potential	
liabilities	that	are	considered	likely	to	arise.

The	change	in	disclosure	
requirements	brought	by	 
‘The	Companies	Act	2006	
(Strategic	report	and	Directors’	
report)	Regulations	2013’,	the	
updated	Corporate	Governance	
Code	and	the	new	legislation	on	
Directors’	remuneration	reports.	

These	changes	have	had	a	significant	impact	on	
the	presentation	of	the	Annual	Report	and	the	
information	disclosed	within	it.	As	a	company	
with	a	30	September	accounting	reference	date,	
in	2013	we	were	one	of	the	early	adopters	and	
as	a	consequence	we	had	little	opportunity	to	
learn	from	the	work	of	others	in	determining	
how	to	comply	with	the	regulations.

In	2013	we	invested	considerable	time	with	
the	intent	of	significantly	improving	our	
communication	through	the	Annual	Report	 
with	our	shareholders	and	other	stakeholders.

This	year,	with	the	help	of	our	auditors	and	from	
studies	compiled	by	the	regulator	and	other	
professional	services	firms,	we	have	reviewed	
our	2013	Annual	Report	in	comparison	to	
emerging best practice and made a number  
of	changes	in	response	to	that	practice.

We	have	satisfied	ourselves	that	the	Annual	
Report	meets	the	requirements	of	the	
regulations	and	are	pleased	to	note	that	we	
have	not	needed	to	make	any	fundamental	
changes	as	a	result	of	the	review	referred	to	
above.	Nevertheless	we	will	continue	to	review	
and learn from emergent best practice.

All	of	the	above	are	addressed	by	discussing	with	management	the	key	judgements	made	and	the	evidence	that	supports	them	(such	as	
third	party	actuarial	valuations,	historical	performance	and	accuracy	of	forecasts).
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Risk Management and Internal Control
The	Directors	are	responsible	for	establishing	and	maintaining	the	Group’s	system	of	internal	control	and	reviewing	its	effectiveness.	 
By	its	nature,	however,	such	a	system	is	designed	to	manage	rather	than	eliminate	the	risk	of	failure	to	achieve	business	objectives	and	
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

As	with	any	business,	a	number	of	risk	factors	may	affect	the	Group,	its	results	and	the	Board’s	ability	to	deliver	on	its	strategy.	 
The	Group	operates	a	risk	register	and	identifies	risk	under	the	following	categories;	strategic,	financial,	operational	and	environmental.	
The	key	risks	and	mitigation	factors,	not	all	of	which	are	within	the	Directors’	control,	are	shown	on	pages	12	to	13	as	part	of	the	Group	
Strategic report. 

The	Audit	Committee	reviews	this	register	on	an	annual	basis,	challenging	management	on	its	completeness,	the	balance	of	the	
identified	risks	and	the	steps	taken	by	management	to	mitigate	those	risks.

There	are	a	number	of	key	elements	to	the	Group’s	internal	control	system,	which	are	targeted	at	mitigating	the	identified	key	risks.	 
These	include:	

• A	clearly	defined	management	structure	and	delegation	of	authority	to	committees	of	the	Board,	executive	committee	and	 
business	units;

• A	detailed	budgeting	process	culminating	in	approval	by	the	Board;
• Timely	and	accurate	financial	and	management	reporting	of	historical	results	and	regular	re-forecasting	of	future	profit	and	cash	 
flow	performance;

• Board	information	and	meeting	agendas	linked	to	identified	risks	to	ensure	review	of	progress	in	key	risk	areas;
• Quality,	knowledge	and	integrity	of	personnel	maintained	through	recruitment,	training	and	communication	activities;
• Day	to	day	hands-on	involvement	in	selected	business	areas	by	the	Executive	Directors;	and
• Use	of	internal	audit	and	external	professional	advisors.

This	process	is	regularly	reviewed	by	the	Board.	It	has	been	in	place	for	the	year	under	review	and	up	to	the	date	of	the	approval	of	these	
financial	statements.	

Internal Audit
The	Committee	oversees	the	resourcing	and	effectiveness	of	Internal	Audit,	which	is	consistent	with	the	size	of	the	Group.	The	Group	
function	consists	of	two	people	with	a	further	dedicated	resource	in	South	Africa.

Each	year	I	agree	the	programme	of	work	with	the	Head	of	Internal	Audit	and	this	is	then	submitted	to	the	Committee	for	review	and	
approval.	Reports	are	submitted	to	the	Committee	as	they	are	completed	and,	as	Chairman,	I	discuss	these	in	detail	with	the	Head	of	
Internal	Audit	before	each	meeting.	She	also	has	instructions	to	share	any	issues	of	significant	concern	with	me	as	they	arise.	

Progress	against	plan	is	also	reviewed	at	each	meeting	together	with	follow	up	and	action	plans	in	the	light	of	findings.	Flexibility	in	the	 
plan	is	also	maintained,	so	that	the	plan	can	be	varied	if	circumstances	suggest	the	need	for	additional	reviews.	Where	appropriate	the	
Committee	will	make	recommendations	to	management	so	as	to	ensure	that	findings	are	actioned	in	a	timely	and	effective	manner.

The	key	items	reviewed	by	Internal	Audit	during	the	financial	year	were:

• Integration	of	our	Enterprise	software	solution	with	our	financial	reporting	package	in	the	business	units	where	Enterprise	has 
been	deployed;

• Post-acquisition	integration	processes;
• Information	security	review	(a	multi-year	project	to	include	all	business	units);	and
• Data Protection in various business units.

The	Committee	are	of	the	view	that	the	Internal	Audit	function	has	operated	effectively	and	independently	throughout	the	financial	year.	

External Audit
It	is	key	that	in	order	to	ensure	an	external	audit	is	as	effective	as	possible,	that	the	appropriate	risks	are	identified	by	the	external	 
auditors	as	part	of	their	planning	process.	For	this	financial	year,	Ernst	&	Young	LLP	submitted	a	detailed	audit	plan	at	the	planning	Audit	
Committee	meeting	which	outlined	the	following	as	key	risks,	including	areas	of	accounting	capable	of	manipulation	which	were	to	be	a	
key	area	of	focus	in	their	audit	the	focus	of	their	audit:

• Revenue	recognition;
 – Revenue	recognised	under	on-risk	contracts	using	actuarial	curves
 – Software	revenue	recognition
 – Revenue	recognition	on	property	subsidence	claims

• Goodwill	impairment;
• Capitalisation	of	expenditure	in	regards	to	Innovation	Insurer	and	Enterprise;
• Accounting	for	the	acquisitions	made	by	the	group	in	the	year;	and
• Recognition	of	deferred	tax	assets.

The	above	key	risks	were	also	identified	in	the	prior	year.
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Management	are	satisfied	that	the	risks	identified	by	the	auditors	are	in	line	with	those	identified	internally.

At	the	Audit	Committee	meetings	convened	to	discuss	the	interim	and	full	year	results,	I	and	the	other	members	of	the	Committee	held 
	a	private	meeting	with	the	external	auditors	so	as	to	provide	a	forum	for	them	to	provide	feedback	without	executive	management	being	
present.	Matters	discussed	include	the	quality	and	transparency	of	information	provided	by	management	to	the	auditors	as	part	of	the	
audit	process,	confirmation	that	they	have	been	able	to	perform	the	scope	of	their	audit	without	restriction	and	how	they	have	used	their	
professional	scepticism	in	regards	to	any	specific	matters	of	note.	I	also	meet	with	the	Group	Audit	Partner	during	the	year	outside	of	the	
formal	Committee	process.	The	Committee	and	the	Board	consider	auditor	objectivity	and	independence,	ensuring,	in	particular,	that	
this	is	not	compromised	where	the	auditor	provides	non-audit	services.	It	is	the	Group’s	policy	to	use	the	services	of	advisors	other	than	
the	external	auditors	for	non-audit	work	where	conflicts	may	arise	for	significant	new	assignments,	but	it	is	also	recognised	that	in	certain	
cases	the	incumbent	auditor	is	often	best	placed	to	provide	a	cost	and	time	efficient	service.	In	order	to	safeguard	and	help	ensure	
independence,	I	am	consulted	prior	to	each	major	non-audit	engagement	where	the	use	of	the	auditor	is	proposed.	During	the	financial	
year,	Ernst	&	Young	LLP	and	its	associated	member	firms	were	engaged	in	non-audit	services,	giving	rise	to	fees	of	£386,000.	This	
compares	to	overall	audit	fees	of	£819,000.	The	non-audit	fees,	all	of	which	met	the	criteria	above,	arose	principally	in	relation	to	
transaction	services	in	connection	with	the	fund	raising	in	March	2014.

The	Committee	considers	the	reappointment	of	the	external	auditor	on	an	annual	basis.	This	includes,	where	appropriate,	the	rotation	 
of	the	Group	Audit	Partner,	the	rotation	of	any	Audit	Partner	from	any	of	the	material	subsidiary	entities	and	ongoing	independence	of	 
the	Group.	This	is	the	tenth	year	of	Ernst	&	Young	LLP’s	appointment	as	the	Group’s	external	auditor.	The	external	auditor	is	required	to	
rotate	the	Group	Audit	Partner	every	five	years.	The	Group	Audit	Partner	changed	during	2013	and	this	is	his	second	year	of	appointment.

The	Group	has	not	performed	a	formal	tender	process	since	the	appointment	of	Ernst	&	Young	LLP	in	2005.	In	my	last	report	I	signalled	
that	we	would	give	serious	consideration	to	tendering	the	audit	for	the	2015	financial	year.	However	we	have	now	decided	to	defer	that	
decision	for	a	further	12	months.	In	reaching	this	conclusion	we	have	had	regard	to	the	fact	that	there	remains	considerable	uncertainty	
as	to	how	the	EU	rules	on	auditor	rotation	will	be	implemented	in	the	UK.	and	what	the	consequences	of	a	retender	at	this	time	would	be	
for	our	future	retendering	obligations.	We	also	do	not	consider	it	sensible	to	change	our	auditors	in	the	same	year	that	we	have	appointed	
a	new	finance	director	to	the	group,	as	announced	elsewhere	in	this	report.

The	Committee	are	of	the	view	that	the	external	auditors	have	operated	effectively	and	independently	throughout	the	financial	year.	 
We	have	reached	this	conclusion	through	enquiry	of	the	auditors	and	feedback	on	the	conduct	of	the	audit	from	local	management	in	
each	of	our	major	geographies.	

Corporate governance – Financial and Business Reporting
The	Board	is	required	to	present	a	fair,	balanced	and	understandable	assessment	of	the	Group’s	position	and	prospects	in	the	Annual	
Report	and	Accounts	and	in	interim	and	other	public	reports.	The	Board	looks	to	the	Audit	Committee	to	provide	it	with	assurance	that	 
it	has	met	this	obligation.	The	Committee	has	been	able	to	provide	this	assurance.	A	summary	of	the	Directors’	responsibilities	for	the	
financial	statements	is	set	out	on	pages	38	to	39.

Effectiveness
The	committee	monitors	its	effectiveness	each	year	through	the	use	of	a	questionnaire	which	is	completed	by	each	member	and	
submitted	to	the	Company	Secretary	to	collate	and	summarise.	Any	suggestions	for	improvement	are	discussed	by	the	Committee	 
and	implemented	if	it	is	agreed	that	this	will	lead	to	improvements	in	the	Committee’s	effectiveness.

Chris Harrison
On	behalf	of	the	Audit	Committee
3	December	2014

Corporate governance report continued
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Letter from James Morley, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 

Dear	Shareholder

I	am	pleased	to	take	this	opportunity	to	provide	an	overview	of	way	the	Company’s	remuneration	policy	has	been	implemented	during	 
the	2014	financial	year	under	review.

Reporting Format
As	required	under	the	directors’	remuneration	reporting	regulations,	the	Company	sought	and	received	shareholder	
approval for a	directors’	remuneration	policy	by	way	of	a	binding	shareholder	resolution	at	the	2014	AGM.	The	remuneration	
policy was designed to support	the	Company	in	delivering	its	long-term	strategy	and	to	achieve	alignment	between	the	directors	
and the Company’s	shareholders.	The	complete	2014	Remuneration	policy	report	is	available	from	the	Group’s	website	at:	
http://www.innovation-group.com/corporate-governance	and	it	is	expected	that	this	will	continue	to	apply	through	to	the	2017	
AGM when	the	regulations	will	require	the	Company	to	seek	approval	for	a	new	Remuneration	policy	report.	In	relation	to	the	year	
under review,	as	the	regulations	require,	we	have	set	out	the	remuneration	report	in	two	parts,	(i)	this	Annual	Statement,	and	(ii)	
the Annual Report	on	Remuneration	which	will	be	put	to	an	advisory	shareholder	resolution	at	the	forthcoming	AGM	in	2015.

Performance outcome for the 2014 Financial Year
As	highlighted	in	the	Group	Strategic	report,	the	year	ended	30	September	2014	has	been	a	further	year	of	progress	which	has	seen	
continued	growth	of	adjusted	profit	and	adjusted	earnings	per	share,	despite	economic	conditions	that	remain	challenging.	Growth	has	
been	delivered	through	a	combination	of	organic	growth	at	constant	currency	at	the	same	time	as	successfully	completing	a	number	of	
targeted	acquisitions	(e.g.	Crashworth	Limited	and	LAS).	In	addition,	the	Group	has	continued	to	generate	good	levels	of	cash	from	its	
enlarged	operations,	and	the	conversion	rate	of	EBITDA	to	operating	cash	flow	has	remained	strong.

The	financial	results	delivered	reflect	the	talents	and	skills	of	our	management	team,	our	ability	to	successfully	target	and	integrate	
complementary	businesses	and	demonstrate	the	strength	of	the	Group’s	strategy	of	operating	a	focused	software	and	services	portfolio.

With	regards	to	the	specific	levels	of	performance	delivered	during	the	financial	year	under	review	and	how	these	feed	through	to	 
the	reward	of	the	executive	team,	the	Group	achieved	year	on	year	adjusted	profit	growth	of	26%	(38%	at	constant	currency),	 
growth	in	revenues	of	3%	(10%	at	constant	currency)	and	the	conversion	of	adjusted	EBITDA	into	adjusted	operating	cash	flow	of	88%.	
Notwithstanding	the	strength	of	performance	delivered,	based	on	the	targets	set	at	the	start	of	the	financial	year,	no	bonuses	were	
payable	to	the	Chief	Executive	and	Group	Finance	Director.

The	long-term	incentive	awards	granted	under	the	2011	Plan	to	the	Chief	Executive	and	Finance	Director	in	May	2011	became	eligible	to	
vest	from	30	September	2014.	The	performance	targets	applying	to	awards	granted	under	this	Plan	required	(i)	the	three	month	average	
share	price	to	be	between	20p	and	40p	(ii)	the	Company’s	adjusted	EPS	as	at	30	September	2014	to	be	at	least	1.18	pence	and	(iii)	the	
Committee	to	be	satisfied	that	the	vesting	result	was	reflective	of	the	underlying	financial	performance	of	the	Company	over	the	
three-year	performance	period.	In	terms	of	the	performance	achieved	against	these	targets,	the	three	month	average	share	price	to	 
30	September	2014	was	31.32p	(adjusted	for	the	impact	of	the	March	2014	Open	Offer)	and	adjusted	EPS	as	at	30	September	was	1.87p.	
In	light	of	recording	three-year	growth	in	adjusted	profit	and	revenue	growth	of	82%	and	19%,	the	Committee	approved	vesting	at	this	
level	and	considered	the	performance	achieved	over	the	period	in	the	broader	economic	context	to	be	an	exceptional	result	delivered	by	
the	executive	management	team	and	approved	vesting.	These	levels	of	performance	resulted	in	61%	of	the	maximum	vesting.

Policy for the 2015 Financial Year
With	regards	to	the	wider	application	of	the	Company’s	shareholder	approved	remuneration	policy	for	the	current	year	under	review,	 
the	key	points	to	note	include:
1.	In	light	of	their	new	roles	following	the	Board’s	restructuring	as	set	out	in	the	Corporate	Governance	report,	the	Chief	Executive’s	salary	
will	remain	unchanged	with	his	responsibilities	continuing,	broadly,	in	their	current	form	during	the	current	financial	year.	The	Group	
Finance	Director’s	salary,	however,	will	be	revised	such	that	it	will	be	reflective	of	her	new	role	in	the	restructured	Group.	Commensurate	
with	her	revised	role	of	Chief	Executive	–	Business	Services,	her	salary	will	increase	from	£255,000	to	£310,000	from	1	December	2014.	
An	additional	allowance	of	£45,000,	which	in	tandem	with	the	enhanced	long-term	incentive	award	to	be	granted	to	her	in	the	current	
financial	year,	is	to	be	paid	to	take	account	of	the	additional	time	commitment	and	responsibilities	that	will	be	required	of	her	during	 
a	period	of	transition	when	she	will	be	fulfilling	both	her	new	role	of	Chief	Executive	–	Business	Services	and	Group	Finance	Director.

2.	There	is	to	be	no	change	to	the	maximum	annual	bonus	opportunity	(100%	of	salary)	for	the	current	financial	year	and	the	performance	
measures	will	remain	adjusted	profit,	operating	cash	conversion	and	revenue	growth.	Clawback	provisions	will	also	continue	to	operate	
that	enable	any	value	overpaid	to	be	reclaimed	within	one	complete	audit	cycle	in	the	event	of	a	misstatement	of	the	Company’s	
financial	results.
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3.	Awards	will	be	granted	under	the	Company’s	existing	Performance	Share	Plan	(‘PSP’).	The	award	to	the	Chief	Executive	will	be	at	the	
‘normal’	maximum	annual	award	multiple	of	100%	of	salary	with	the	award	to	the	Chief	Executive	–	Business	Services	to	be	granted	 
at	the	‘exceptional’	level	of	150%	of	salary.	The	exceptional	award	is	to	be	granted	(i)	in	recognition	of	Jane	Hall’s	revised	role	within	 
the	Group	and	its	central	importance	to	driving	future	profitability	and	(ii)	the	fact	that	she	will	be	undertaking	the	dual	roles	of	Chief	
Executive	–	Business	Services	and	Group	Finance	Director	through	a	period	of	transition	until	such	time	as	a	new	Group	Finance	
Director	is	fully	in	post.	Structuring	her	remuneration	for	the	period	she	undertakes	dual	roles	via	a	cash	allowance	and	an	enhanced	
PSP	award	was	considered	more	appropriate	than	providing	a	more	substantial	additional	cash	allowance	than	the	one	detailed	above	
since	the	benefit	of	the	enhanced	PSP	will	only	be	received	if	the	Board’s	restructuring	is	executed	successfully	and	drives	shareholder	
value	over	the	long-term	such	that	the	award’s	challenging	performance	targets	are	met.	The	performance	condition	applying	to	 
the	awards	will	remain	an	equal	blend	of	adjusted	EPS	growth	and	relative	TSR	performance,	with	the	vesting	criteria	to	be	broadly	
consistent	with	the	2014	awards	but	reflecting	the	results	of	the	consultation	in	respect	of	those	proposed	for	the	initial	awards	under	
the	2015	Plan,	if	approved.	In	addition,	a	two	year	holding	period	will	continue	to	apply	to	the	after	tax	number	of	vested	shares.

The	awards	to	be	granted	in	the	current	financial	year	under	the	current	PSP	(approved	by	shareholders	in	2005)	will	be	the	final	set	of	
annual	awards	eligible	to	be	granted	before	the	PSP	expires	on	28	June	2015.	Given	the	current	PSP	is	the	sole	long-term	incentive	plan	
currently	operated,	shareholder	approval	is	being	sought	for	a	replacement	PSP	at	the	2015	AGM.	The	replacement	PSP	has	been	
designed	to	broadly	mirror	the	terms	of	the	existing	plan	and	has	also	been	designed	to	be	consistent	with	the	overview	of	our	approach	
to	long-term	incentive	provision	incorporated	into	the	remuneration	policy	for	which	we	received	shareholder	approval	at	the	2014	AGM.	
A	full	summary	of	the	principal	terms	of	the	new	PSP	will	be	included	in	the	2015	Notice	of	AGM.	It	is	anticipated	that	the	first	awards	to	be	
granted	under	the	2015	PSP	plan,	subject	to	shareholders	approving	the	Plan	at	the	2015	AGM,	will	take	place	in	December	2015	following	
the	Company’s	results	announcement	for	the	year	ending	30	September	2015.	The	performance	targets	to	apply	to	those	awards	will	 
be	set	out	in	the	2015	Directors’	Remuneration	report	and	it	is	intended	that	the	targets	will	be	similarly	challenging	to	those	set	for	the	
awards	to	be	granted	in	the	current	financial	year	(detailed	on	page	58).

Subject	to	the	approval	of	the	2015	PSP	at	the	AGM,	the	Committee	continues	to	believe	that	the	Company’s	remuneration	policy	 
and	its	application	(as	summarised	above),	alongside	the	operation	of	share	ownership	guidelines,	ensure	that	the	objectives	of	the	
Executive	Directors	are	clearly	aligned	with	the	long-term	objectives	of	the	Company	and	its	shareholders.	Furthermore,	given	that	 
the	remuneration	policy	includes	a	substantial	weighting	towards	long-term	performance	and	share	ownership,	the	Committee	is	
comfortable	that	the	policy	does	not	encourage	undue	risk	taking.

Shareholder feedback
The	Committee	and	I	will	continue	to	maintain	an	open	and	constructive	dialogue	with	our	shareholders.	We	continue	to	engage	in	
appropriate	dialogue	with	our	major	investors	on	any	significant	remuneration	matters	and	the	Company’s	major	shareholders	and	
leading	shareholder	protection	bodies	will	be	consulted	in	relation	to	the	proposed	replacement	PSP.	Furthermore,	we	welcome	any	
feedback	you	may	have.

As	a	result,	the	Committee	looks	forward	to	your	support	of	our	remuneration	policy	at	the	forthcoming	Annual	General	Meeting.

James Morley
On	behalf	of	the	Remuneration	Committee
3	December	2014

Corporate governance report continued
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Remuneration policy report
The	Company’s	Remuneration	policy	report	was	prepared	in	accordance	with	The	Large	and	Medium-sized	Companies	and	Groups	
(Accounts	and	Reports)	(Amendment)	Regulations	2013	(‘the	Act’).	As	required	by	the	regulations,	the	Remuneration	Policy	report	was	
put	to	a	binding	shareholder	vote	at	the	2014	AGM	and,	having	received	majority	shareholder	support	(with	the	voting	results	included	on	
page	61	of	the	Annual	Report	on	Remuneration)	operates	with	an	‘Effective	Date’	of	1	October	2014	for	the	purposes	of	complying	with	
the	Act.	The	remuneration	policy	can	be	found	at	http://www.innovation-group.com/corporate-governance.	

Annual report on remuneration
This	part	of	the	report	has	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	paragraph	3	within	Part	3	of	The	Large	and	Medium-sized	Companies	and	
Groups	(Accounts	and	Reports)	(Amendment)	Regulations	2013	and	9.8.6R	of	the	Listing	Rules.	The	Annual	Remuneration	report	will	 
be	put	to	an	advisory	shareholder	vote	at	the	AGM	in	2015.

Unaudited information
The	Remuneration	Committee	(the	‘Committee’)	currently	comprises	James	Morley	(Chairman),	David	Thorpe	and	Chris	Harrison	who	
are,	in	the	opinion	of	the	Board,	independent	of	management.	James	Liddiard,	CLO	and	Group	Company	Secretary,	acts	as	secretary	to	
the	Committee.	

The	Committee	is	responsible	for	recommending	the	remuneration	of	the	Executive	Directors	and	the	Chairman	to	the	Board.	The	
remuneration	of	each	of	the	Non-executive	Directors	is	determined	by	the	executive	members	of	the	Board	within	the	limits	set	out	in	
the	Articles	of	Association.	No	Director	is	involved	in	discussion	relating	to	his	or	her	remuneration.	The	terms	of	reference	of	the	
Committee	are	available	on	the	Group’s	website	at:	www.innovation-group.com/corporate-governance.

The	Committee	has	appointed	independent	remuneration	consultants	New	Bridge	Street	(‘NBS’),	a	trading	name	of	Aon	plc,	to	advise	on	
all	aspects	of	senior	executive	remuneration.	NBS	is	a	signatory	of	the	Remuneration	Consultants’	code	of	conduct	and	has	no	connection	
with	the	Group	other	than	in	the	provision	of	advice	on	executive	and	employee	remuneration	matters.	For	the	2014	financial	year	under	
review	NBS’	total	fees	charged	were	£55,000	(including	design,	operation	and	administration	of	remuneration	policy).	Aon	plc,	through	 
its	subsidiary	Aon	Insurance	Managers	(Guernsey)	Limited,	provides	management	services	for	one	of	the	Group’s	subsidiary	companies.	 
The	Committee	regularly	reviews	the	external	advisor	relationship	and	is	comfortable	that	NBS’	advice	remains	objective	and	independent.

The	Chief	Executive,	at	the	invitation	of	the	Committee,	also	provides	guidance	to	the	Committee	on	remuneration	of	the	senior	
executive	team.	The	Executive	Directors	attended,	by	invitation,	meetings	of	the	Committee.	

Page	43	of	the	Corporate	Governance	report	sets	out	the	number	of	times	the	Committee	met	during	the	year	and	the	attendance	at	
each	meeting.	

The	key	issues	considered	by	the	Committee	during	the	year	under	review	included:

• the	continuing	appropriateness	of	the	Company’s	remuneration	policy	and	the	remuneration	arrangements;	
• salary	levels	for	the	Chief	Executive	and	Group	Finance	Director;
• the	terms	of	the	2013/14	and	2014/15	Annual	Performance	Related	Bonus	Plans,	and	the	individual	bonuses	payable	for	2012/13,	 
in	light	of	performance	against	the	targets	set;	

• the	individual	long-term	share	incentive	awards	under	the	Company’s	2005	Performance	Share	Plan	and	the	associated	performance	
measures	and	targets;	

• testing	of	the	performance	conditions	and	approval	of	the	vesting	levels	of	long-term	share	incentive	awards	granted	in	2010/2011;
• the	approval	of	the	Directors’	Remuneration	report	for	2012/13;	and
• the	implications	of	revised	reporting	requirements	for	the	Directors’	Remuneration	report	for	2013/14.

Implementation of Remuneration policy for year ending 30 September 2015
Base Salaries
The	Executive	Directors’	base	salaries	were	reviewed	during	the	final	quarter	of	the	financial	year	ending	30	September	2014	in	light	of	 
(i)	their	revised	responsibilities	following	the	restructuring	of	the	Group’s	Board	(as	detailed	in	the	Chairman’s	Statement	on	page	5)	 
and	(ii)	the	levels	of	anticipated	salary	increases	to	be	awarded	across	the	Group	as	a	whole	and	in	the	UK.

As	a	result	of	this	exercise,	the	Committee	decided	to	increase	the	Executive	Directors	salaries	as	follows:

Salary as at 
1 December 2014

Salary as at 
1	April	2014 Increase

Andy	Roberts £420,000 £420,000 0%
Jane	Hall £310,000 £255,000 21.6%

As	detailed	in	the	Committee	Chairman’s	Annual	Statement,	reflecting	the	revised	management	structure,	the	Chief	Executive’s	salary	 
is	unchanged	and	the	salary	for	the	role	of	Chief	Executive	–	Business	Services	has	been	set	at	a	revised	level	to	reflect	the	responsibilities	
required	of	the	role.	An	additional	allowance	of	£45,000,	which	in	tandem	with	the	enhanced	long-term	incentive	award	to	be	granted	 
to	her	in	the	current	financial	year,	is	to	be	paid	to	take	account	of	the	additional	time	commitment	and	responsibilities	that	will	be	 
required	of	her	during	a	period	of	transition	when	she	will	be	fulfilling	both	her	new	role	of	Chief	Executive	–	Business	Services	and	Group	
Finance Director.

Directors’ remuneration report
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Pension and Benefits
The	Executive	Directors	participate	in	defined	contribution	arrangements	into	which	the	Company	contributes	10%	of	base	salary.	

In	addition	to	pension	benefits,	the	Executive	Directors	also	receive	private	medical	insurance,	permanent	health	insurance	and	a	fully	
expensed	company	car	or	car	allowance.	

Annual Performance Related Remuneration
The	bonus	opportunity	is	set	by	the	Committee	at	the	start	of	the	financial	year	against	targets	aligned	with	creating	shareholder	value,	
which	may	be	either	financial	or	strategic.	Any	bonus	payable	will	be	dependent	on	the	achievement	of	these	targets	which	will	include	
Group	adjusted	profit.	

For	the	year	ended	30	September	2015,	the	maximum	bonus	opportunity	for	the	Executive	Directors	will	remain	unchanged	at	100%	 
of base salary. 

The	bonus	opportunity	is	funded	by	over-performance	against	the	adjusted	profit	target.	Failure	to	achieve	this	target	means	that	no	
bonus	is	payable	irrespective	of	whether	the	revenue	and	cash	targets	are	met.	A	bonus	is	earned	on	an	incremental	basis	once	the	
predetermined	threshold	target	is	satisfied	(0%	payable)	through	to	a	maximum	payment	for	substantial	out-performance	of	the	
threshold	performance	targets	(100%	payable).

The	Committee	considers	that	the	revenue,	cash	and	adjusted	profit	targets	themselves	are	commercially	sensitive	and	therefore	 
plans	to	disclose	them	only	on	a	retrospective	basis.	Details	of	the	targets	and	actual	outturn	will	be	disclosed	in	next	year’s	Directors’	
Remuneration	report.	

Clawback	provisions	will	enable	the	Remuneration	Committee	to	correct	the	bonus	in	the	event	of	a	misstatement	of	the	Company’s	
results	(through	the	adjustment	of	future	incentive	pay	awards	in	the	first	instance)	so	that	it	reflects	the	value	that	should	have	been	 
paid	had	it	not	been	for	the	misstatement.	

Recognising	the	nature	of	the	Group’s	profits,	the	period	over	which	the	clawback	provisions	will	apply	is	until	approval	of	the	audited	
accounts	for	the	subsequent	year.

PSP
In	relation	to	the	awards	to	be	granted	in	the	current	financial	year	under	the	existing	PSP,	the	Chief	Executive	will	be	granted	an	award	 
at	100%	of	salary	with	an	award	to	the	Chief	Executive,	Global	Business	Services	at	150%	of	salary.

The	award	to	the	Chief	Executive	is	in	line	with	‘normal’	policy.	The	award	to	the	Chief	Executive,	Global	Business	Services	is	within	the	
scope	of	the	Company’s	shareholder	approved	remuneration	policy	in	‘exceptional’	circumstances	and	her	award	at	this	level	relates	to	
the	central	importance	her	revised	role	has	within	the	restructured	Group	at	the	same	time	as	recognising	that	she	will	be	undertaking	her	
existing	and	new	roles	during	a	transitional	period	until	such	time	as	a	replacement	Group	Finance	Director	is	appointed	and	commences	
employment.	The	Committee	considers	providing	a	temporary	cash	allowance	in	tandem	with	a	higher	PSP	award	in	the	current	year	 
to	be	the	most	appropriate	method	of	remunerating	her	for	her	period	fulfilling	dual	roles.	This	is	on	the	basis	that	her	additional	
remuneration	will	be	linked	to	executing	a	successful	restructuring	of	the	Business	Services	Division	and,	ultimately,	the	long-term	
shareholder	value	created	from	this	strategic	change	at	the	Company.	In	taking	this	decision,	the	Committee	took	comfort	that	the	
potential	reward	to	Jane	Hall	under	the	proposed	award	would	only	arise	if	demanding	performance	targets	are	met	through	to	
September	2017	with	a	requirement	then	in	place	to	hold	any	vested	shares	(net	of	tax)	through	to	2019	(i.e.	long-term	sustainable	
shareholder	value	would	need	to	be	created	for	her	to	receive	value).

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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In	setting	the	above	awards	levels,	the	Committee	considered	(i)	the	scope	of	their	individual	roles	and	the	need	to	motivate	and	retain	the	
Executive	Directors	and	other	participants	(ii)	the	number	of	shares	comprising	individual	awards	when	they	are	expressed	as	a	multiple	of	
salary	given	the	prevailing	share	price	and	(iii)	the	demanding	nature	of	the	performance	targets	set.	

The	performance	measures	and	overall	structure	of	the	performance	targets	that	are	intended	to	be	applied	to	the	awards	granted	in	the	
2015	financial	year	are	broadly	consistent	with	the	targets	operated	in	2014	and	are	summarised	below.

Relative TSR Performance (50% of the award)

TSR	Part
Rank	of	the	Company’s	TSR	Against	the	Constituents	of	the	FTSE	Software	and	Computer	Services	and	FTSE	Support	Services	Indices Vesting	%	

Below	median 0%
Median 30%
Upper	quartile 100%

Adjusted EPS Growth (50% of the award)

EPS Part
Three	Year	Growth	in	Adjusted	EPS Vesting	%

Below	RPI	+	30% 0%	
RPI	+30% 30%	
RPI	+	60% 100%

Straight-line	vesting	occurs	between	these	points.

With	regards	to	the	choice	of	performance	metrics	for	the	intended	2015	PSP	awards,	since	adjusted	EPS	continues	to	be	considered	by	
the	Board	to	be	the	broadest	measure	of	the	Company’s	long-term	financial	performance	and	is	well	understood,	it	remains	appropriate	
to	continue	to	use	it	as	a	key	metric	in	our	long-term	incentive	plan.	Relative	TSR	versus	the	most	comparable	UK	listed	companies	(those	
companies	comprising	the	FTSE	Software	and	Computer	Services	and	FTSE	Support	Services	Indices)	is	considered	to	align	executives	
with	our	shareholders	in	that	our	executives	only	receive	reward	for	this	part	of	awards	for	out-performing	similar	types	of	companies.	 
As	a	result,	the	Committee	will	be	comfortable	granting	2015	PSP	awards	subject	to	an	equal	blend	of	adjusted	EPS	growth	targets	and	
relative	TSR.	

With	regards	to	the	range	of	adjusted	EPS	performance	targets	set	for	the	awards	to	be	granted	in	the	current	financial	year,	these	were	
determined	by	the	Committee	having	had	due	regard	to	the	Company’s	business	plans	and	the	current	market	expectations	for	the	
future	performance	of	the	Company.	The	range	was	structured	so	that	only	a	modest	proportion	of	the	relevant	part	of	an	award	would	
vest	for	delivering	both	the	Company’s	expectations	and	the	growth	currently	expected	in	the	market,	and	reflecting	the	company’s	
strategic	development	from	a	“recovery	phase”	to	a	“growth	phase”.	This	is	aligned	with	current	institutional	investors’	guidelines	and	the	
Committee	was	also	mindful	in	setting	the	targets	that	the	year	under	review	was	a	record	year	for	the	Company	and	so	future	growth	will	
need	to	be	achieved	from	a	record	high	base	point.	As	a	result,	the	range	of	targets	set	are	considered	to	provide	an	appropriate	balance	
between	incentivising	out-performance	of	the	Company’s	planning	expectations	at	the	same	time	as	setting	realistic	incentive	targets.	

Sharesave
Executive	Directors	will	be	entitled	to	participate	in	any	Sharesave	plan	on	the	same	terms	as	any	other	eligible	employee.	

Non-executive Directors Remuneration
Non-executive	Directors	are	not	eligible	to	participate	in	short	or	long-term	incentive	plans	or	to	receive	any	pension	from	the	Group.	The	
fees	payable	to	the	Chairman	and	Non-executive	Directors	are	as	follows:

2014/15 2013/14

Chairman	 £90,000 £90,000
Non-executive	Director	and	Chairman	of	Audit	Committee	 £47,000 £47,000
Senior	Independent	Director	and	Chairman	of	Remuneration	Committee	 £47,000 £47,000
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Directors’ remuneration summary – 2014 Financial Year (audited)
The	detailed	emoluments	received	by	the	Directors	for	the	year	ended	30	September	2014.	

Basic salary/ 
Fees  
£000

Benefits	in
kind1 
£000

Performance
related
£000

Long-term
Incentives2

£000
Pension3

£000

Total	
remuneration 

£000

Andrew	Roberts
2014 413 32 – 1,920 41 2,406
2013 401 32 – 1,178 40 1,651
Jane	Hall
2014 251 14 – 960 25 1,250
2013 244 12 – 507 24 787
David	Thorpe
2014 90 – – – – 90
2013 90 – – – – 90
James	Morley
2014 47 – – – – 47
2013 44 – – – – 44
Chris	Harrison
2014 47 – – – – 47
2013 47 – – – – 47

1	 Benefits	in	kind	include	company	car	or	car	allowance,	private	medical,	permanent	health	insurance,	death	in	service	and	other	disbursements.	The	benefits	in	kind	for	Jane	Hall	also	include	a	cash	
payment	at	the	discretion	of	the	Committee	of	£2,000	in	settlement	of	a	historic	market	value	share	option	award	(granted	in	March	2004)	that	she	was	unable	to	exercise	due	to	the	Company	being	in	
a	close	period	at	the	time	the	option	came	to	the	end	of	its	10	year	life.	This	payment	replicated	the	gain	that	would	have	been	received	had	she	been	in	a	position	to	exercise	her	option	at	the	end	of	its	
ten year life. 

2	 The	2014	Long-Term	Incentives	figure	relates	to	the	vesting	of	the	2011	Plan	award	granted	on	16	May	2011.	The	number	of	awards	was	determined	by	a	share	price	performance	condition	and	an	EPS	
underpin,	which	concluded	for	the	year	ending	30	September	2014.	The	value	of	the	shares	has	been	calculated	using	the	average	share	price	from	1	July	2014	to	30	September	2014.	Further	details	
are	set	out	below.	

	 The	2013	Long-Term	Incentives	comparative	relates	to	the	vesting	on	9	December	2013	of	the	Key	Executive	Recruitment	and	Key	Executive	Retention	Plan	awards	which	were	granted	on	
9	December	2010.	The	number	of	awards	vesting	was	determined	by	an	EPS	condition	which	concluded	for	the	year	ending	30	September	2013.	The	value	of	the	shares	was	previously	estimated	
using	the	average	share	price	from	1	July	2013	to	30	September	2013	(29.2p).	This	has	now	been	restated	for	the	actual	share	price	on	vesting	(35.3p).

3	 Pension	comprises	a	10%	of	salary	contribution	

In	addition	to	the	above,	Jane	Hall	received	fees	of	£30,000	during	the	financial	year	for	her	role	as	Non-executive	Director	at	Outsourcery.

Annual incentive (performance period 1 October 2013 to 30 September 2014) (audited)
The	annual	bonus	for	the	2014	financial	year	under	review	was	based	on	the	achievement	of	targets	set	in	respect	of	Group	adjusted	 
profit	(60%)	and	Group	Revenue	(20%)	and	achieving	Group	Cash	conversion	of	85%	(20%).	These	terms	are	defined	within	the	Group	
Operational	and	Financial	Review	and	Appendix	2	–	Non-GAAP	measures.	

The	entire	bonus	is	funded	from	over-performance	against	the	adjusted	profit	target.	No	bonus	is	payable	under	the	other	two	measures	
if	the	threshold	profit	target	is	not	met.

Group	Adjusted	profit	for	the	year	ending	30	September	2014	was	£27.5m	(target	£27.4m),	Group	revenue	was	£209.8m	(target	£230.4m)	
and	Group	cash	conversion	was	88%	(target	85%).	The	adjusted	profit	for	the	year	met	but	did	not	sufficiently	exceed	the	threshold	target	
and	consequently	no	bonuses	were	awarded.

Long-Term Incentives (performance period 1 October 2011 to 30 September 2014) (audited)
The	Executive	Directors	each	received	one-off	awards	under	the	2011	Plan	in	the	financial	year	ended	30	September	2011.

Vesting	of	the	awards	was	determined	by	the	Company’s	share	price	which	was	assessed	by	reference	to	the	average	share	price	
(adjusted	for	the	impact	of	the	March	2014	Open	Offer)	achieved	during	the	period	of	three	months	expiring	on	30	September	2014,	 
being	the	last	day	of	the	performance	period.	The	range	of	share	price	targets	applying	to	the	awards	was	as	follows:

Company’s	three	month	average	share	price	to	30	September	2014 %	of	an	award	vesting

20p 10%
40p	(or	above) 100%
Between	20p	and	40p Pro	rata	on	a	straight-line	basis	between	10%	and	100%

In	addition,	regardless	of	the	average	share	price	achieved,	awards	would	only	vest:	

• if	the	Company’s	adjusted	earnings	per	share	as	at	30	September	2014	was	no	less	than	1.18	pence;	and	
• to	the	extent	that	the	Committee	was	satisfied	that	the	vesting	result	is	a	fair	reflection	of	the	Company’s	underlying	financial	
performance.	If	the	Company’s	adjusted	EPS	for	the	financial	year	ending	30	September	2014	was	at	least	1.18	pence	but	the	level	 
of	vesting	did	not,	in	the	opinion	of	the	committee,	reflect	the	underlying	financial	performance	of	the	Company,	the	Committee	was	
required	to	reduce	the	level	of	vesting	to	a	level	that	it	considered	fair	and	reasonable	in	light	of	the	underlying	financial	performance	 
of	the	Company	during	the	period	to	30	September	2014.

Directors’ remuneration report continued



57The Innovation Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014

Financial 
statements

Strategic 
report

Corporate 
governance

The	Committee	determined	that	(i)	the	three	month	average	share	to	30	September	2014	was	31.32p	(adjusted	for	the	impact	of	the	
March	2014	Open	Offer)	(ii)	the	adjusted	earnings	per	share	for	the	year	ended	30	September	2014	was	1.87p	and	(iii)	the	vesting	result	
was	a	fair	reflection	of	the	Company’s	underlying	financial	performance	based	on	three-year	growth	in	adjusted	profit,	and	revenue	
growth	of	82%,	and	19%.	The	level	of	performance	achieved,	therefore,	resulted	in	vesting	at	61%	of	the	maximum.	

The	adjustment	to	the	actual	three	month	average	share	price	to	30	September	2014	took	place	to	recognise	the	impact	of	the	March	
2014	Open	Offer.	The	adjustment,	following	the	standard	approach	commonly	applied	to	HMRC	approved	options	where	a	discounted	
open	offer	takes	place,	resulted	in	the	actual	average	share	price	being	increased	by	a	factor	of	1.005	(i.e.	half	of	one	percent)	to	ensure	
that	the	share	price	was	able	to	be	tested	on	a	consistent	basis	with	the	share	price	targets	which	were	not	adjusted	for	the	impact	of	the	
March	Open	Offer.	In	effect,	the	Open	Offer	resulted	in	the	weighted	average	share	price	following	the	issue	of	the	Open	Offer	shares	
falling	by	half	of	one	percent	(with	the	benefit	of	this	realised	by	shareholders	partaking	in	the	Open	Offer	through	buying	shares	at	a	
modest	discount	to	the	prevailing	market	price).	Therefore,	from	a	theoretical	perspective,	increasing	the	share	price	for	the	three	
months	to	30	September	2014	sought	to	neutralise	the	impact	of	the	Open	Offer	for	the	purposes	of	testing	the	performance	condition	
(i.e.	testing	the	condition	with	an	adjusted	share	price	resulted	in	the	condition	being	no	more	or	less	challenging	to	achieve	based	on	the	
targets	originally	set	after	allowing	for	the	impact	of	the	Open	Offer).	

In	addition	to	adjusting	the	share	price,	the	number	of	shares	comprising	the	awards	was	also	increased	by	the	same	factor	(1.005)	to	
ensure	that	the	impact	of	the	Open	Offer	did	not	reduce	the	value	of	the	award	originally	granted	(i.e.	since	shareholders	had	the	potential	
to	purchase	shares	in	the	Open	Offer	at	a	marginal	discount,	theoretically,	this	reduces	the	value	of	existing	shares	and	increasing	the	
number	of	shares	by	the	adjustment	factor	seeks	to	ensure	that	the	value	of	the	original	award	at	grant	is	maintained).	All	other	
outstanding	share	awards	were	similarly	adjusted	(including	the	Company’s	All	Employee	Share	Awards).

Share	awards Andrew	Roberts Jane	Hall

Number	of	shares	awarded 10,049,730 5,024,865
%	vesting 61.0% 61.0%
Total	shares	eligible	to	vest 6,130,335 3,065,168

As	explained	above	the	number	of	shares	comprising	the	awards	detailed	above	are	inclusive	of	an	adjustment	by	a	factor	of	1.005	
following	the	March	2014	Open	Offer.

Share options and long-term incentives (audited)
The	Group	has	a	number	of	share	option	and	long-term	incentive	plans	under	which	awards	remain	outstanding.	Since	their	appointment	
to	the	Board,	the	Executive	Directors	have	been	eligible	to	participate	in	the	2005	Performance	Share	Plan	(‘PSP’),	a	Key	Recruitment	Plan,	
a	Key	Retention	Plan	and	a	2011	Plan	which	allow	the	granting	of	options	to	acquire	ordinary	shares	and	the	awarding	of	conditional	rights	
to	acquire	shares	to	directors	and	employees	of	the	Group.	

Details	of	the	schemes	being	operated	are	given	in	note	29	to	the	financial	statements.	

The	share	options	and	long-term	incentives	currently	held	by	the	Directors,	who	have	held	office	during	the	year,	are	detailed	below,	 
and	there	have	been	no	changes	since	the	year	end:	

Plan Date	of	award

Market	
price at 

award	(p)

Market	
price at 
release 

(p)
Exercise 
price	(p)

No. at 
1 October 

2013

No. 
awarded	

during	the
year1

No. 
exercised 
during	the	

year

No.	(lapsed)	
during	the	

year

No. at 
30	September	

2014
Earliest 

exercise date
Award	 

expiry date

Jane	Hall Option 16	Mar	2004 35.70 – 31.90 55,966 – – (55,966) – 16	Mar	2006 16	Mar	2014
Retention 9	Dec	2010 14.75 – 0.00 1,437,132 7,147 – – 1,444,279 9	Dec	2013 –
2011	Plan 16	May	2011 17.50 – 0.00 5,000,000 24,865 – 1,959,697 3,065,168 30	Sept	2014 –

UK	Sharesave 27	June	2012 20.00 – 18.30 29,508 146 – – 29,654 1	Sept	2015 –
PSP 28	May	2013 27.00 – – 904,501 4,498 – – 908,999 28	May	2016 –

UK	Sharesave 27	June	2013 27.20 – 24.50 14,693 73 – – 14,766 1	Aug	2016 –
PSP 31	March	2014	 35.50 – – – 720,000 – – 720,000 1	Apr	2017 –

UK	Sharesave 20	June	2014 33.50 – 29.60 – 30,441 – – 30,441 30	Aug	2017 –
Andrew	
Roberts Recruitment 9	Dec	2010 14.75 – 0.00 3,341,333 16,616 – – 3,357,949 9	Dec	2013 –

2011	Plan 16	May	2011 17.50 – 0.00 10,000,000 49,730 – 3,919,395 6,130,335 30	Sept	2014 –
UK	Sharesave 27	June	2012 20.00 – 18.30 29,508 146 – – 29,654 1	Sept	2015 –

PSP 28	May	2013 27.00 – – 1,488,657 7,403 – – 1,496,060 28	May	2016 –
UK	Sharesave 27	June	2013 27.20 – 24.50 14,693 73 – – 14,766 1	Aug	2015 –

PSP 31	March	2014 35.50 – – – 1,185,000 – – 1,185,000 1	Apr	2017 –
UK	Sharesave 20	June	2014 33.50 – 29.60 – 30,441 – – 30,441 30	Aug	2017 –

1	 The	awards	in	the	year	include	an	adjustment	to	recognise	the	impact	of	the	March	2014	Open	Offer.	The	number	of	shares	comprising	the	awards	was	increased	by	a	factor	of	1.005	as	explained	above.	

The	UK	Sharesave	awards	are	not	subject	to	any	performance	conditions.	
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A	summary	of	the	performance	targets	applying	to	outstanding	awards	is	detailed	below:	

Key Executive Recruitment and Key Executive Retention Plans
The	award	granted	on	9	December	2010	vested	in	full	on	9	December	2013	with	a	summary	of	the	performance	targets,	and	the	extent	 
to	which	they	have	been	met,	detailed	in	last	year’s	Annual	Report	on	Remuneration.

PSP award granted in 2013
The	performance	shares	granted	on	28	May	2013	are	half	subject	to	a	relative	TSR	performance	condition	and	half	subject	to	an	EPS	
performance condition. 

The	TSR	performance	condition	requires	the	Company	to	deliver	a	median	ranking	(30%	vests)	rising	on	a	straight-line	basis	to	an	upper	
quartile	TSR	ranking	(100%	vests)	relative	to	the	constituents	of	the	FTSE	Software	and	Computer	Services	and	FTSE	Support	Services	
over	a	three-year	performance	period.	TSR	is	measured	using	the	net	return	index	averaged	over	the	6	months	before	the	performance	
period	and	the	last	6	months	of	the	performance	period,	ending	1	April	2017.

The	EPS	performance	condition	measures	the	adjusted	EPS	in	the	final	year	of	the	performance	period.	Threshold	vesting	of	50%	of	the	
shares	occurs	for	adjusted	EPS	of	1.90p	rising	on	a	straight-line	basis	to	full	vesting	for	adjusted	EPS	of	2.25p.

PSP award granted in the 2013/14 year (audited)
Following	consultation	with	the	Company’s	major	shareholders	during	2012,	the	Committee	determined	that	awards	under	the	PSP	
would	be	granted	for	the	2013	financial	year	and	on	an	ongoing	basis	at	up	to	100%	of	salary.	On	31	March	2014,	a	PSP	award	was	made	to	
each	of	the	Executive	Directors	at	100%	of	salary.	The	award	was	made	on	the	following	basis:

Type	of	 
Award

Basis of  
award	granted

Share	price	 
at date of grant

Number of  
shares	awarded

Face value  
of	award	

%	of	face	value	
which	vests	at	

threshold

Andrew	Roberts Nil–cost	option 100%	of	salary £0.355 1,185,000 £420,675 30%	
Jane	Hall Nil–cost	option 100%	of	salary £0.355 720,000 £255,600 30%

The	awards	were	half	subject	to	a	relative	TSR	performance	condition	and	half	subject	to	an	EPS	performance	condition.	

The	TSR	performance	condition	requires	the	Company	to	deliver	a	median	ranking	(30%	vests)	rising	on	a	straight-line	basis	to	an	upper	
quartile	TSR	ranking	(100%	vests)	relative	to	the	constituents	of	the	FTSE	Software	and	Computer	Services	and	FTSE	Support	Services	
over	a	three-year	performance	period.	TSR	is	measured	using	the	net	return	index	averaged	over	the	6	months	before	the	performance	
period	and	the	last	6	months	of	the	performance	period.	

The	EPS	performance	condition	requires	the	adjusted	EPS	over	the	performance	period,	to	be	measured	against	the	Retail	Prices	Index	
(“RPI”).	Threshold	vesting	of	30%	of	the	shares	occurs	for	growth	of	RPI	+45%	rising	on	a	straight-line	basis	to	full	vesting	for	growth	of	 
RPI	+	100%.	

Dilution limits (not audited)
Shareholders	approved	a	reworking	of	the	Company’s	dilution	limits	at	the	AGM	in	March	2007	that	allows	it	to	issue	up	to	12.5%	of	its	
issued	share	capital	in	a	rolling	10-year	period	to	employees	under	all	share	plans.	Previously	the	Company	had	operated	within	a	10%	in	
10	years	discretionary	limit	and	a	15%	in	10	years	all	schemes	limit.	This	re-working	of	the	existing	dilution	limits	was	considered	to	provide	
a	better	balance	between	the	need	to	operate	competitive	incentive	schemes	in	a	global	environment	and	limiting	shareholder	dilution.	
The	current	level	of	dilution	is	approximately	6.2%	and	the	Company	remains	committed	to	managing	dilution	as	efficiently	as	possible.

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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Share ownership (audited)
The	beneficial	interests	of	the	Directors	in	office	as	at	30	September	2014	in	the	ordinary	shares	of	the	Company	were	as	follows:

Target	level

Beneficially	
owned	as	at	

30	September	
2014

Beneficially	
owned	as	at	

30	September	
2013

%	of	share	
ownership	

guideline as at 
30	September	

2014

Outstanding 
Long-term 

incentive 
awards

Outstanding 
Options 

(vested but 
unexercised)

Outstanding 
Options 

(unvested)

Andrew	Roberts 100% 4,216,939 3,815,327 100% 12,169,344 – 74,861
Jane	Hall 100% 1,900,436 1,748,884 100% 6,138,446 – 74,861
David	Thorpe 100% 1,582,965 1,432,207 100% – – –
James	Morley 100% 455,014 355,132 100% – – –
Chris	Harrison 100% 188,694 157,136 98% – – –

There	have	been	no	changes	to	the	above	shareholdings	since	the	year	end.	The	share	ownership	measurement	has	been	based	on	 
a	share	price	as	at	30	September	2014	of	28.5p.	The	guidelines	for	share	ownership	are:	Non-Executive	Directors,	100%	of	fees;	and	
Executive	Directors,	100%	of	base	salary.

Total shareholder return (not audited)
The	following	graph	shows	the	total	shareholder	return	for	the	Group	for	the	last	six	years	compared	to	the	FTSE	Software	and	Computer	
Services	Index	and	FTSE	Small	Cap	index.	Since	the	Group	has	been	a	constituent	of	these	indices	for	the	majority	of	the	five	year	period,	
the	Committee	considers	these	benchmark	indices	to	be	the	most	appropriate	equity	indices	for	illustrating	the	Group’s	performance.	
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For	added	context,	the	following	graph	is	included	that	shows	the	performance	of	the	Group’s	share	price	over	the	last	four	financial	years,	
a	period	which	broadly	reflects	the	tenure	of	the	current	Chief	Executive.
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The	table	below	shows	the	total	remuneration	figure	for	the	Chief	Executive	during	each	of	the	past	six	financial	years.	The	total	
remuneration	figure	includes	the	annual	bonus	and	long-term	incentive	awards	which	vested	based	on	performance	in	those	years.	 
The	annual	bonus	and	long-term	incentive	percentages	show	the	payout	for	each	year	as	a	percentage	of	the	maximum.

Year Ending Executive

Total	
Remuneration	

(£’000)
Annual Bonus 

(%	of	max)
LTIP	Vesting	
(%	of	max)

30/9/2014 Andrew	Roberts 2,406 0% 61%
30/9/2013 Andrew	Roberts 1,6511 0% 100%
30/9/2012 Andrew	Roberts 1,183 20% 69%
30/9/2011 Andrew	Roberts 609 80% n/a
30/9/2010 Andrew	Roberts 364 0% n/a
30/9/2010 Hassan	Sadiq(2) 42 0% n/a

1	 The	total	remuneration	for	2013	has	been	restated	for	the	Long-Term	Incentive	awards	that	vested	in	2013.	The	number	of	awards	vesting	was	determined	by	an	EPS	condition	for	the	year	ending	30	
September	2013.	The	value	of	the	shares	was	previously	estimated	using	the	average	share	price	from	1	July	2013	to	30	September	2013	(29.2p).	This	has	now	been	restated	for	the	actual	share	price	
on	vesting	(35.3p).

2	 Hassan	Sadiq	ceased	to	be	Chief	Executive	and	resigned	from	the	Board	on	10	November	2009.	Andrew	Roberts	was	appointed	Chief	Executive	Officer	on	11	February	2010.

Percentage increase in the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer (not audited)
 

%	Change

Chief	Executive	(£’000)
Salary –
Benefits –
Bonus –
Average	of	Comparator	Group1

Salary 3
Benefits –
Bonus –

1	 The	comparator	group	chosen	comprises	UK	staff	at	the	most	senior	management	level	of	the	company.	The	Committee	believes	that	this	group	is	the	most	appropriate	comparator	as	they	have	a	
common	remuneration	structure	to	that	of	the	CEO.	It	includes	only	UK	based	staff	as	inclusion	of	employees	based	in	other	geographical	regions	where	pay	is	influenced	by	specific	factors	prevailing	
in	those	territories	would	represent	an	inappropriate	comparison.	The	average	increase	for	the	broader	UK	employee	base	is	similar	to	that	applied	to	the	CEO.	

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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Relative importance of the spend on pay (not audited)

2014 2013 %	Change

Staff	Costs	(£m) 87.5 85.7 2%
Distributions	to	shareholders	(£m) 1.2 – –
Adjusted	Profit	(£m) 27.5 21.9 26%
Share	Price	(p) 28.5 29.75 (4)%

NB	As	the	Company	has	recently	re-commenced	paying	dividends;	it	is	felt	that	including	some	other	measure	(such	as	profit)	represents	
a	better	comparison	to	the	movement	in	total	staff	costs.	Share	price	has	also	been	included	to	reflect	the	potential	capital	gain	
generated	during	the	financial	year	for	our	shareholders.	

Statement of shareholder voting (not audited)
At	the	AGM	in	2014,	the	Directors’	Remuneration	report	received	the	following	votes	from	shareholders:

2014	AGM

Directors’	 
Remuneration	policy

Annual report on 
Remuneration

Votes	cast	in	favour 864,297,517 862,152,484
Votes	cast	against 207,127 12,541,220
Total	votes	cast 864,504,644 874,693,704
Abstentions 10,226,376 37,316

Approved	by	the	Board	of	Directors	and	signed	on	behalf	of	the	Board

James Morley
Chairman	of	the	Remuneration	Committee
3	December	2014
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Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 30 September 
2014 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)  
as adopted by the European Union;

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and, as regards the 
group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

What we have audited
We have audited the financial statements of The Innovation Group plc for the year ended 30 September 2014 which comprise the 
Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Balance Sheet, Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and Company Balance Sheet, and the related notes 1 to 34 for the 
group financial statements and 1 to 14 for the parent company financial statements. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.  
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statements set out on pages 39 and 117, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the parent company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report 
and Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in performing the audit. If we become aware 
of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of The Innovation Group plc 
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Our assessment of risks of material misstatement and our response to those risks
The table below shows the risks we identified, and our response to those risks, that have had the greatest effect on the overall audit 
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team together with our audit response  
to the risk:

Risk Response

Revenue recognition, specifically that related to the UK property 
subsidence business, the South African warranty business and  
on software license sales and implementations in the UK, the US 
and Australia. We considered these revenue recognition areas  
to be subject to a number of judgements and key estimates  
(all as described on page 47 in the Letter from the Chair of the  
Audit Committee).

We understood the specific terms of the key UK property 
subsidence contracts insofar as they impacted the revenue to  
be recorded by the Group. We also challenged management’s 
assumptions inherent in the calculation of the revenue to be 
recognised on these contracts, in particular the percentage of 
completion of the claims, the anticipated recoveries to be made  
on the portfolio of claims and the deterioration rate (potential 
increase) in relation to the net cost of closing the claims. We tested 
the percentage of completion of the claim book by assessing  
and corroborating management’s method for calculating this.  
We tested the anticipated recoveries and the deterioration rate  
by assessing the historical accuracy of management’s forecasting 
in this area.

We utilised our actuarial experts to evaluate the critical actuarial 
assumptions employed by management’s experts in the South 
African warranty business to calculate the revenue recorded  
by management.

We challenged the accounting for the material software license 
sales and implementation agreements entered into in the US,  
the UK and Australia, specifically focusing on the substance of the 
agreements and whether any licence sales can be separated from 
professional services when these are contracted together, as well 
as assessing whether the revenue recognition policies adopted 
complied with IFRS. We also challenged the appropriateness of 
disclosures in the Annual Report and Accounts regarding the 
conversion of the annual licence rental into a perpetual licence in 
the UK and Asia Pacific regions, as described on pages 20 and 25  
of the Annual Report and Accounts.

The recoverability of deferred tax assets and the recording of  
any potential tax liabilities arising from the group’s international 
operating structure, where the group operates in a number of 
countries with a variety of tax regimes which have different  
levels of complexities and risk (as described on page 48 in the 
Letter from the Chair of the Audit Committee).

We evaluated the appropriateness of management’s assumptions 
and estimates in relation to the likelihood of generating future 
taxable profits to support the recognition of deferred tax assets by 
ensuring that the taxable profit forecasts are consistent with those 
used in the assessment of the recoverability of goodwill and other 
long life assets, challenging those assumptions (as noted in the 
goodwill section below) and evaluating supporting forecasts and 
estimates by considering the historical accuracy of forecasting. We 
also evaluated open tax matters and any potential liabilities largely 
in relation to the overall structure of the group, involving separate 
tax specialists as required. 

The assessment of the carrying value of goodwill (as described  
on page 47 in the Letter from the Chair of the Audit Committee). 

We challenged management’s assumptions used in the 
impairment model for goodwill, described in note 14 to the  
group financial statements, including specifically assessing the 
determination of cash generating units and forecast growth rates, 
discount rates used and the historic accuracy of forecasting. We 
especially focused on the forecast results for the North American 
and Asia Pacific BPS operating segments, given the significant 
improvement in year 1 (ie FY15) forecasts compared with actual 
cashflows achieved in the current year. We evaluated the plans for 
executing on these forecasts and assessed their reasonableness in 
light of expected future revenues and management’s historical 
accuracy of forecasting.
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Risk Response

The capitalisation and assessment of the recoverability of  
Insurer/Enterprise Intangible Assets (as described on page 46  
in the Letter from the Chair of the Audit Committee).

The majority of these costs capitalised are internal payroll costs.  
A number of the additions to the intangible assets during the  
year were carried out at the same time as some customer 
implementations of the Insurer product in the Group’s regional 
operations. We therefore tested that these additions added to  
the base product in these regions. We also tested that these  
costs meet the other requirements of IAS 38, especially the 
requirements around reliable measurement of the costs and that 
they enhance the asset rather than being maintenance of it.

We challenged management’s assessment of the future forecasts 
of income that is required to support the carrying value of the 
assets in the CGU’s to which they specifically relate. 

Recognition of the appropriate level of revenue and profits from 
the post-acquisition period relating to LAS (as described on  
page 48 in the Letter from the Chair of the Audit Committee).

We tested the opening balance sheet, post-acquisition income 
statement and closing balance sheet of LAS to evaluate the 
appropriateness of the amounts recorded by management in 
respect of these matters.

Acquisition accounting for LAS, Driven and Crashworth, including 
the identification and valuation of the assets and liabilities under 
the Purchase Price Allocation exercise (as described on page 46  
in the Letter from the Chair of the Audit Committee and in  
Note 17 to the Annual Report and Accounts).

Management used the services of an external expert for the 
valuation of the LAS acquisition, and conducted the valuation of 
Crashworth and Driven internally. We understood the terms of 
each acquisition and used our internal valuation experts to evaluate 
the work of management or management’s external experts as 
applicable. We considered the valuation methodology applied and 
critically assessed the key assumptions utilised in the Purchase 
Price Allocation exercise using the requirements of IFRS 3R.

Our application of materiality 
Our final materiality was calculated to be £941,000 (2013: £760,000) which was based on 5% of Profit Before Tax adjusted for non-
recurring exceptional items added back of £5,675,000. We used Profit Before Tax adjusted for non-recurring exceptional items as we 
consider it to be a key focus of users of the financial statements.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment, our judgement was that 
the overall performance materiality (i.e. our tolerance for misstatement in an individual account or balance) should be 50% (2013 50%) of 
planning materiality, namely £470,500 (2013 £380,000). Our objective in adopting this approach was to ensure that total uncorrected and 
undetected audit differences in all accounts did not exceed our materiality level.

Audit work at individual components is undertaken based on a percentage of our total performance materiality. The performance 
materiality set for each component is based on the relative size of the component and our view of the risk of misstatement at that 
component. In the current year the range of performance materiality allocated to components was £94,100 to £329,350.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £47,050 (2013 £38,000),  
as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in the light of 
other relevant qualitative considerations.

An overview of the scope of our audit 
Following our assessment of the risk of material misstatement to the Group financial statements, we selected 19 components which 
represent the principal business units within the Group’s six reportable segments. Due to certain insignificant subsidiaries that were not  
in scope for our Group audit, the coverage of profit before tax achieved from the entities within our Group scope was slightly greater than 
100%. The 19 components principal business units selected for Group audit also accounted for 87% (81%) of the group’s total assets and 
98% of the Group’s profit before tax adjusted for non-recurring exceptional items. Six of these were subject to a full audit, whilst at the 
remaining thirteen specific audit procedures were performed including full audit of the accounts that were impacted by our assessed risks  
of material misstatement and the materiality of the Group’s business operations at these locations. They were also selected to provide an 
appropriate basis for undertaking audit work to address the risks of material misstatement identified above. For the remaining components, 
we performed other procedures to confirm there were no significant risks of material misstatement in the Group financial statements.

The Group audit team continued to follow a programme of planned visits that has been designed to ensure that the Senior Statutory 
Auditor visits each of the locations where the risk of material misstatement is considered to be most significant at least once every three 
years, with those where the risk of material misstatement is particularly heightened being visited at least once every year. For all full scope 
entities in addition to the location visit the group audit team reviewed key working papers associated with revenue recognition as deemed 
appropriate and participated in the component team’s planning including the component team’s discussion of fraud and error.
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies  
Act 2006; 

• the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

• Under the ISAs (UK and Ireland), we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, information in the annual report is: 
 – materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or 
 – apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of 

performing our audit; or 
 – is otherwise misleading. 

In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identified any inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired during the audit 
and the directors’ statement that they consider the annual report is fair, balanced and understandable and whether the annual report 
appropriately discloses those matters that we communicated to the audit committee which we consider should have been disclosed. 

• Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
 – adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or
 – the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement with 

the accounting records and returns; or
 – certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
 – we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

• Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:
 – the directors’ statement, set out on page 38, in relation to going concern; and
 – the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the UK Corporate 

Governance Code specified for our review.

Tony McCartney (Senior statutory auditor)
Tony McCartney (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
Southampton

3 December 2014
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Note

Year to 
30 September 

2014 
£’000

Year to 
30 September 

2013 
£’000

Revenue 3,4 209,772 204,431
Cost of sales (119,161) (119,662)

Gross profit 90,611 84,769

Administrative expenses excluding exceptional items (71,913) (71,556)
Exceptional items 5 (5,677) (346)

Administrative expenses (77,590) (71,902)

Operating profit 6 13,021 12,867

Finance revenue 3,8 869 917
Finance costs 9 (847) (889)
Profit on disposal of subsidiary undertaking – 764
Share of post-tax profit of associate 16 112 770

Profit before tax 13,155 14,429

UK income tax credit/(expense) 1,720 497
Overseas income tax expense (3,930) (4,815)

Total tax expense 10 (2,210) (4,318)

Profit for the year 10,945 10,111

Attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent 8,538 7,616
Non-controlling interests 2,407 2,495

10,945 10,111

Adjusted profit:
Profit before tax 13,155 14,429
Amortisation of intangible assets recognised under business combinations 15 5,082 3,919
Impairment of intangible assets recognised under business combinations 15 – 823
Exceptional items 5 5,677 346
Post-acquisition compensation 17 1,250 –
Disposal of subsidiary undertaking 18a 166 (764)
Share based payments charge 2,135 3,160

Adjusted profit before tax for the year 4 27,465 21,913

Earnings per share (pence)
Basic 11 0.77 0.78
Diluted 11 0.75 0.76
Adjusted 11 1.87 1.44
Adjusted diluted 11 1.82 1.41

All amounts relate to continuing operations.

Dividends paid or authorised are shown in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

Consolidated income statement
Year ended 30 September 2014
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Year to 
30 September 

2014 
£’000

Year to 
30 September 

2013 
£’000

Profit for the year 10,945 10,111

Other comprehensive income that may in the future impact the Group income statement:
Foreign currency:
Currency translation differences (7,771) (2,260)

Deferred tax:
Deferred tax credit in respect of share based payments – 257

Other comprehensive income for the year (7,771) (2,003)

Total comprehensive income 3,174 8,108

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 1,016 5,633
Non-controlling interests 2,158 2,475

3,174 8,108

Other than the deferred tax credit on share based payments, no adjustments through other comprehensive income have had any tax 
impact in either the current or preceding financial year.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Year ended 30 September 2014
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Consolidated balance sheet
30 September 2014

Note

30 September 
2014 

£’000

30 September 
2013 

£’000 
Restated

1 October 
2012 

£’000 
Restated

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 12,809 13,088 13,177
Goodwill 14 117,691 84,229 82,121
Other intangible assets 15 43,111 32,382 31,844
Investments accounted for using the equity method 16 3,220 3,618 3,547
Financial assets 16 325 255 255
Deferred tax assets 10 3,803 5,435 4,165

180,959 139,007 135,109
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 19 68,352 57,547 51,982
Prepayments 4,652 2,698 2,629
Other financial assets 20 145 154 144
Income tax receivable 539 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 21 79,324 50,646 44,682

153,012 111,045 99,437

TOTAL ASSETS 27 333,971 250,052 234,546

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Equity share capital 28 24,137 19,730 19,227
Share premium 109,163 48,287 45,860
Merger reserve 2,121 2,121 2,121
Foreign currency translation (10,138) (2,616) (516)
Retained earnings 68,518 59,216 49,785

193,801 126,738 116,477
Non-controlling interests 27 4,018 3,894 5,604

TOTAL EQUITY 27 197,819 130,632 122,081
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 1,636 809 1,912
Deferred income 23 6,430 4,726 5,263
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 25 22,890 22,232 16,902
Deferred tax liabilities 10 5,694 4,377 3,468
Provisions 26 360 888 1,665

37,010 33,032 29,210
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 80,994 69,803 64,496
Deferred income 23 12,748 11,998 14,255
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 25 815 1,090 1,734
Income tax payable 3,164 2,365 2,187
Provisions 26 1,421 1,132 583

99,142 86,388 83,255

TOTAL LIABILITIES 136,152 119,420 112,465

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 333,971 250,052 234,546

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 3 December 2014 and were signed on its behalf by:

Jane Hall
Director
3 December 2014
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Year ended 30 September 2014

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Issued 
capital 
£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000

Merger
 reserve 

£’000

Retained
 earnings 

£’000

Unrealised 
gains and 

losses 
£’000

Translation 
reserves

 £’000
Total  

£’000

Non-
controlling 

interests 
£’000

Total 
equity 
£’000

At 1 October 2012 19,227 45,860 2,121 49,785 – (516) 116,477 5,604 122,081
Currency translation differences – – – – – (2,240) (2,240) (20) (2,260)
Deferred tax credit in respect of 

share-based payments – – – 257 – – 257 – 257
Profit for the year – – – 7,616 – – 7,616 2,495 10,111

Total comprehensive income and 
expense for the year – – – 7,873 – (2,240) 5,633 2,475 8,108

Dividends (note 12) – – – – – – – (2,257) (2,257)
Issue of share capital under exercise of 

awards and options 277 166 – (563) – – (120) – (120)
Share based payment charge (note 29) – – – 2,234 – – 2,234 – 2,234
Issue of share capital as part of 

consideration for increase in 
shareholding in subsidiary (note 17d) 210 2,117 – – – – 2,327 – 2,327

Issue of share capital as part of 
contingent consideration paid 
(note 17g) 16 144 – – – – 160 – 160

Loss on increase in shareholding in 
subsidiary (note 17d) – – – (394) – – (394) – (394)

Non-controlling interest derecognised 
upon increase in shareholding in 
subsidiary (note 17d) – – – – – – – (1,976) (1,976)

Gain on disposal of shareholding in 
subsidiary (note 18a) – – – 1,048 – 140 1,188 – 1,188

Transaction costs incurred as part of 
disposal of shareholding in subsidiary 
(note 18a) – – – (114) – – (114) – (114)

Non-controlling interest created on 
disposal of shareholding in subsidiary 
(note 18a) – – – – – – – 1,684 1,684

Loss on increase in shareholding in 
subsidiary (note 18b) – – – (653) – – (653) – (653)

Non-controlling interest derecognised 
upon increase of shareholding in 
subsidiary (note 18b) – – – – – – – (167) (167)

Non-controlling interest derecognised 
upon disposal of shareholding in 
subsidiary (note 18b) – – – – – – – (1,469) (1,469)

At 30 September 2013 19,730 48,287 2,121 59,216 – (2,616) 126,738 3,894 130,632

Currency translation differences – – – – – (7,522) (7,522) (249) (7,771)
Profit for the year – – – 8,538 – – 8,538 2,407 10,945

Total comprehensive income and 
expense for the year – – – 8,538 – (7,522) 1,016 2,158 3,174

Dividends (note 12) – – –  (1,206) – – (1,206) (2,034) (3,240)
Issue of share capital (note 28) 4,188 60,132 – – – – 64,320 – 64,320
Issue of share capital under exercise of 

awards and options (note 28) 171 312 – 62 – – 545 – 545
Share based payment charge (note 29) – – – 1,938 – – 1,938 – 1,938
Deferred tax debit in respect of share 

based payments – – – (30) – – (30) – (30)
Issue of share capital as part of 

contingent consideration paid 
(note 17h) 48 432 – – – – 480 – 480

At 30 September 2014 24,137 109,163 2,121 68,518 – (10,138) 193,801 4,018 197,819
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Issued capital
The balance classified as share capital represents the nominal value on the issue of the Company’s equity share capital, comprising 
ordinary 2p shares.

Share premium
The balance on the share premium account represents the premium on the issue of the Company’s equity share capital less any share 
issue costs.

Merger reserve
In prior years, the merger reserve represented the premium on shares issued as consideration for acquisitions, where the acquisition  
was in excess of 90% of the acquired Company’s share capital. 

Retained earnings
The balance of all profits and losses due to shareholders. 

Unrealised gains and losses reserve
This reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined to be an effective hedge. 

Translation reserves
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements  
of foreign subsidiaries and balances accounted for as quasi-equity items. 

Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests represents all interests in Group companies held by third parties. 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
Year ended 30 September 2014

Note
2014

 £’000
2013 

£’000

Operating activities
Group operating profit 13,021 12,867
Adjustments to reconcile Group operating profit to net cash inflows from operating activities
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,151 3,307
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (69) (37)
Amortisation of intangible assets 11,564 9,299
Impairment of intangible assets 131 823
Share based payments 2,135 3,160
Increase in receivables (6,445) (4,054)
(Decrease)/increase in payables 4,844 (939)
Income taxes paid (5,415) (5,380)

Net cash flow from operating activities 22,917 19,046

Investing activities
Sale of property, plant and equipment 180 191
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (11,109) (10,825)
Acquisition of business combinations 17 (40,826) (6,330)
Payment of contingent consideration on business combinations 17 (2,025) (449)
Cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings 17 2,087 3
Sale of subsidiary undertaking (net of cash disposed) 18b – 2,997
Purchase of non-current asset investment (81) –
Loan to non-current asset investment (387) –
Dividends received from equity-accounted investments 61 –
Interest received 933 924

Net cash flow from investing activities (51,167) (13,489)

Financing activities
Interest paid (1,144) (813)
Dividends paid (3,240) (2,257)
Purchase of non-controlling interest in existing participations 18b – (883)
New bank loans 1,024 5,571
Repayment of borrowings (67) (1,302)
Repayment of capital element of finance leases (281) (377)
Proceeds from issue of shares 64,717 443
Sale of shareholding in subsidiary undertakings with control retained – 2,871

Net cash flow from financing activities 61,009 3,253

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 32,759 8,810

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 50,646 44,682
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (4,081) (2,846)

Cash and cash equivalents at the year end 21 79,324 50,646

Cash held and available for use within the business in our South African operation of £16,240,000 (2013: £16,691,000) continues to be 
subject to the normal government imposed exchange controls for that country.

In addition, £185,000 (2013: £nil) of cash and cash equivalents within Driven Solutions Inc. relates to a collateral deposit for a letter of 
credit and is therefore restricted.
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1. Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRS
The financial statements of The Innovation Group plc (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 30 September 2014 were authorised for issue  
by the Board of Directors on 2 December 2014 and the balance sheets were signed on the Board’s behalf by Jane Hall. The Innovation 
Group plc is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The Company’s ordinary shares are traded on  
the London Stock Exchange.

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted 
by the European Union. The principal accounting policies adopted by the Group are set out in note 2. 

2. Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The Group is required to prepare its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (‘IFRIC’) interpretations and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention with  
the exception of certain items which are measured at fair value as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The Group financial statements are presented in Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£’000s), except 
where otherwise indicated. 

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of The Innovation Group plc and the entities it controls drawn up to 
30 September 2014.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to be 
consolidated until the date that such control ceases. Control comprises the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the 
investee so as to obtain benefit from its activities and is achieved through direct or indirect ownership of voting rights; currently 
exercisable or convertible potential voting rights; or by way of contractual agreement. Typically, financial statements of subsidiaries are 
prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. 

Due to the proximity of the acquisition of Driven Solutions Inc to the year end, this business remains on a December year end. The 
business performed financial close processes that were in line with the rest of the Group’s entities as part of the current year end process. 
It will also perform a formal closure process as part of the preparation of its financial statements at 31 December 2014. It is considered 
that this meets the requirements of IAS27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 

All inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealised profits and losses arising from them, are eliminated.

The results and cash flows relating to a business are included in the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement from the date of 
acquisition or up to the date of disposal.

Non-controlling interests (‘NCI’) represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries that is not held by the Group and are 
presented separately within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, separately from parent shareholders’ equity.

The following German subsidiaries are included in these consolidated financial statements and make use of the exemption clause 
included in Article 264 Paragraph 3 German Commercial Code (HGB) and therefore do not publish their Financial Statements: 

• Innovation Group Holdings GmbH; 
• Innovation Group AG;
• Innovation Group International GmbH;
• Innovation GmbH;
• Wintec AG;
• Wintec GmbH;
• Wintec Windschutzscheibentechnik GmbH; and
• Innovation Group Parts GmbH

Restatement of comparatives
Adjustment to presentation of deferred tax assets and liabilities
At 30 September 2013, the Group incorrectly presented deferred tax assets and liabilities between both current and non-current assets 
and liabilities. This has been corrected as part of the presentation of the 30 September 2013 balance sheet within these statements.  
This has had the effect of increasing the non-current deferred tax asset by £1,583,000 and the non-current deferred tax liability 
by £1,755,000 and reducing the current deferred tax asset by £1,583,000 and the current deferred tax liability by £1,755,000 as at 
30 September 2013. There has been no impact of this change to total assets or the income statement. In accordance with IAS 1, 
a restated third balance sheet has also been presented as at 1 October 2012. This has had the effect of increasing the non-current 
deferred tax asset by £2,014,000 and the non-current deferred tax liability by £1,019,000 and reducing the current deferred tax asset 
by £2,014,000 and the current deferred tax liability by £1,019,000 as at 1 October 2012.

Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 30 September 2014
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2. Accounting policies continued
Interests in associates
The Group’s interests in associates, being those entities over which it has significant influence and which are not subsidiaries, are 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is 
carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate, less distributions 
received and less any impairment in the value of individual investments. The Group income statement reflects the share of the 
associate’s results after tax.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate, representing the excess of the cost of the investment compared to the Group’s 
share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, is included in the carrying amount  
of the associate and is not amortised. To the extent that the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities is greater than the cost of the investment, a gain is recognised and added to the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in 
the period in which the investment is acquired. 

Revenue
The Group derives its revenues primarily from the provision of BPS services to the insurance, fleet, automotive and property industries 
and software and related services to the insurance sector. In the BPS division the Group has core competencies in motor, property  
and workers’ compensation (US) particularly in the provision of administration services for first notice of loss, incident management,  
full claims handling, loss adjusting and service, maintenance policy and warranty administration. In addition the BPS division supplies 
motor parts into its managed network of repairers. The software division provides software to insurance companies through the sale  
of licences and the building and maintaining of the underlying business systems that are required to manage claims administration and 
policy processes. 

Revenue earned by the BPS division
Overview
The Group receives payments either as principal or agent. This is differentiated by the extent to which the Group is at risk for the gross 
payment. Where the Group acts as agent for the insurer, the insurer retains complete liability for the cost of settlement of the claim.  
As a result, even when the Group processes claims settlement costs gross through its own balance sheet, revenue is accounted for on  
a net basis and comprises fees for administrative and other services. Where the Group retains the liability for the settlement of claims 
costs, revenue is accounted for gross. Revenues are recognised in line with the delivery of the related services or referred work including, 
where appropriate, an assessment of accrued income. 

The majority of the Group’s BPS revenue is derived from the administration of different parts of the claims management or policy 
management process. This is predominantly performed for a fixed administration fee or a fixed contractual percentage of the value of  
any repair. All administration fees are recognised, in accordance with IAS 18, as the service is considered to be delivered. Certain services, 
such as the provision of first notice of loss services are paid by transaction and the transactions can be delivered over a very short period 
of time. Revenue on these services is recognised as the transactions occur. Other services, such as the administration of motor service 
plans, or the administration of a subsidence claim will be delivered over a longer period of time. The key revenue streams are detailed 
below, and unless otherwise indicated may apply to the motor or property sector:

Key BPS revenue streams
First notice of loss (‘FNOL’). The Group operates call centres which take calls on behalf of the insurer. Using scripting, the call centre will 
validate client details, ascertaining the policy number of the claimant and determining whether the reported loss falls within the scope of 
the policy and then captures claim details directly into the insurer’s own system. A contracted fee per claim is received and recognised 
when the service is complete. Notifications are taken for motor, property and workers’ compensation claims.

Incident management. Once the Group has been advised of a claim, either by taking the FNOL or after being notified by the insurer, the 
Group assesses the claim, whether motor or property, and deploys the repair into its network of managed body shops or property 
contractors. Revenue is a fixed contracted percentage of the repair and is borne by the repairer not the insurer. Revenue is recorded net 
as the Group acts as agent and takes no liability for the settlement of the claim and is recognised on a claim by claim basis at the point of 
deployment into the network as this is where the administration effort is substantially complete. The Group also handles the payment 
process on behalf of the client however, effort is minimal and deemed perfunctory. The Group also has an identical methodology for the 
servicing of vehicles except, in this instance, the customer is generally a fleet company. 

Loss adjusting. Loss adjusting services may be performed as a stand-alone service for those insurers who do not take the end-to-end 
claims service. For both motor and property claims the Group performs the determination and approval of the repair on behalf of the 
insurer. An administration fee is recognised as revenue at the point of delivery of the loss adjuster’s report when the service is complete.

Car hire and leasing. The Group earns revenue in two ways from this revenue stream. In the first instance the Group sources a vehicle from 
the rental provider on a fixed rate and charges to the insurer on a daily rate. The Group acts as principal and revenues are recognised on a 
gross basis when the lease is undertaken as hires are typically two or three days, on a pro-rata basis as the hire is provided. The second is 
where the Group promotes special offers to clients acting as an agent to the manufacturer and receives a commission for the service 
which is recognised as revenue as an agent when the lease is signed.
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2. Accounting policies continued
Sale of Motor Parts. In certain geographies the Group supplies motor parts to its network of repairer garages. The Group’s business model 
is for these goods to be delivered directly from the supplier to the customer and as a result it does not take inventory risk. However, the 
Group is exposed to the credit and supply of its counterparties and consequently recognises the transaction gross, in the income 
statement. Revenue is recognised at the point of despatch from the supplier to the customer. 

Service and Maintenance Plans. In South Africa the Group has contracts with a number of motor manufacturers to administer their  
service and maintenance policies for a fixed fee. Contracts can be either off-risk or on-risk where the Group has assumed the liability of 
the service cost (see below). The Group currently administers approximately 565,000 off-risk plans and 82,000 on-risk plans. 

The proportion of the administration fee that relates to the initial sale of the policy, the commission revenue, is recognised up front.  
An allowance is held against commission revenue receivable to allow for the risk of cancellation. The Group is reliably able to estimate the 
risk of cancellation based on prior experience of a significant number of similar claims. The remainder of the administration fee is 
recognised over the life of the policy.

In the case of off-risk plans the Group receives a fee per vehicle per month for the administration of the policy. In addition, in certain cases, 
to the extent the Group is able to manage a specified book of policies to settlement below a contracted benchmark it is entitled to a share 
of the savings on a percentage basis as determined by the contract. Based on prior experience of a significant number of similar claims 
the Group is reliably able to estimate these savings and revenue is recognised as this service is delivered.

On-risk plans may be either term (paid in advance for the life of the plan) or monthly and as the Group has assumed liability for the service 
revenue is recognised gross. In both cases, the fee received will comprise an administration fee and a fund portion to cover future vehicle 
servicing costs. In the case of term policies cash is received upfront to cover the policy term and the amounts received are deferred  
(in either ‘deferred income’ for the administration fee or ‘other creditors’ for the fund portion) to the extent that they are considered 
required to meet the Group’s obligations under the policy based on actuarial advice. On monthly policies, cash is received each month  
and is recognised in income when received and costs are recognised as incurred. The Group only has a liability for costs incurred in a 
month if payment has been made for that month and the policy is not in arrears. The Group only commenced selling monthly policies post 
the implementation of IFRS, but sold term policies for a number of years prior to the implementation of IFRS. These policies meet the 
IFRS 4 definition of an insurance contract and as such the Group has continued its pre-existing accounting policy on revenue recognition 
for term policies – as detailed in note 24.

Property subsidence claims. The handling of subsidence claims, only performed in the UK, is by its nature a more lengthy process than 
motor and property repair claims, with the settlement of some claims spanning more than one accounting period. Therefore, the Group 
recognises administration fees received at certain milestones throughout the claims process, being:

• Receipt of engineer’s report and determination of liability;
• Completion of site investigations;
• Completion of mitigation;
• Completion of monitoring/commencement of repairs;
• Receipt of all recoveries; and
• Closure and final settlement.

Revenue is recognised on a per claim basis and the amount recognised at each milestone reflects the service delivered at each stage of 
the process.

On-risk models
In general where the Group is involved in the administration of the settlement of a claim a fixed contractual fee is received. For some 
contracts, the Group has entered into a ‘risk and reward’ model. On-risk models result when the Group shares, in part or fully, in the 
savings or losses generated from the settlement of a claim, or portfolio of claims, against a contracted benchmark. Revenue is 
recognised on these contracts to the extent that the saving attributable to the Group can be measured reliably, the extent to which  
the Group has delivered its service can be determined, and the profit arising can be attributed to the stage of completion. Service  
delivery may be attributed by reference to closed claims, or by reference to the underlying costs associated with delivering the service. 
Profit attribution may be based on the average expected profit per claim against a portfolio of claims, or directly by reference to the 
percentage complete. Each contract has unique terms and conditions and is individually assessed.

These on risk contracts may be funded either through the customer’s own bank account, through an Innovation Group bank account 
funded by the customer or in limited situations through the Group’s own bank account with the Group taking prime responsibility for the 
settlement. For these on risk contracts, to the extent funds flow through the Group’s balance sheet, they will be accounted for on a  
gross basis in both the balance sheet and the income statement.

For on-risk contracts, the administration fee is either fixed in the contract or separately allocated from the fees received using evidence 
of fair value determined from the administration only contracts.

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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2. Accounting policies continued
On-risk contracts are predominantly in two areas of the business, property subsidence claims handling in the UK and the administration 
of motor service and maintenance plans in South Africa. These are detailed below:

Property subsidence claims. The Group has a number of contracts which generate revenue based on the Group’s ability to settle a 
portfolio of notified claims within a specific period below a contractually agreed benchmark. Revenue is recognised on these contracts to 
the extent that the saving attributable to the Group has been delivered and can be reliably measured. An average settlement per claim is 
calculated, being the actual cost on all closed claims in the population plus an estimate to settle all remaining open claims, adjusted by a 
deterioration factor to allow for the worsening of claims, divided by the number of claims in the population. Provided this average cost per 
claim is lower than the contractual benchmark, revenue is recognised by multiplying the number of closed claims in the population by the 
saving per claim or by reference to the percentage complete.

Where the average settlement per claim is calculated to be higher than the benchmark, the Group becomes liable for the excess and will 
provide in full for any exposure. This exposure is limited by reinsurance on each of these contracts. 

Service and maintenance plans. On-risk service and maintenance plans may be term or monthly policies. These are deemed on-risk as the 
Group bears all liability for the service costs and receives all the benefit should a portfolio of policies be settled below the premium price. 
The plans are priced based on the estimated cost of the specified services plus an administration fee and third party commission. In the 
case of term policies, the administration fee is carved out with an upfront element recognised to cover the initial capturing of the policy 
data and the remainder is deferred, as deferred income, over the life of the policy. The remaining portion of the premium, relating to the 
repair fund (the cost of the services) is then deferred, as other creditors, and released according to an actuarial assessment of the 
required reserve, driven by cost and independently reviewed by actuaries each year. The costs of the services are recognised as incurred. 
Where the Group performs the sale of the product, the commission for selling the product is recognised at the point of sale. 

In the case of monthly policies the total premium is recognised monthly as received with no distinction between administration fee and 
fund. The costs of the services are recognised as incurred, which may cause distortion on a single policy but has a smoothing effect over a 
large book.

Revenue earned by the software division
Overview
New solution sales often involve software licences being sold together with Post Customer Support (‘PCS’) services and/or 
implementation services. Where the commercial substance of such a combination is that the individual components operate 
independently of each other and fair values can be attributed to each of the components, each are then recognised in accordance  
with their respective policies described below.

Where it is not possible to attribute reliable fair values to two or more components these are viewed as a combination and revenue is 
recognised on the combined revenue streams as the combined service is delivered. For example, when software licences are sold 
together with implementation services and the fair value of either element is not determinable, both software licence and the 
implementation services are recognised using the percentage of completion method with provisions for estimated losses on 
uncompleted contracts being recorded in the period in which such losses become probable based on the current contract cost 
estimates. When software licences are sold together with PCS services and the fair value of either revenue stream is not determinable, 
the licence income is recognised over the period of the PCS services.

The revenue recognition policies for separately identifiable revenue streams are as follows:

Initial licence fees
Revenues are recognised when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the licence fee is fixed or 
determinable, the collection of the fee is reasonably assured, no significant obligations with regard to installation or implementation  
of the software remain, and customer acceptance, when applicable, has been obtained.

Maintenance and other PCS services 
Maintenance and PCS services are typically billed on an annual basis in advance. The Group recognises this revenue on a monthly basis 
over the period of the contract.

Solution delivery implementation services 
The majority of implementation services are recognised as the services are performed and billed on a time and materials basis.  
Revenues for all fixed fee contracts are recognised on a percentage complete basis. Where the percentage complete does not coincide 
with payment milestones the revenue is accrued or the payment shown on account. The Group calculates the percentage to complete  
by comparing the number of man days utilised at each period end with the total number of man days required to complete the project. 
Where the contract includes explicit acceptance criteria associated to the milestones the revenue is recognised in stages of the 
achievement of those milestones and customer acceptance. Project plans are reviewed on a regular basis with losses recognised 
immediately in the period in which such losses become probable based on the current contract cost estimates. 

Hosting services 
Where hosting is provided as part of a new solution sale, the hosting revenue stream will either be negotiated as a distinct separable 
element within the overall contract or will have a fair value attributed to it from the overall revenue stream generated. This is recognised 
rateably as the service is provided over the term of the contract. 
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Research and development
Research expenditure is charged to income in the year in which it is incurred.

Expenditure incurred in the development of software and hardware products for use or sale by the business, and their related intellectual 
property rights, is capitalised as an intangible asset only when:

• technical feasibility has been demonstrated;
• adequate technical, financial and other resources exist to complete the development, which the Group intends to complete and use;
• future economic benefits expected to arise are deemed probable; and
• the costs can be reliably measured.

Development costs not meeting these criteria are expensed in the income statement as incurred. Capitalised development costs are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives once the related software and hardware products are available to use.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the 
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised in the balance sheet as 
goodwill. Goodwill is not amortised but is subject to an annual impairment review. 

The Group has elected not to apply IFRS 3 retrospectively to business combinations that took place before 1 October 2004. As a result 
goodwill recognised on any business combinations that took place prior to 1 October 2004 is recorded at its carrying amount under UK 
GAAP in the functional currency of the acquiring entity. The Group follows guidance in accordance with IFRS 3 (revised) for business 
combinations. On acquisition date, businesses are recorded at acquisition cost, being the fair value at the date of exchange of the cash 
paid, or other consideration given. Direct transaction costs are directly expensed through the Consolidated Income Statement. 

The assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of acquired businesses are identified as required by IFRS 3 (revised), and are recorded in  
the Consolidated Financial Statements at their acquisition date fair values, with certain exceptions as set out in IFRS 3 (revised). 

If the cost of acquisition exceeds the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired, the excess is recognised as goodwill. In the event 
that the value of the net assets acquired exceeds the cost of acquisition, the excess is immediately recognised as a gain in the 
Consolidated Income Statement at the acquisition date. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for 
impairment, at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
Impairment losses are never reversed.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the related cash-generating units (‘CGUs’) monitored by management, 
usually at operating segment level or statutory company level as the case may be. A CGU is defined as being the smallest identifiable 
group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets.  
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to a CGU is taken into account when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the unit,  
or of an operation within it. 

Deferred consideration is capitalised as part of the cost of acquisition and is discounted using an appropriate discount rate. Where the 
consideration is contingent, any revision to the amount payable is adjusted through the consolidated income statement. Where any 
payments are dependent upon continued employment, these payments are treated as compensation rather than consideration and  
are expensed to operating expenses in future periods.

Exceptional items
The Group classifies items of income and expense as exceptional items, where the nature of the item is non-recurring and its size is 
material so as to assist the user of the consolidated financial statements to better understand the results of the operations of the Group. 
Exceptional items are disclosed separately in the primary statements. Exceptional items primarily relate to restructuring costs and the 
costs of acquisitions and are added back to the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax when calculating the Group’s adjusted profit. 

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately from a business combination are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Internally generated intangible assets, excluding internally generated software and capitalised development costs, are not capitalised  
and expenditure is charged against income in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

An internally generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s development activity, including software for internal use, is recognised 
only if the asset can be separately identified, it is probable the asset will generate future economic benefits, the development cost can be 
measured reliably, the project is technically feasible and the project will be completed with a view to the sale or use of the asset. 
Additionally, guidance in Standing Interpretations Committee (‘SIC’) 32 has been applied in accounting for internally developed website 
development costs. Internally generated intangible assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives, when the asset is available  
for use, and are reported net of any impairment losses.

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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2. Accounting policies continued
The Group capitalises costs that relate to the development of a website only if the primary purpose of the website is the generation of 
revenue. These costs include application development, design and content which enables revenues to be generated from the website, 
excluding advertising or promotional material. Where a website has been developed primarily for promoting or advertising the services of 
the Group, these costs are expensed as incurred. Website development costs are amortised over the expected useful life of the asset. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the 
useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial 
year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset 
are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates and 
adjustments are reflected prospectively. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the income 
statement in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset. The useful lives of the intangible assets are 
as follows:

Software licences   5 to 7 years
Customer relationships  5 to 12 years
Customer lists   2 years
Internally generated software 5 years
Trade names   5 to 10 years
Intellectual property  5 years

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Such cost includes 
costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended. 

Depreciation is not provided on freehold land. On other assets it is calculated to write off their cost less estimated residual value, based on 
prices prevailing at the balance sheet date, in equal annual instalments over the estimated useful lives of the assets. These are as follows:

Freehold property   50 years
Property improvements  10 to 15 years
Fixtures and fittings  4 to 15 years
Motor vehicles   4 years 
Computer systems  5 years
Computer equipment  2 to 3 years

The useful lives and residual values assigned to property, plant and equipment are assessed on an annual basis. The carrying values of 
property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not 
be recoverable. 

Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists,  
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s (or CGU’s) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of 
assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to 
its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses 
of continuing operations are recognised in the income statement in those expense categories consistent with the function of the 
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may  
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since  
the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement, except in the case of Goodwill, 
where no reversal of impairment can be made.
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Trade receivables
Trade receivables are stated at the lower of the original invoiced value and recoverable amount. A provision is made against the receivable 
when there is evidence that the Group may not be able to collect the full amount due.

All trade receivables which are more than six months overdue are reviewed and provided for based upon estimated irrecoverable amounts 
determined by reference to past default experience. Amounts which are less than six months overdue are provided where the 
recoverability of the balance due is considered to be doubtful. Any amounts provided for are recorded in the income statement within 
administrative expenses. Amounts are written-off when it is considered there is no further prospect of recovery. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against administrative expenses within the income statement.

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter carried at amortised cost.

Share based payments
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted 
and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to 
the award. Fair value is determined using an appropriate pricing model, taking into account performance and service conditions as 
appropriate. Where only non-market performance conditions are in place, a Black-Scholes model has been used. In all other cases, an 
external valuer has been used, using stochastic modelling to derive a fair value. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market or  
non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, 
provided that all other performance or service conditions are satisfied. 

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions and the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest or in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be treated as vesting as described 
above. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date is recognised in the income statement, with a 
corresponding entry in equity.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified or a new award is designated as replacing a cancelled or settled award, the cost 
based on the original award terms continues to be recognised over the original vesting period. In addition, an expense is recognised over 
the remainder of the new vesting period for the incremental fair value of any modification, based on the difference between the fair value 
of the original award and the fair value of the modified award, both as measured on the date of the modification. No reduction is 
recognised if this difference is negative.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled (including when non-vesting conditions within the control of the entity or employee are not 
met), it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any cost not yet recognised in the income statement for the award is 
expensed immediately. Any compensation paid up to the fair value of the award at the cancellation or settlement date is deducted from 
equity, with any excess over fair value being treated as an expense in the income statement.

Employer taxes that crystallise on the vesting of share based payments are recognised on the basis of likelihood of settlement, at each 
balance sheet date, based on management’s best estimate of the likely exercise of the award or option. The charge relating to the 
expected settlement is recognised in the income statement in line with the vesting period, in order to match the cost with the service 
provided. If an award or option does not vest, then the cumulative expense recognised in relation to that award or option will be reversed 
through the income statement. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months 
or less. For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and cash equivalents,  
as previously defined, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the 
balance sheet.

Investments
Investments in unquoted equity investments which do not have a reliable market value are stated at cost less provision for any 
impairment in value. For investments where there is an actively traded market the investment is stated at fair value, determined by 
reference to a quoted market bid price at the close of business on the balance sheet date. 

Leases and hire purchase contracts 
Assets acquired under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are capitalised and disclosed under property, plant and equipment at 
their estimated fair value, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments on the inception of each lease or contract and 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives. The capital element of the future payments is treated as a liability and the total finance 
charge is allocated over the period of the lease or contract in such a way as to give a constant charge on the outstanding liability.

Leases in which a significant proportion of the risk and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. 
Operating lease rentals payable or receivable are charged or credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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2. Accounting policies continued
Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the gains or 
losses on translation are included in the income statement with the exception of differences on foreign currency loans to foreign currency 
subsidiaries which form part of the net investment. These are taken directly to equity until the date of disposal of the net investment,  
at which time they are recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 
 Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the year, where this represents a reasonable approximation of actual 
exchange rates at the date of transactions. The resulting exchange differences are taken directly to a separate component of equity.  
On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is 
recognised in the income statement.

The Group previously applied the exemption in IFRS 1 ‘First Time Adoption’ to reset cumulative exchange differences on net investment 
in foreign operations to zero at the date of transition.

During the year the most significant currencies, other than Sterling, were the US Dollar, South African Rand and the Euro. The average 
annual exchange rates used to convert results into Sterling are shown in the table below: 

Currency 2014 2013

US Dollar 1.66 1.56
South African Rand 17.63 14.58
Euro 1.23 1.19

Current and deferred income tax
The charge for current taxation is based on the results for the year as adjusted for items which are non-assessable or disallowed,  
based on tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences 
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in computation  
of taxable profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities or assets are recognised on all temporary differences except in respect of investments in subsidiaries and 
associates where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that it will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction, 
other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax 
assets on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries or associates are recognised only to the extent that it is probable 
the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future.

In all cases, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary difference or unused deferred tax asset can be utilised. Their carrying amount is reviewed at each balance sheet date on 
the same basis. The carrying amount of the deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date. 

In the United Kingdom, the Group is entitled to a tax deduction for amounts treated as remuneration on exercise of certain employee 
share options. As explained under ‘Share based payments’ above, a remuneration expense is recorded in the Group’s income statement 
over the period from the grant date to the vesting date of the relevant options. As there is a temporary difference between the 
accounting and tax bases, a deferred tax asset may be recorded. The deferred tax asset arising on share option awards is calculated as the 
estimated amount of tax deduction to be obtained in the future (based on the Group’s share price at the balance sheet date) pro-rated to 
the extent that the services of the employee have been rendered over the vesting period. If this amount exceeds the cumulative amount 
of the remuneration expense at the statutory rate, the excess is recorded directly in equity, against retained earnings. Similarly, current 
tax relief in excess of the cumulative amount of the remuneration expense at the statutory rate is also recorded in retained earnings.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the asset or liability  
is settled. This is based upon tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Financial assets
Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and held-to-maturity 
investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial 
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The Group determines the classification of its 
financial instruments at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
They are included in current assets except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. Such assets are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in income when the loans and receivables are 
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 
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Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes party to the contracts which give rise to them and are classified as 
financial liabilities at fair value through the profit and loss or loans and payables as appropriate. When financial liabilities are recognised 
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through profit and loss, directly attributable 
transaction costs. The Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

A financial liability is generally derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing 
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts together with any costs or fees incurred are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction  
costs. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in net profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process. 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial 
period of time to get ready for use or sale) are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an 
expense when incurred.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity 
as a deduction, net of tax, from proceeds.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are fully authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity concerned.

Provisions and contingencies
Provisions, including those for legal claims, are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event and management believe it to be probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate of the 
amount can be made. Where a reimbursement is expected, this is recognised only when it is virtually certain that the reimbursement will 
take place, and of the amount to be reimbursed. Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted to net present value where this is deemed to be material. 

Contingent liabilities are liabilities that represent a possible obligation arising from a past event whose existence is dependent on one or 
more uncertain future events not within the control of the Group, or a present obligation where it is not probable that an outflow will be 
required for settlement of the obligation. Contingent liabilities are not disclosed where the likelihood of the uncertain future event is 
remote.

Contingent assets, which relate to possible assets and depend on the outcome of uncertain future events, are not recognised. Such an 
asset is disclosed only where the inflow of economic benefit is probable.

Segment reporting
For reporting purposes the results of the Group are organised into regional business units and a central cost centre. The central cost 
centre includes unallocated corporate costs and expensed development costs, as well as income from transfer pricing royalties and 
management recharges. Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purposes of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment revenue and segment profit exclude transactions between 
business segments.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management has had to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The critical judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
that have been made in preparing the consolidated financial statements are detailed below and in specific accounting policy notes.  
These judgements involve assumptions or estimates in respect of future events which can vary from what is anticipated. 
 

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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2. Accounting policies continued
Where practicable, the carrying value of the associated asset or liability at the year-end has been provided in the table below.

Critical accounting estimate Issue
Value within the Annual 
Report and Accounts

Deferred administration fees
A significant proportion of the Group’s BPS revenue 
comes from fees for the outsourced administration of 
different elements of both the motor and property claims 
management process. 

Administration fees are recognised in revenue to  
the extent that the service is considered delivered.  
Where the effort is incurred over a significant period  
of time, estimation is required to determine the extent  
to which the service has been delivered. 

The application of incorrect 
assumptions as to the extent 
to which the service has been 
delivered could potentially 
mean that the level of revenue 
recognised is wrong.

The Group recognises significant 
levels of administration fees, 
however the majority of services are 
performed prior to invoicing.

Service and maintenance plans
In addition to administering motor service and maintenance 
plans for third parties, the Group’s South African business 
writes service and maintenance plans on behalf of the  
Group and bears the risk of the settlement of the obligations 
under the plan. 

Assessing the deferral of monies received that are required 
to cover the future cost of the claims under these policies 
requires significant estimation. 

Incorrect estimation of the 
future cost of settlement could 
lead to the under estimation 
of future costs and hence the 
potential value of the obligation. 

The Group takes advice from 
an external firm of actuaries to 
determine the expected future 
liability and to support the 
position taken.

The Group has deferred income 
of £5.6m (2013: £5.2m) in relation 
to these service and maintenance 
plans. Please refer to note 24 for 
further details.

Intangible assets recognised as part of business combinations
Intangible assets are identified and capitalised on 
acquisition of subsidiaries where appropriate. Although 
the techniques used to value these assets are in line with 
internationally used models, they do require the use of 
estimates which may differ from actual outcomes. 

Incorrect valuation of intangible 
assets upon acquisition will 
increase the risk of impairment 
having to be recorded if the 
assumptions used are incorrect. 

Intangible assets capitalised in 
the year in relation to business 
combinations totalled £14.8m 
(2013: £3.9m). 
 
Please refer to note 15. 

Share based payments
The Group has to estimate, on an annual basis, whether  
the Group will achieve the non-market performance 
conditions within all plans as described in note 29. 

The assessment is based upon market conditions and 
management’s expectation of future profits, achievement 
of the long-term business plan and individuals remaining  
in employment. 

Incorrect estimation of the likely 
share-based payment (based on 
non-market conditions) will have 
an effect on profit before tax and 
basic earnings per share.

Costs relating to share based 
payments for the year totalled 
£2,135,000 of which £1,938,000 
related to the IFRS 2 charge (2013: 
£2,234,000). 

Please refer to note 29. 

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets are recognised where management 
believe that the availability of future profits is reasonably 
assured and hence available losses are likely to be utilised. 

Incorrect estimation of deferred 
tax assets due to incorrect 
budget assumptions will have 
an effect on the tax charge, the 
effective tax rate and both basic 
and adjusted earnings per share.

At 30 September 2014, the Group 
has recognised £3.8m of deferred 
tax assets, of which £1.9m relates to 
short term timing differences.
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Value within the Annual 
Report and Accounts

Revenue recognition on on-risk revenue share arrangements
There are a number of key estimates that are required to 
be made in regards to establishing the revenue recognition 
profile on revenue share arrangements. 

For the on-risk contracts handled by the UK subsidence 
business, these include:

•  the levels of outstanding recoveries to be made on a 
portfolio of claims;

•  the level of potential increase in the settlement value 
for open claims within a portfolio; 

•  the projection of the ultimate settlement value for 
a portfolio of claims; and

•  the costs to complete on a ‘work-in-progress’  
run off book. 

For the on-risk service plans handled by the South African 
motor business, these include:

• the cancellation rate of policies sold;
•  the number of services taken under a policy; and
• the number of policies that may lapse. 

For the warranty plans administered by the South African 
motor business and written through the associate cell 
captive, these include:

• development of actuarial claims curves;
•  levels of costs incurred on inception of a plan; and
• the number of policies that may lapse.

Incorrect use of estimates 
on on-risk revenue share 
arrangements will impact the 
revenue recognised in a period. 
This would then affect profit 
before and after tax, adjusted 
profit and both basic and 
adjusted earnings per share.

The Group uses third party actuarial 
advice to perform calculations to 
ensure that revenue is accrued 
appropriately. 

Useful economic life of internally generated software
The useful economic life of the Group’s internally 
generated software is estimated based on the historic 
length of relationship following the implementation of  
the product.

The carrying value is subject to an annual review to  
ensure that there has been no impairment.

If the expected useful economic 
life of the software is considered 
to be too long, then this 
could result in profitability 
being overstated. 

The amortisation charge in relation 
to internally generated software in 
the year was £6.5m (2013: £4.8m). 
See note 15.

Goodwill and intangible asset impairment
Determining whether the carrying value of goodwill and 
intangible assets is at risk of impairment involves a number 
of estimates, which includes the value of cash flows 
estimated to be generated from the asset in the future 
(initially driven by the budget for the following financial year) 
and the discount rate to be applied to these cash flows so 
that an assessment of their net present value can be made. 

This is tested annually. The recoverable amounts of 
CGUs have been determined based upon value in use 
calculations. The key estimates within the calculations are:

• EBITA;
• discount rates; and
• growth rates and terminal growth rates.

If the estimates supporting the 
calculated value of goodwill are 
over optimistic, then the Group  
is at risk of overstating the 
value of the asset and hence 
overstating profits. 

Details of the specific rates used 
and the value of any amounts 
which have been written off within 
administrative expenses in the 
income statement are detailed  
in notes 14 and 15.

2. Accounting policies continued

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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Critical accounting judgement Issue
Value within the Annual 
Report and Accounts

Revenue recognition on significant software licensing 
arrangements
Software licensing agreements invariably include 
complex multiple element arrangements and a number 
of judgements are required to determine the elements 
that can be treated as revenue and those which need to be 
deferred for recognition as revenue in future periods. 

The primary judgement is whether the Group is able to 
separate recognition of revenue generated on professional 
services from that on licence sales as part of the same 
contract, dependent upon the substance of the solution 
provided to the customer on each specific contract. 

This is because the customer, or a separate third party 
provider, could perform these delivery services, if required. 

If the Group is unable to 
demonstrate that there is 
separation between the sale of 
the licence and the professional 
services, then revenue for 
the licence is then recognised 
rateably as the professional 
services are delivered. 

This would then impact the level 
of upfront licence that would be 
recognisable. 

Total software revenue sales for the 
year were £5.8m (2013: £3.7m).

Capitalisation of software development costs
For a number of years there has been ongoing 
development and regionalisation of the Group’s core 
Innovation Insurer product and Innovation Enterprise 

This base software is critical to the Group’s software sales 
and the effective delivery of the Group’s BPS offering in 
those regions where Enterprise has been implemented. 

Judgement is required to determine that only applicable 
costs are capitalised and that the carrying value of the 
asset at each reporting period is supported by the net 
present value of future cash flows to be derived from it. 

Inappropriate capitalisation  
of costs would improve 
profitability as costs would be 
put on the balance sheet rather 
than expensed through the 
income statement.

The carrying value of internally 
generated software is £20.9m  
(2013: £19.7m). £8.0m was 
capitalised in the year (2013: £5.5m).

Additions of £5.0m (2013: £3.7m) 
were made in the year relating to 
the ongoing development and 
regionalisation of the Group’s  
core Insurer/Enterprise asset.  
The closing net book value of the 
Insurer/Enterprise asset was £16.5m 
(2013: £16.9m).

Exercise of warrants over Nobilas France by AXA 
As part of the disposal of 30% of Nobilas France to 
Vendomes Participations 3, a subsidiary of AXA, two 
separate warrants were issued which entitle Vendomes 
Participations 3 to acquire up to a further 19% stake in 
Nobilas France if certain volume targets are met over a 
consecutive 12-month period. A volume rebate will be 
payable if either or both of these warrants are exercised. 
This is disclosed in more detail on page 115. 

Judgement is required in assessing the likelihood of these 
warrants being exercised and hence whether a provision 
should be recognised. 

Incorrect judgement arising from 
optimism that the warrants are 
likely to be recognised would 
have the impact of reducing 
revenue and profits through 
recognition of a provision. 

Likewise, if this judgement is too 
pessimistic, this will have the 
reverse effect.

The potential rebate payable to 
Vendomes Participations 3 if both 
warrants are exercised totals 
€2.9m (£2.3m). 

The Group considers it probable that 
the first warrant will be exercised and 
remote that the second rebate will 
be exercised. 

As such, accrual is being made in 
connection with the first warrant, 
see note 32.

2. Accounting policies continued
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2. Accounting policies continued
Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in the current year 
The accounting policies adopted in these Consolidated Financial Statements are consistent with those of the financial statements for the 
year ended 30 September 2013 except for the adoption of new standards, amendments to the standards and interpretations which are 
mandatory for the financial year ending 30 September 2014. All effective dates shown below are those given within the IFRS as adopted by 
the European Union. The Group will apply these new standards, amendments and interpretations in the first accounting period following 
the effective date.

Standard Effective date

IFRS 7 Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – Amendments to IFRS 7 1 January 2013
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013
IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised) 1 January 2013

There has been no material impact to the Consolidated Financial Statements from the adoption of these IFRS.

Amendments to existing standards and interpretations that are deemed to be applicable to the Group, that are not yet effective 
and have not been early adopted by the Group

Standard Effective date

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Classification and Measurement 1 January 2018
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, 1 January 2014
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2016
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2014
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2017
IAS 27 Equity method in Separate Financial Statements – Amendments to IAS 27 1 January 2016
IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – Amendments to IAS 32 1 January 2014

Management have assessed the potential impact of the above amendments and interpretations on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Group. The majority of these are not expected to have any impact. The Group does have certain cell captive structures 
which are 100% owned and equity accounted for under IAS 27 in note 16. We have completed our assessment of the elements of control 
as defined by IFRS 10. We have concluded that there will be no impact to the adjusted profit or the net assets of the Group of 
implementing the new standard.  

3. Revenue
Revenue recognised in the income statement is analysed as follows:

2014
 £’000

2013 
£’000

Rendering of service1 174,781 172,611
Sale of goods 34,991 31,820
Finance revenue 869 917

210,641 205,348

1 Included in rendering of services is a revenue rebate of £166,000 (2013: £nil) which is related to the warrants discussed in note 32, and which is added back to adjusted profit.

No revenue was derived from exchanges of goods or services (2013: nil).

4. Segment information
The Group is organised into regional business units and a central cost centre. The Group has six reportable operating segments which are 
separately disclosed together with a central cost centre which includes unallocated corporate costs, expensed development costs and 
transfer pricing royalties. Operating segments have been aggregated where the aggregation criteria have been met. More specifically, 
Asia Pacific includes Australia, India, Pakistan and Japan, the Rest of Europe includes France, Spain and Benelux and North America 
includes the US and Canada. 

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purposes of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on adjusted profit which is the Group’s internal 
principal measure of profit. Segment revenue excludes transactions between business segments. Segment adjusted profit as reflected in 
the tables within this note, includes both royalty charges and transfer pricing adjustments for reallocating corporate costs to the regional 
business units. Management does not monitor the balance sheets of its business units separately for the purposes of making decisions 
and therefore segmental assets, additions to non-current assets and segmental liabilities have not been disclosed. Non-current assets in 
the segmental disclosure comprise investments, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.

The Group’s revenues are derived from the following products and services:

• Motor Business Process Services (BPS) and networks;
• Property Business Process Services (BPS) and networks;
• Other Business Process Services (BPS) and networks; and
• Software. 

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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4. Segment information continued
Information regarding the Group’s six operating segments and its central cost centre is reported below. 

The Group’s revenues are attributed to business units based on customer location. The total external revenue attributable to all countries 
other than the UK was £155.7m (2013: £158.4m). The total non-current assets attributable to all countries other than the UK was £68.9m 
(2013: £67.2m).

Year ended 30 September 2014
UK 

£’000
Germany

 £’000

Rest of
 Europe 

£’000

South 
Africa 
£’000

North 
America 

£’000

Asia 
Pacific 

£’000

Central 
costs2 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Segment revenue:
Motor BPS & networks3 12,148 52,078 16,997 31,646 10,721 10,101 – 133,691
Property BPS & networks 31,584 5,844 – – 2,502 2,579 – 42,509
Other BPS & networks 180 – – – 2,568 – – 2,748
Software3 10,161 – – 2,884 11,248 6,531 – 30,824

Total external revenue 54,073 57,922 16,997 34,530 27,039 19,211 – 209,772

Segment results:
EBITDA before transfer pricing 

adjustments 13,177 9,659 4,298 7,375 1,886 6,447 (5,878) 36,964

Software royalties (1,670) – (461) – (1,321) (3,084) 6,536 –
Reallocation of corporate costs (439) (83) (170) (164) (195) (133) 1,184 –

EBITDA1 11,068 9,576 3,667 7,211 370 3,230 1,842 36,964
Depreciation (1,210) (184) (313) (545) (309) (310) (280) (3,151)
Net finance (costs)/income (125) 3 (15) 731 (49) (186) (337) 22
Share of profit of associate (note 16) – – – 75 – 37 – 112
Amortisation of non-acquired intangibles (313) (152) (101) (8) (268) (150) (5,490) (6,482)

Adjusted profit/(loss) before tax 9,420 9,243 3,238 7,464 (256) 2,621 (4,265) 27,465

EBITDA % 20% 17% 22% 21% 1% 17% – 18%
Non-current assets 94,063 16,377 8,486 6,269 24,527 13,288 14,146 177,156

1 EBITDA is shown before share based payments charge, impairment of goodwill, amortisation of acquired intangibles, financial assets and exceptional items.
2  Central costs include unallocated corporate costs, expensed development costs and transfer pricing royalties. The non-current asset is the core Insurer/Enterprise intangible asset on which the 

royalty income arises. This has been reclassified from the UK when compared to the prior year to align with the related royalty income and amortisation to which this asset relates.
3 Included within Motor BPS & networks and Software are amounts relating to the sale of goods (motor parts and software licences) of £29,220,000 and £5,771,000 respectively.

Year ended 30 September 2013
UK 

£’000
Germany

 £’000

Rest of
 Europe 

£’000

South 
Africa 
£’000

North 
America 

£’000

Asia 
Pacific 
£’000

Central 
costs2
£’000

Total 
£’000

Segment revenue:
Motor BPS & networks3 11,967 51,208 15,150 33,070 10,874 13,528 – 135,797
Property BPS & networks 24,618 5,649 – – 3,292 4,177 – 37,736
Other BPS & networks 229 – – 2,612 2,818 – – 5,659
Software3 9,218 – – 3,410 8,954 3,657 – 25,239

Total external revenue 46,032 56,857 15,150 39,092 25,938 21,362 – 204,431

Segment results:
EBITDA before transfer pricing 

adjustments 12,632 9,535 3,390 7,673 715 3,456 (7,599) 29,802

Software royalties (1,521) – (482) – (1,270) (1,004) 4,277 –
Reallocation of corporate costs (353) (134) (188) (135) (303) (92) 1,205 –

EBITDA1 10,758 9,401 2,720 7,538 (858) 2,360 (2,117) 29,802
Depreciation (1,295) (191) (385) (615) (166) (369) (286) (3,307)
Net finance (costs)/income (114) (5) (9) 768 (1) (380) (231) 28
Share of profit of associate (note 16) – – – 745 – 25 – 770
Amortisation of non-acquired intangibles (277) (256) (40) (118) (164) (39) (4,486) (5,380)

Adjusted profit/(loss) before tax 9,072 8,949 2,286 8,318 (1,189) 1,597 (7,120) 21,913

EBITDA % 23% 17% 18% 19% (3)% 11% – 15%
Non-current assets 70,209 18,059 9,933 6,646 17,481 15,096 – 137,424

1  EBITDA is shown before share based payments charge, impairment of goodwill, amortisation of acquired intangibles, financial assets and exceptional items.
2 Central costs include unallocated corporate costs, expensed development costs and transfer pricing royalties.
3 Included within Motor BPS & networks and Software are amounts relating to the sale of goods (motor parts and software licences) of £28,150,000 and £3,670,000 respectively.



86 The Innovation Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014

5. Exceptional items
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Exceptional costs incurred on acquisition of subsidiaries 1,311 111
Addition to/(release of) contingent consideration due on acquisition of subsidiary 183 (421)
Exceptional costs incurred on restructuring of BPS divisions within Europe 2,625 –
Exceptional costs incurred on restructuring of BPS divisions within North America and Australia 735 1,302
Exceptional costs incurred on restructuring of Technology divisions in North America and the UK 631 –
Exceptional costs incurred on reorganisation of South African business 192 –
Exceptional income recognised on sublease of property previously provided for – (646)

Total exceptional items included within administrative expenses 5,677 346

 
Year ended 30 September 2014
Exceptional costs on acquisition relate to the deal costs incurred on the three acquisitions completed during the year (see note 17) and 
costs incurred in respect of aborted deals. Further costs have been incurred in the current year relating to the settlement of contingent 
consideration in relation to the GVS and Teledesk prior year acquisitions (see note 17). These expenses have resulted from the difference 
between the fair value probability weighted estimation of the expected contingent consideration liability and the final cash settlement of 
this liability. 

The majority of other exceptional costs related to restructuring activity in the year. In Europe the Motor and Property BPS divisions were 
significantly restructured following the acquisitions of Crashworth and LAS made during the first half of the year. The restructuring in 
Australia is in connection with the costs of closure of one of the entities in the motor business. The BPS restructuring in North America  
is in relation to the relocation of one office. Following the appointment of Paul Nichols in the year as the new head of our global software 
business, there has been restructuring activity in both the UK and North America Technology divisions. The restructuring in South Africa 
is to separate the regulated and non-regulated parts of the business. 

Year ended 30 September 2013
Exceptional costs incurred on acquisition relate to the deal costs incurred on the three acquisitions completed in the year and disclosed 
as part of note 17. These costs have been included in operating expenses in the income statement. 

Other exceptional costs relate to redundancy and compromise costs incurred due to a restructuring of the BPS motor divisions within 
North America and Australia. 

The release of contingent consideration no longer due on acquisition of subsidiary of £0.4m relates to amounts no longer owed to the 
previous owner of Wintec AG, acquired in 2011, due to performance targets for the year ended 30 September 2013 not being met in line 
with the sale and purchase agreement. This is not considered, however, to have any impact on the carrying value of any goodwill or 
intangible assets held in relation to this acquisition (see notes 14 and 15). 

The exceptional income recognised relates to management’s best estimates of the future cash flows of the partial sublet of property 
previously accounted for as an onerous lease.

6. Operating profit 
Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

Depreciation – owned assets 2,689 2,863
– leased assets 462 444

Amortisation of intangible assets – assets recognised under business combinations 5,082 3,919
– all other intangible assets 6,482 5,380

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 69 37
Auditor’s remuneration – audit of the Group financial statements 285 284
Other audit services – local statutory audits for subsidiaries 534 463
Other fees to auditors – services provided pursuant to legislation 87 85

– services related to taxation 87 68
– all other services 212 –

Operating leases minimum lease payments – other 1,247 732
– land and buildings 2,929 3,689

Exchange (gain)/loss (1,202) 96
Research and development 4,001 3,122

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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7. Staff costs and Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ emoluments
Details of Directors’ emoluments, share options and grants under the Performance Share Plan, Key Executive Recruitment and  
Key Executive Retention Plan and the 2011 Plan are contained in the Directors’ Remuneration report on pages 53 to 61 and form part  
of the financial statements.

Employee costs during the year (including Directors)
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Wages and salaries 75,355 73,385
Social security costs 7,434 7,554
Other pension costs 2,767 2,508
Share based payments 1,938 2,234

87,494 85,681

Average number of persons employed
2014 

Number
2013 

Number

Number
Software division 449 475
BPS division1 2,412 2,301
Central and administration 12 11

2,873 2,787

Total number of full time employees at the year end 2,984 2,782

1 The BPS division includes motor BPS and networks, property BPS and networks and other BPS and networks.

8. Finance revenue
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Interest on financial assets not at fair value through profit and loss
Bank interest 869 917

9. Finance costs
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Interest on financial liabilities not at fair value through profit and loss
Bank loans 655 709
Finance leases 119 91

774 800

Unwinding of discount on provisions 73 89

847 889

10. Taxation
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Current tax expense
UK corporation tax expense – –
Foreign tax expense 6,039 5,369

Current tax on income in the year 6,039 5,369
Adjustments in respect of prior years for current tax (68) 10

Total current tax expense 5,971 5,379

Deferred tax credit
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (3,220) (1,156)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (541) 95

Total deferred tax credit (3,761) (1,061)

Total income tax expense in the income statement 2,210 4,318
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10. Taxation continued
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Reconciliation of total tax charge
Group profit before tax 13,155 14,429

Income tax using UK corporation tax rate of 22% (2013: 23.5%) 2,894 3,391
Tax effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,523 1,990
Non-taxable income (916) (1,433)
Rate differences on overseas earnings 1,548 1,003
Transfers from/to unrecognised deferred tax assets (2,230) (738)
Adjustments in respect of prior years – current tax (68) 10
Adjustments in respect of prior years – deferred tax (541) 95

Total tax expense 2,210 4,318

There is no tax income or expense arising from any of the items recognised in Other Comprehensive Income in the current or prior year.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is included in the income statement as follows:

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

Release of deferred tax on acquired intangibles (2,928) (1,134)
Tax losses utilised/(carried forward) 258 304
Share based payment (236) (328)
Rate change – 80
Short-term temporary differences1 (920) –
Accelerated/(decelerated) capital allowances. 65 17

Deferred tax credit (3,761) (1,061)

1 Included in short-term temporary differences is a movement of £746,000 relating to the tax treatment of certain deferred revenue in South Africa under Section 24c.

Deferred tax of £30,000 (2013: £257,000 credit) in respect of share based payments has been debited to the Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity. 
 

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities Net balance at 30 September

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

Deferred tax on intangible assets – – (2,206) (3,090) (2,206) (3,090)
Share based payments 1,255 1,049 – – 1,255 1,049
Deferred tax on short-term temporary differences 1,861 2,339 (3,488) (1,287) (1,627) 1,052
Decelerated capital allowances 687 2,047 – – 687 2,047

3,803 5,435 (5,694) (4,377) (1,891) 1,058

The movement from a deferred tax asset of £1.1m at 30 September 2013 to a deferred tax liability of £1.9m at 30 September 2014 is 
largely driven by deferred tax liabilities recognised in relation to the three acquisitions detailed in note 17, of £6.8m, including a liability  
of £3.4m in relation to deferred taxable income within Driven Solutions Inc. This was partially offset by a decrease in deferred tax liability 
through the income statement of £3.8m.

The Group’s usual policy is to look forward one accounting period when assessing future utilisation of deferred tax assets. However, 
where territories have proven to be profitable, a deferred tax asset has been recognised on the basis that a longer forecast period of 
utilisation is probable and can be justified by a consistent underlying business. The deferred tax asset recognised at 30 September 2014  
is £3,803,000 (2013: £5,435,000). 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the 
liability settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. The Finance Act 2013, 
which included a reduction in the UK corporate income tax rate to 20% from 1 April 2015 was enacted on 17 July 2013 and so the 
Company will consider these rates when scheduling the reversal of the temporary differences to determine the appropriate closing rate 
to apply to the UK deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

It is likely that the majority of the unremitted overseas earnings would qualify for the UK dividend exemption introduced by Finance Act 
2009 and therefore no tax liability is expected to arise on the repatriation of the earnings from overseas subsidiaries and associates. 

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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10. Taxation continued
Unrecognised temporary differences
A deferred tax asset has not been recognised on the following temporary differences.

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

Decelerated capital allowances – 4,744
Tax losses – trading losses 92,820 94,842
      – capital losses 159,902 159,902

252,722 259,488

Unutilised deferred tax assets largely relate to carried forward tax losses which are available for offset against future profits of the 
companies in which the losses have arisen. These assets have not been recognised on the basis that there is insufficient evidence that  
the asset will be recoverable at the balance sheet date. The assets will only be recognised with improved predictability of taxable profits. 

11. Earnings per share
2014 

pence
2013 

pence

Basic profit per share 0.77 0.78
Adjustment for dilutive potential ordinary shares (0.02) (0.02)

Diluted profit per share 0.75 0.76

Basic profit per share 0.77 0.78
Adjustments 
– amortisation of intangible assets recognised under business combinations 0.46 0.41
– impairment of intangible assets recognised under business combinations – 0.08
– exceptional items 0.50 0.04
– disposal of subsidiary undertaking 0.01 (0.06)
– post-acquisition compensation 0.11 –
– share based payments 0.19 0.32
– tax effect of the above (0.17) (0.13)

Adjusted basic earnings per share 1.87 1.44
Adjustment for dilutive potential ordinary shares (0.05) (0.03)

Adjusted diluted earnings per share 1.82 1.41

Earnings per share is calculated as follows: 
2014 2013

Number of shares (000’s)
Average number of shares in issue used to calculate basic and adjusted basic earnings per share 1,109,794 975,600
Dilutive potential ordinary shares:
– add share options 32,449 20,500

Shares used to calculate diluted and adjusted diluted earnings per share 1,142,243 996,100

Basic and diluted earnings (£’000)
Basic and diluted earnings for the year 8,538 7,616
– amortisation of intangible assets recognised under business combinations 5,082 3,919
– impairment of intangible assets recognised under business combinations – 823
– exceptional items 5,677 346
– post-acquisition compensation 1,250 –
– share based payments 2,135 3,160
– disposal of subsidiary undertaking 166 (595)
– tax effect of the above (1,888) (1,180)

Adjusted and adjusted diluted earnings for the year after tax 20,960 14,089

The Group discloses adjusted earnings and adjusted earnings per share to assist the user of the consolidated financial statements to 
better understand the underlying results of the operations of the Group.



90 The Innovation Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014

12. Dividends
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Dividends on ordinary shares declared and paid in the year:
Interim dividend for 2014: 0.1p per share (2013: nil) 1,206 –

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

Dividends on ordinary shares paid to non-controlling interests:
Travel Insurance Consultancy (Pty) Limited
Interim dividend for 2014: nil South African Rand per share (2013: 39,830 South African Rand per share) – 257
Netsol Innovation (Private) Limited
Interim dividend for 2014: 49 Pakistan Rupees per share 
(Interim dividend for 2013: 26 Pakistan Rupees per share) 476 256
Innovation Maven (Pty) Limited
Interim dividend for 2014: nil South African Rand per share (2013: 153 South African Rand per share) – 3
Innovation Group South Africa (Pty) Limited
Interim dividend for 2014: 329 South African Rand per share (2013: 187 South African Rand per share) 1,243 857
Nobilas France SAS
Interim dividend for 2014: 119 Euros per share (2013: 324 Euros per share) 315 884

2,034 2,257

On 16 May 2014, an interim dividend of 0.1p per share was declared. The dividend was paid on the 18 June 2014, based on share holdings 
on 30 May 2014.

13. Property, plant and equipment
Land and 
buildings  

£’000

Property 
improvements 

£’000

Fixtures and 
fittings  

£’000

Motor  
vehicles  

£’000

Computer 
systems and 

equipment 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Cost 
At 1 October 2012 7,126 4,864 6,815 607 24,310 43,722
Foreign exchange (1) (178) (149) (54) (921) (1,303)
Additions – 578 733 68 2,790 4,169
Disposals – (180) (497) (117) (2,114) (2,908)
Acquired with subsidiary – 17 11 1 53 82
Disposed with subsidiary (24) (3) (838) (865)

At 30 September 2013 7,125 5,101 6,889 502 23,280 42,897
Foreign exchange – (137) (157) (27) (643) (964)
Additions – 312 784 83 1,354 2,533
Disposals – (77) (165) (206) (2,968) (3,416)
Acquired with subsidiary – 76 81 – 601 758

At 30 September 2014 7,125 5,275 7,432 352 21,624 41,808

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 2012 874 2,788 6,682 193 20,008 30,545
Foreign exchange – (25) (110) (29) (678) (842)
Charge for the year 84 189 611 125 2,298 3,307
Disposals – (172) (346) (82) (2,080) (2,680)
Disposed with subsidiary (17) (3) (501) (521)

At 30 September 2013 958 2,780 6,820 204 19,047 29,809
Foreign exchange – (46) (108) (13) (510) (677)
Charge for the year 77 212 541 94 2,227 3,151
Disposals – (59) (139) (126) (2,960) (3,284)

At 30 September 2014 1,035 2,887 7,114 159 17,804 28,999

Net book value
At 30 September 2014 6,090 2,388 318 193 3,820 12,809

At 30 September 2013 6,167 2,321 69 298 4,233 13,088

At 1 October 2012 6,252 2,076 133 414 4,302 13,177

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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13. Property, plant and equipment continued
Refer to note 25 for details of security existing on the above assets.

All assets within Land and buildings are freehold. Freehold land included within Land and buildings amounts to £3,075,000 (2013: 
£3,075,000). In accordance with IAS 16, this is not depreciated. 

Included within the total net book value is £1,343,000 (2013: £1,596,000) relating to Computer systems and equipment held under hire 
purchase or finance lease agreements. These assets are security for the obligations under hire purchase and finance lease of £1,236,000 
(2013: £1,368,000) disclosed in note 25.

14. Goodwill
Note

Goodwill 
£’000

Cost
At 1 October 2012 103,938
Additions 5,223
Foreign exchange (2,579)
Disposals (3,233)

At 30 September 2013 103,349
Additions 17 37,443
Foreign exchange (4,096)
Disposals 18b –

At 30 September 2014 136,696

Amounts provided
At 1 October 2012 21,817
Foreign exchange (2,697)
At 30 September 2013 19,120
Foreign exchange (115)

At 30 September 2014 19,005

Net book value 
At 30 September 2014 117,691

At 30 September 2013 84,229

At 1 October 2012 82,121

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to Cash Generating Units (‘CGUs’) is as follows:
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

UK
Software Pre 1 October 2004 and integrated acquisitions 19,253 19,672
BPS Pre 1 October 2004 and integrated acquisitions 51,462 18,568

70,715 38,240
Germany
BPS Pre 1 October 2004 and integrated acquisitions 13,115 14,230
IFN GmbH 2,089 2,322

15,204 16,552
Rest of Europe
BPS Pre 1 October 2004 and integrated acquisitions 2,657 3,210
ValuePartners BV 3,316 3,475

5,973 6,685
South Africa
BPS Pre 1 October 2004 and integrated acquisitions 861 521

North America
BPS Pre 1 October 2004 and integrated acquisitions 15,220 11,419

Asia Pacific
Integrated acquisitions (Sureplan and Claims Services Australia) 9,718 10,812

117,691 84,229
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14. Goodwill continued
Goodwill is allocated to a regional CGU as either BPS or software unless the acquisition is not immediately integrated into the existing 
businesses of that CGU. In which case, goodwill arising on acquisition is allocated to its own separate CGU until such a time that the 
business is integrated.

Impairment test for goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to CGUs. The Group conducts annual impairment tests on the carrying value of 
goodwill using value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are the discount rate applied, EBITA and the 
future growth rate of net operating cash flows. 

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts for these CGUs based on the most recent annual budgets approved by the Board. These are 
based upon detailed budgets for the coming year and internal forecasts of future growth over a five year period and cash flows beyond 
the five year period are extrapolated using expected growth rates. Further information on the assumptions used within the major CGUs is 
detailed below.

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations
The calculation of value in use for all of the business units is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

• EBITA;
• discount rates; and
• growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period. 

EBITA is derived from management budgets which are based upon both past performance and experience together with changes 
anticipated following expected developments within each location and operating segment. EBITA is defined as operating profit after 
adding back amortisation, share based payments and exceptional items. 

Discount rates reflect management’s estimation of the rate of return that would be expected from a rational investor over the period of 
the forecast, should the CGU be independent of the Group’s capital structure. In determining these rates management has reflected 
specific risks relating to the relevant operating segments. Specific details of the discount rates for each CGU are provided below.

Growth rate estimates for a five year period, are based on sensitised management forecasts. The standard growth estimates for years 
two to five are mainly in the range of 3% to 10%. For specific CGUs, where management have historical data which supports a different 
growth rate, the historical growth rate previously achieved in similar CGUs has been used to inform the future growth rate assumptions 
used, giving consideration to current market conditions. The terminal growth rate used is 1%. Further information is provided below for 
specific rates used for each of the CGUs.

Segments
The following assumptions have been used in each of the major CGUs:

Goodwill at 
30 September 

2014

EBITA 
Growth 

rate years 2–5

Terminal 
growth

 rate

Pre-tax 
discount 

rate

UK
Software 19,253 10% 1% 13.6%
BPS 51,462 3% 1% 8.8%

Germany
BPS 13,115 3% 1% 10.0%
IFN GmbH 2,089 3% 1% 10.0%

Rest of Europe
BPS 2,657 5% 1% 11.9%
ValuePartners BV 3,316 3% 1% 11.9%

South Africa
BPS 861 3% 1% 19.4%

North America
BPS 15,220 5% 1% 12.3%

Asia Pacific
BPS 9,718 28%, 15%, 15%, 3% respectively 1% 12.9%

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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14. Goodwill continued
At 30 September 2013 the following assumptions were used in each of the major CGUs based on the CGU allocation as at that date: 

Goodwill at 
30 September 

2013

EBITA
 Growth 

rate years 2–5

Terminal 
growth

 rate

Pre-tax 
discount 

rate

UK
Software 19,672 5% 1% 13.0%
BPS 18,568 3% 1% 9.1%

Germany
BPS 14,230 3% 1% 10.0%
IFN GmbH 2,322 3% 1% 10.0%

Rest of Europe
BPS 3,210 10%, 10%, 5%, 5% respectively 1% 11.9%
ValuePartners BV 3,475 5% 1% 11.9%

South Africa
BPS 521 3% 1% 19.4%

North America
BPS 11,419 10%, 10%, 5%, 5% respectively 1% 12.3%

Asia Pacific
BPS 10,812 33%, 33%, 5%, 5% respectively 1% 12.9%

Further details on the main CGUs with material goodwill balances are detailed below:

UK, Software – This CGU represents all cash flows for software sales of the Group on the basis that the intellectual property in regards 
to Innovation Insurer is held in the UK and the related sales of the product within region are wholly dependent on the asset within the UK. 
The growth rate used is 10%, which reflects the minimum future growth expected by management for the business. The cash flows for 
the software business for 2015 reflect increased sales of Insurer in the UK, North America and Australia. Cash flows in regards to North 
America and Australia are based on royalty income due to international sales of the Insurer suite of products. 

UK, BPS – This CGU represents pre 1 October 2004 acquisitions and all fully integrated acquisitions since that date. The growth rate used 
is 3% which reflects the minimum growth expected by management for the business. Management is of the view that the underlying cash 
flows of the Motor and Property operations are significantly linked therefore operate as a single CGU.

Germany, BPS – This CGU represents pre 1 October 2004 acquisitions and all fully integrated acquisitions since that date. The growth 
rate used is 3% which is based on historical data and the expected minimum future growth expected by management for the business. 
Management is of the view that the underlying cash flows of the Motor and Property operations are significantly linked and therefore 
operate as a single CGU.

RoE, BPS – This CGU predominantly represents the European operations acquired under the Nobilas banner in December 2007 and all 
fully integrated acquisitions since that date. The growth rate used is 5% which is underpinned by the expected continued growth from our 
partnership with AXA.

North America, BPS – This CGU represents the acquisitions made in prior years together with the Driven business acquired in 2014. 
Management is of the view that the underlying cash flows of the Motor and Property operations are significantly linked and therefore 
operate as a single CGU. The growth rate used is 5% which is underpinned by the strong pipeline available and the enhanced growth of  
the Motor business as a whole from the integration of the Driven business.

Asia Pacific, BPS – This CGU represents the acquisitions made in prior years. The growth rates used for 2016 to 2018 are reflective of  
the future growth expected by management for the business, based upon the impact of two transformational contract wins which are 
included in the board approved 2015 budget, and which will continue to ramp up through to 2018.

Discount rates
For all gross and individual CGUs, the discount rates used have been derived using each specific CGU’s WACC which reflects 
management’s assessment of the risks relating to each specific CGU and have excluded the risks relating to the Group as a whole.  
The discount rates used are all pre-tax rates. The discount rate used for the Software CGU has increased and the discount rate for the  
UK BPS CGU has decreased in the year to reflect changes in the underlying businesses. However, in neither case has this led to any 
impairment of goodwill and there remains significant headroom in place for both of these CGUs.
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14. Goodwill continued
Sensitivities
As outlined in the Accountability part of the Corporate Governance section of the Directors’ report, the risk of benign weather conditions, 
as well as economic decline in a region could impact a regions performance and hence the cash flows attributed to it.

In regards to all CGUs, management believe that no reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions used to calculate the cash 
flows that would cause any impairment to goodwill.

Impairment
There was no impairment to goodwill during the current or prior year.

15. Other intangible assets 

Note

Software 
licences

£’000

Internally 
generated 

software
£’000

Customer 
relationships

£’000

Customer  
lists

£’000

Trade  
names

£’000

Intellectual 
property

£’000
Total

£’000

Cost
At 1 October 2012 3,699 28,144 22,985 1,344 1,882 6,578 64,632
Additions 2,185 5,465 – – – – 7,650
Created on acquisition of subsidiary 17 – – 2,519 – – – 2,519
Created on acquisition of business 

combination 17 – – – – – 1,427 1,427
Disposals (69) – (1,328) – (133) (132) (1,662)
Foreign exchange 10 (172) (399) (198) (2) (177) (938)

At 30 September 2013 5,825 33,437 23,777 1,146 1,747 7,696 73,628

Additions 271 7,958 12 – – – 8,241
Created on acquisition of business 

combination 17 – – 11,714 – – 3,132 14,846
Disposals (256) – – – – – (256)
Foreign exchange (151) (187) (946) (106) (40) (227) (1,657)

At 30 September 2014 5,689 41,208 34,557 1,040 1,707 10,601 94,802

Amortisation
At 1 October 2012 1,702 8,943 14,481 760 1,139 5,763 32,788
Charge for the year 541 4,839 2,558 317 176 868 9,299
Impairment – – 823 – – – 823
Disposals (69) – (944) – (98) (66) (1,177)
Foreign exchange 19 (6) (173) (129) (6) (192) (487)

At 30 September 2013 2,193 13,776 16,745 948 1,211 6,373 41,246

Charge for the year 496 6,545 3,788 8 156 571 11,564
Impairment 131 – – – – – 131
Disposals (251) – – – – – (251)
Foreign exchange (109) (42) (578) (84) (33) (153) (999)

At 30 September 2014 2,460 20,279 19,955 872 1,334 6,791 51,691

Net book value
At 30 September 2014 3,229 20,929 14,602 168 373 3,810 43,111

At 30 September 2013 3,632 19,661 7,032 198 536 1,323 32,382

At 1 October 2012 1,997 19,201 8,504 584 743 815 31,844

All amortisation is charged through administrative expenses in the income statement. 

No intangibles have an indefinite life. 

Internally generated software relates primarily to the development of Innovation Insurer and the cost of customising it for use in the 
Group’s BPS subsidiaries. In accordance with IAS 38 amortisation commenced on this asset in April 2009 once it became available for use. 
The expected life for each component of this asset is 5 years. Each component has amortisation applied to it once it becomes available 
for use. Additions of £5.0m (2013: £3.7m) were made in the year relating to the ongoing development and regionalisation of the Group’s 
core Insurer/Enterprise asset. The closing net book value of the Insurer/Enterprise asset was £16.5m (2013: £16.9m).

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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15. Other intangible assets continued
Of the amortisation charge in the year, £3,711,000 (2013: £2,558,000) in relation to the Customer relationships asset, £287,000 (2013: 
£317,000) in relation to the Customer lists asset, £156,000 (2013: £176,000) in relation to the Trade names asset and £928,000 (2013: 
£868,000) in relation to the Intellectual Property asset relate to amortisation of acquired intangible assets of £5,082,000 (2013: 
£3,919,000), which is added back as part of adjusted profit.

The impairment in the year of £131,000 (2013: £nil) forms part of the exceptional costs incurred on restructuring of BPS divisions within 
Europe in note 5.

16. Investments held as fixed assets
Investments 

accounted 
for under the 

equity method
Financial 

Assets Total

Cost
Carrying value at 1 October 2012 3,547 255 3,802
Share of profit retained for the year 770 – 770
Foreign exchange (699) – (699)

Carrying value at 1 October 2013 3,618 255 3,873

Additions – 81 81
Impairments – (5) (5)
Share of profit retained for the year 112 – 112
Distributions (61) – (61)
Foreign exchange (449) (6) (455)

Carrying value at 30 September 2014 3,220 325 3.545

Other investments held at 30 September 2014 are accounted for at cost less any provision for impairment, where reliable fair values  
are not available. Where reliable market values are available, other investments are stated at this amount. 

In the year the Group acquired a 10% interest in Claim Bees GmbH, a company incorporated in Germany. As at 30 September 2014,  
the fair value of this investment was £77,000.

Other investments also include an investment of £232,000 (2013: £232,000) in ETSIA Digital Inc, which represents 3.5% of the ordinary 
share capital in ETSIA Digital Inc.

Loans of £853,000 (2013: £466,000) to ETSIA Digital Inc is included within other debtors (note 19). 

A shareholding of 2,937,500 ordinary shares in Resources in Insurance Group plc (formerly The Claims People Group plc), a company  
listed on the Alternative Investment Market with a value of £5,000 was impaired during the year to £nil. (2013: £5,000).

Investments in associates accounted for under the equity method
The Group has a 100% shareholding in a cell captive structure which is part of Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited (registered in  
South Africa). As the Group has no control over the financial and operating policies of the cell it has not been consolidated. The Group 
does have a significant influence over the cell and it is therefore accounted for as an associate using the equity method of accounting.  
The Group’s share of net profit has been brought into the income statement with the investment carried at the equity value in the balance 
sheet. The cell is a Special Purpose Entity (‘SPE’) as defined by SIC 12. The SPE writes motor warranty policies which are a regulated 
contract under South African law.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s investment in the Guardrisk cell captive. 

2014 
£’000

2013
 £’000

Revenues 10,282 9,656
Profit before tax 91 1,085

Share of the associate’s balance sheet
2014 

£’000
2013

 £’000

Non-current assets 7,372 7,313
Current assets 1,048 578

Share of gross assets 8,420 7,891

Current liabilities (943) (956)
Non-current liabilities (4,429) (3,590)

Share of gross liabilities (5,372) (4,546)

Share of net assets 3,048 3,345
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Investments in associates accounted for under the equity method 
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s 100% shareholding in a cell captive structure which is 
part of Absa Risk Insurance Management Services Ltd, the Group’s 40% shareholding in Sureplan New Zealand Limited and the Group’s 
40% shareholding in e-MTA Pty Limited: 

2014 
£’000

2013
 £’000

Revenues 254 228
(Loss)/profit before tax 57 (41)

Share of the associate’s balance sheet
2014 

£’000
2013

 £’000

Non-current assets 124 42
Current assets 281 221

Share of gross assets 405 263

Current liabilities (188) (125)
Non-current liabilities (45) (24)

Share of gross liabilities (233) (149)

Share of net assets 172 114

17. Business combinations
Year ended 30 September 2014
In addition to the business combinations mentioned below, a small acquisition was completed in our South African business in the year for 
total cash consideration of ZAR8m (£0.4m), with no material impact on the Group’s income statement and balance sheet. This acquisition 
has not been commented upon any further in this report.

17a. Crashworth Limited
On 31 January 2014, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Crashworth Limited (‘CW’) for a maximum cash consideration of 
£11.75m plus a provisional working capital adjustment of £0.2m. 

£5.0m was paid on completion with the remaining balance payable over the course of the period to 31 December 2015. £1.75m of 
deferred consideration was paid on 1 April 2014, with a further £1.75m of deferred consideration due to be paid on 31 December 2014. 
£0.2m was paid in the period in relation to the provisional working capital adjustment.

A further £1.25m is payable contingent on profit performance of Crashworth for the 12 months ending 30 September 2014, with a final 
contingent payment due of £2.0m depending on the profit performance of UK Motor in the twelve months ending 30 September 2015.  
As these payments are dependent upon the continued employment of the vendor in the UK Motor business, these payments are to be 
treated as compensation, rather than consideration, and will be expensed to operating expenses in future periods. The first tranche of 
contingent compensation of £1.25m has been accrued in full at 30 September 2014 as the performance condition has been met.

Transaction costs were £0.1m and have been expensed and included in operating expenses. See note 5 for further detail.

The goodwill arising from this acquisition is £4.2m and consists of the enhanced offering to the Group’s current and future customers.  
CW manages an established and efficient motor repair network. The acquisition will enable the Group to move closer to realising its 
objective to transform its Motor business into the number one motor claims management business in the UK in terms of client 
experience, customer experience, operational efficiency and profitability. The acquisition also introduces into the Group’s offering a 
consultancy proposition for those clients seeking to gain competitive advantage in a fast changing environment. 

Intangible assets recognised of £5.4m represent customer relationships and have been allocated a maximum useful economic life of  
five years, in line with the contractual terms present. 

From the date of acquisition to 30 September 2014, CW contributed £1.7m revenue and £1.4m profit after tax to the results of the Group. 
If the combination had happened at the beginning of the year, assuming results are linear, the consolidated profit of the Group would have 
increased by £0.5m and revenues from continuing operations would have increased by £0.6m.

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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17. Business combinations continued
Fair value 

£’000

Net assets acquired:
Intangible assets 5,418
Property, plant and equipment 4
Trade and other receivables 352
Cash and cash equivalents 342
Trade and other payables (534)
Deferred tax liability (1,138)

4,444

Goodwill 4,248

8,692

Satisfied by:
Cash 5,000
Deferred consideration settled in cash 1,750
Deferred consideration yet to be settled 1,750
Working capital adjustment settled in cash 192

8,692

17b. LAS Claims Management Limited
On 13 March 2014, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Broomco 4421 Limited, the immediate parent company of LAS Claims 
Management Limited (‘LAS’) for a maximum cash consideration of £35.0m. 

£33.8m was paid on completion, including £13.0m paid in regards to the settlement of shareholders loan and interest which is included  
in the net liabilities acquired below, with a further £1.2m which has been deferred for certain members of the shareholder base who 
remain as management in the business. This is due for payment in March 2016. The goodwill arising from this acquisition consists of  
the enhanced offering to the Group’s current and future customers, introducing the capability to handle claims in relation to wet perils.  
LAS’s operations and service offerings are highly complementary to the existing UK Property business. It is therefore expected that the 
combination of the two businesses will generate both significant revenue synergies and operational leverage.

LAS provides its customers with a full suite of outsourced services that handle claims across a range of property-related perils including 
storm, burst pipes, flood, fire, theft and accidental damage. The vast majority of LAS’s revenue comes from water-related claims: also 
known in the insurance industry as wet perils. The addition of wet perils skills and capabilities to the Group’s service portfolio completes a 
key strategic goal for the Group, and will increase the UK Property division’s addressable property market from a claims spend of £100m 
– currently available for its traditional subsidence (or dry perils) market – to £1.3bn. Over time, the Group will also be able to replicate this 
business model in other geographies it currently serves. 

LAS’s approach allows insurers to incorporate their own third party supply chain and their own software systems into the claim process, 
providing them with full transparency and enabling them to offer an enhanced service to their own customers. LAS also has the capability 
to manage the complete process of a given claim or a particular aspect of the claim, dependent upon its client’s requirements. 

Transaction costs were £0.6m and have been expensed and included in operating expenses. See note 5 for further detail.

From the date of acquisition to 30 September 2014, LAS contributed £5.1m revenue and £0.1m profit after tax to the results of the group. 
If the combination had happened at the beginning of the year, assuming results are linear, the consolidated profit of the Group would have 
increased by £0.1m and revenues from continuing operations would have increased by £4.3m.
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17. Business combinations continued 
The intangible assets acquired represent customer relationships of £3.6m and a Building Repair Network of £1.7m, both allocated a 
maximum useful life of up to eight years, and Intellectual Property of £1.5m, allocated a maximum useful life of up to five years.

The fair values prescribed are considered to be provisional given the length of time that the business has been part of the Group and  
are expected to be presented as final as part of the Group’s 2015 interim financial statements.

Fair value 
£’000

Net assets acquired:
Intangible assets 6,817
Property, plant and equipment 192
Trade and other receivables 6,422
Cash and cash equivalents 1,437
Deferred tax asset 29
Trade and other payables (6,926)
Shareholder loans and interest (13,037)
Deferred tax liability (1,363)

(6,429)

Goodwill 28,392

21,963

Satisfied by:
Cash 19,934
Retention currently held in escrow 826
Deferred consideration settled in cash 217
Deferred consideration yet to be settled 986

21,963

17c. Driven Solutions Inc
On 22 September 2014, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire share capital of Driven Solutions Inc (“Driven”) and its 
associated companies for total cash consideration of $7.2m (£4.3m), the acquisition had an effective date of 31 August 2014. Of the total 
consideration, $0.9m (£0.7m) has been paid on completion, with the remainder withheld by the Group to settle a pre-closing deferred tax 
liability which has been assumed on acquisition and will be settled over the next two to four years.

Driven works with approximately 30,000 towing and roadside assistance providers to deliver services to government entities, fleet 
providers, insurers and credit card membership programs across North America. 
 
The acquisition provides the Group’s US BPS business with access to a high quality, effective tow and roadside national network and 
enhances its offering to both Insurance and Fleet clients in North America. It also has the benefit of broadening Innovation Group’s 
product set and increasing margins from the supply chain in line with our stated strategic aims. Key management are to remain with the 
business.

Transaction costs were $0.3m (£0.2m) and have been expensed and included in operating expenses. See note 5 for further detail.

From the effective date of acquisition to 30 September 2014, Driven contributed $1.3m/£0.8m revenue and $0.3m/£0.2m profit after tax 
to the results of the Group. If the combination happened at the beginning of the year, assuming results are linear, the consolidated profit 
of the Group would have increased by £1.8m and revenues from continuing operations would have increased by £8.8m.

The goodwill of $7.2m (£4.4m) arising from the acquisition consists of the enhanced offering to the Group’s current and future customers, 
adding to the Group’s existing BPS capability in North America.

The intangible assets acquired represent customer contracts of $0.8m (£0.5m), allocated a maximum useful life of up to ten years, and 
customer relationships of $0.6m (£0.4m) and intellectual property of $2.8m (£1.7m), both allocated a maximum useful life of up to five 
years. The fair values prescribed are considered to be provisional given the length of time that the business has been part of the Group 
and are expected to be presented as final as part of the Group’s 2015 interim financial statements. The trade and other receivables value 
presented below is shown net of an allowance for doubtful debts of $0.4m (£0.3m).

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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17. Business combinations continued
Fair value 

£’000

Net assets acquired:
Intangible assets 2,611
Property, plant and equipment 555
Trade and other receivables 2,530
Corporation tax 290
Cash and cash equivalents 308
Trade and other payables (5,718)
Deferred tax liability (4,328)

(3,752)

Goodwill 4,424

672

Satisfied by:
Cash 672

Year ended 30 September 2013
17d. Sachcontrol
On 1 November 2012, the Group acquired the trade and assets of a division of Sachcontrol for total cash consideration of €1.5m (£1.2m). 

The division of Sachcontrol acquired provides loss adjusting services for large value claims to insurers, predominantly in the eastern 
German market. As a result of the acquisition, when added to our existing business handling low value claims in the western part of 
Germany, the Group expects to increase its potential for growth within the property claims handling sector across the whole geography 
of the German market. 

The consideration of €1.5m (£1.2m) comprises an initial payment of €1.0m (£0.8m) on completion of the acquisition, €0.2m (£0.2m) to  
be paid upon delivery of specific financial information and €0.3m (£0.2m) contingent consideration based on the results of the business 
for the 12 months ended 31 December 2012. This has been paid in full by 30 September 2013. 

Transaction costs were £0.02m and have been expensed and included in operating expenses. See note 5 for further detail. 

From the date of the acquisition to 30 September 2013, Sachcontrol contributed €0.9m (£0.8m) revenue and €0.2m (£0.2m) profit after 
tax to the results of the Group. If the combination had happened at the beginning of the year, assuming profits are linear, the consolidated 
profit of the Group would have been increased by £0.02m and revenue from continuing operations by £0.1m. 

The goodwill of €1.0m (£0.8m) arising from the acquisition consists of the enhanced offering to the Group’s current and future 
customers, adding to the Group’s existing capability in Germany and synergistic benefits of having coverage across the whole of 
Germany, rather than predominantly in the western part of the country. 

The intangible assets acquired represent customer relationships and have been allocated a maximum useful life of up to three years.

Fair value 
£’000

Net assets acquired:
Intangible assets 469
Trade and other receivables 41
Deferred tax liability (113)

397

Goodwill 817

1,214

Satisfied by: 
Cash (inclusive of contingent consideration paid in the year ended 30 September 2013) 1,214
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17e. Innovation Connect Enterprise
On 4 January 2013, the Group acquired the activities, inputs and processes, including the intellectual property rights to, and the 
associated revenue streams connected to body shop subscription contracts of, Innovation Connect Enterprise (‘ICE’) for cash 
consideration of €2.5m (£2.1m). 

ICE is a body shop and supply chain performance management tool, which enables repairers to provide excellent quality, customer 
service and deliver cost savings in the motor insurance claim cycle. Repairers are charged a monthly subscription fee for access to  
this tool. 

The consideration of €2.5m (£2.1m) comprises a single fixed cash payment paid on the date of acquisition. No further amounts are  
due to the vendors in deferred or contingent consideration. 

From the date of the acquisition to 30 September 2013, ICE contributed €0.6m (£0.5m) revenue and €0.4m (£0.3m) profit after tax to  
the results of the Group. If the combination had happened at the beginning of the year, assuming profits are linear, the consolidated  
profit of the Group would have been increased by £0.1m and revenue from continuing operations by £0.2m. 

The goodwill of €1.5m (£1.2m) arising from the acquisition consists of the enhanced offering to the Group’s current and future customers, 
expanding upon the existing services in France and the rest of Europe and the future earnings to be generated from this. 

The intangible assets acquired represent the intellectual property rights to the ICE software.
Fair value 

£’000

Net assets acquired:
Intangible assets 1,427
Deferred tax liability (471)

956

Goodwill 1,188

2,144

Satisfied by:
Cash 2,144

2,144

17f. Gemini Vehicle Solutions
On 9 April 2013, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Gemini Vehicle Solutions (‘GVS’) for total maximum cash consideration 
of £4.5m. 

GVS is a leading provider of motor claims management solutions in the UK, including third party intervention services and vehicle repair 
solutions. As a result of the acquisition, the Group has a broader service set to offer within the motor claims handling sector of the UK 
market, as well as the potential for growth within Australia. 

The maximum consideration of £4.5m comprises £3.0m paid on completion and a further £1.5m contingent on certain volume targets 
being met in the 12 months following acquisition. As required by IFRS 3, the contingent consideration has been probability weighted by 
£0.2m to reflect management’s best estimate to the likelihood of settlement, meaning that the contingent consideration disclosed in the 
table below is £1.3m. £0.8m of this contingent amount has been paid since the balance sheet date. The remainder is likely to be settled 
during the second half of the next financial year. 

Transaction costs of £0.05m have been expensed and are included within operating expenses. See note 5 for further detail. 

From the date of the acquisition to 30 September 2013, GVS contributed £1.2m of revenue and £0.4m of profit after tax to the results  
of the Group. If the combination had happened at the beginning of the year, assuming profits are linear, the consolidated profit of the 
Group would have been increased by £0.4m and revenue from continuing operations by £1.2m. 

The goodwill of £3.0m arising from the acquisition consists of the enhanced offering to the Group’s current and future customers, 
expanding upon the existing services in the UK and the future earnings to be generated from this wider skill set. 

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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17. Business combinations continued
The intangible assets acquired represent customer relationships and have been allocated a useful economic life, per relationship,  
of up to three years, based on the contractual terms present. An impairment charge of £0.4m has been realised post acquisition on  
the value of the intangible assets to reflect re-negotiated terms. 

Fair value 
£’000

Net assets acquired:
Intangible assets 2,050
Property, plant and equipment 82
Trade and other receivables 3,289
Cash and cash equivalents 3
Bank loans and overdrafts (462)
Trade and other payables (3,284)
Deferred tax asset 109
Deferred tax liability (492)

1,295

Goodwill 3,027

4,322

Satisfied by:
Cash 2,972
Contingent consideration settled in the year to 30 September 2014 1,350

4,322

The fair values prescribed above are considered to be final, given the length of time that the business has been part of the Group and  
the fact that there have been no issues or events that would require a revision to these values.

17g. Infront Solutions Limited
On 21 November 2012, the Company acquired the remaining 16% non-controlling interest in its UK subsidence business, InFront 
Solutions Limited for £2.3m in consideration which was paid in 10,519,172 freely available shares (note 28). 

This has resulted in the de-recognition of the carrying value of the non-controlling interest at the date of disposal of £2.0m and a loss 
recognised through retained earnings of £0.3m, as no additions can be made to goodwill on the increase of this investment. 

17h. Value Partners N.V.
On 12 June 2012, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Value Partners N.V. (“VP”), the holding company of Teledesk and 
Teledesk Claims Management (“Teledesk”). Teledesk is a provider of “round the clock” helpdesk services on a subscription basis to  
the insurance industry in Belgium, including brokers, insurers and related financial services companies. 

In the year ended 30 September 2014 £675,000 of cash was paid and £480,000 of shares were issued in respect of contingent 
consideration. There is £114,000 of contingent consideration remaining in other payables at the year end.
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18. Disposals
Year ended 30 September 2014
No shareholdings were disposed of in the year ended 30 September 2014.

Year ended 30 September 2013
18a. Nobilas France SAS
On 29 April 2013, the Group disposed of 30% of its shareholding in Nobilas France SAS to Vendomes Participations 3 (‘VP3’), a subsidiary 
of AXA France, for €3.45m (£2.9m) cash consideration received in full on the date of disposal. 

At the date of disposal, the net assets of Nobilas France SAS totalled approximately €6.0m (£5.0m). The disposal of 30% of Nobilas France 
SAS resulted in the immediate recognition of a non-controlling interest of approximately €2.1m (£1.8m), representing a €1.8m (£1.5m) 
allocation of net assets and an allocation of goodwill to the non-controlling interest of €0.3m (£0.3m). £0.1m of cumulative foreign 
exchange losses was also allocated to the non-controlling interest at that time. This leaves a gain on disposal of €1.2m/£1.1m. 
Transaction costs incurred as part of the disposal totalled €0.1m (£0.1m). This gain is reflected in retained earnings and is disclosed 
separately within the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity. 

As part of the sale agreement with VP3, there are warrants in place which entitle VP3 to increase its shareholding in Nobilas France SAS if 
certain volume targets are met over a rolling 12-month period by April 2023. Further detail on this is included in note 32 on page 115. 

18b. Travest Investments Pty
Effective 1 June 2013, the Group disposed of its entire shareholding of its subsidiary Travest Investments Pty (‘Travest’) for approximately 
R59m (£4.0m). Travest is the holding company of Travel Insurance Consultants (‘TIC’), which operated the region’s travel insurance 
business. 

Prior to disposal, the Group increased its effective shareholding in TIC from 53% to 62%, which was settled through the payment of cash 
of R14m (£0.9m). This resulted in a loss on increase in shareholding of R10m (£0.7m) and derecognition of non-controlling interests of 
R2m (£0.2m).

At the date of disposal, the net assets of Travest, inclusive of cash of R15m (£1.0m), goodwill of R13m (£1.0m) and intangible assets of 
R6m (£0.4m), totalled approximately R21m (£1.4m). The net cash inflow for the Group was approximately R43m (£3.0m), due to the  
cash disposed of as part of the transaction. The disposal of Travest resulted in the immediate de-recognition of non-controlling interests 
of R22m (£1.5m), total goodwill of R49m (£3.2m) and total intangible assets of R17m (£1.2m). This resulted in a profit on disposal of 
approximately R12m (£0.8m), after deduction of deal costs of R1m (£0.1m), which has been removed as part of the Group’s presentation 
of Adjusted Profit. Net assets of Travest were materially the same at the point of disposal as they were at the point of acquisition; hence 
no material foreign exchange was identified for recycling from the foreign exchange reserve.

19. Trade and other receivables
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Trade receivables 38,604 29,479
Less provision for impairment of trade receivables (1,017) (724)

Trade receivables – net 37,587 28,755
Other debtors 3,568 3,655
Accrued income 27,197 25,137

68,352 57,547

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and on average have 30 to 60 day settlement terms. The credit quality of the trade receivables 
is considered by management to be very good as a high proportion of customers are large global companies with whom the Group trades 
on a long-term basis. Management do not consider that there is a significant concentration of credit risk due to the spread of trade 
receivables across the global business.

Other debtors includes £853,000 (2013: £466,000) owed to the Group by ETSIA Digital Inc, a company in which the Group has a  
3.5% investment. 

Impairment of trade receivables
The movement on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

At 1 October (724) (699)
Provision for impairment (651) (466)
Provision utilised 181 414
Unused provision reversed 150 30
Foreign exchange movement 27 (3)

At 30 September (1,017) (724)

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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19. Trade and other receivables continued
The total amount and ageing of impaired receivables against which the above provision relates are as follows:

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

Due at 30 September 2 40
One month overdue 11 17 
Two months overdue 8 22
Three months overdue 73 314
Four or more months overdue 923 331

1,017 724

The following trade receivables are past due but are not considered to be impaired as there is no recent history of default  
by these customers.

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

Due at 30 September 8,049 7,757
One month overdue 2,764 2,783
Two months overdue 819 876
Three months overdue 1,523 1,268
Four or more months overdue 1,976 1,159

15,131 13,843

Based on previous experience, no additional provision is required in respect of trade receivables which are not overdue.

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Sterling 29,845 23,987
Euro 19,226 19,371
US Dollar 6,549 5,860
South African Rand 5,070 4,105
Australian Dollar 7,067 3,620
Other 595 604

68,352 57,547

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the year end is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above.  
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

20. Other financial assets
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Other financial assets 145 154

Other financial assets are in respect of an asset held in relation to a German pension scheme asset. 

21. Cash and cash equivalents
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 79,324 50,646

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of 
between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective 
short-term deposit rates.

Cash held and available for use within the business in our South African operation of £16,240,000 (2013: £16,691,000) continues to be 
subject to the normal government imposed exchange controls for that country.

In addition, £185,000 (2013: £nil) of cash and cash equivalents within Driven Solutions Inc. relates to a collateral deposit for a letter of 
credit and is therefore restricted.
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22. Trade and other payables
Note

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

Current
Trade payables 41,017 35,189
Other payables 17,287 13,229
Contingent consideration 17c,g 114 1,975
Accruals 18,404 16,242
Social security and other taxes 4,172 3,168

80,994 69,803

Non-current
German pension liabilities 81 197
Contingent consideration 17g – 612
Revenue rebate 166 –
Other payables 1,389 –

1,636 809

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and on average have 30 to 60 day settlement terms. Current contingent consideration relates to 
the fair value attributed to amounts due within one year in regards to the Value Partners N.V. acquisition. 

Non-current payables relate to the German pension liabilities acquired in the current and previous financial years, the revenue rebate 
which is related to the warrants discussed in note 32 and amounts within Driven Solutions Inc relating to deferred rent and royalties. 

23. Deferred income
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Current
Deferred income 12,748 11,998

Non-current
Deferred income 6,430 4,726

 
24. Insurance liabilities
Included within other payables and deferred income are figures that require separate disclosure under IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’. 
These are as follows:

Other payables (see ‘a’ below) Deferred income (see ‘b’ below)

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

On-risk contracts
At 1 October 663 1,081 5,204 5,023
Amounts deferred from new policies 786 838 9,363 10,023
Amounts released to the income statement (965) (1,256) (8,362) (8,830)
Foreign exchange – – (600) (1,012)

At 30 September 484 663 5,605 5,204

On-risk contracts currently fall into two categories: subsidence contracts and service and maintenance plan contracts.

a Subsidence contracts
In order to manage the risks around these contracts, each individual subsidence claim is assessed for possible repudiation and total 
potential exposure to costs if it is not possible to repudiate the claim. Analysis is performed on a regular basis to ensure that there are 
adequate funds available to cover the assessed potential exposure to costs. This includes an assessment of costs to complete on a 
contract by contract basis. If this percentage remains below 100%, then there are sufficient funds to cover the potential future costs.  
In both the current and previous financial years, the percentage is below 100%. The insurance company is invoiced in advance for claims 
so cash is always available to meet the repair costs. All claims handled since 2006 are backed with reinsurance as part of the contract  
with the customer to limit the exposure of the Group to an acceptable level.

b Service and maintenance plans
In order to manage the risks around these contracts all vehicles are assessed in terms of make, model, age and distance driven to date. 
Service plan contracts are only sold for vehicles if the above criteria fall within set parameters. 

Fund burn analyses are performed periodically to ensure that there are adequate funds available to pay future expected claims. If this 
percentage remains below 100%, then the fund is sufficient to cover future claims. In both the current and previous financial years,  
the percentage is below 100%. 

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014



105The Innovation Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014

Financial 
statements

Strategic 
report

Corporate 
governance

24. Insurance liabilities continued
The Group has on-risk contracts for both service and maintenance plans. The ratio at the end of the year is 81% (2013: 84%) service  
and 19% (2013: 16%) maintenance. As these plans can be priced accurately due to parts having to be replaced at specific intervals,  
risk due to uncertainty is mitigated to satisfactory levels.

Both service and maintenance plans expire on the earlier of either the fixed length of the plan or the distance limit being reached. 
These contracts are not reinsured as management believe it is possible to price the contracts very accurately.

25. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Current
Overdrafts 46 370
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase agreements 769 720

815 1,090

Non-current
Bank loans 22,423 21,584
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase agreements 467 648

22,890 22,232

Borrowings
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Bank loans and overdrafts 22,469 21,954
Finance leases and hire purchase agreements 1,236 1,368

23,705 23,322

Due within one year or on demand
Bank loans and overdrafts 46 370
Finance leases and hire purchase agreements 769 720
Due between one and two years
Bank loans and overdrafts – –
Finance leases and hire purchase agreements 467 648
Due between two and five years
Bank loans 22,423 21,584
Finance leases and hire purchase agreements – –

23,705 23,322

Finance Leases
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Future minimum payments due are as follows:
Due within one year or on demand 556 724
Due between one and two years 325 318
Due between two years and five years 500 467

1,381 1,509
Future finance charges (145) (141)

1,236 1,368

Finance leases are secured on the underlying assets.

The carrying value of the Group’s borrowings, loans and finance lease are denominated in the following currencies:
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Sterling 21,541 22,020
South African Rand 69 61
Euro 163 206
Australian Dollar 269 288
US Dollar 1,663 747

23,705 23,322
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25. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings continued
The average effective interest rates paid were as follows:

2014 2013

Bank loans 3.1% 3.1%
Finance leases and hire purchase agreements 9.1% 10.8%

Borrowings are held under both fixed and floating rates as follows:
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Fixed rates
Finance leases and hire purchase agreements 1,236 1,368
Floating rates
Bank loans and overdrafts 22,469 21,954

23,705 23,322

Borrowings comprise bank loans and finance leases: 

Bank loans
The Group has a revolving credit facility of £50.0m available, of which £26.7m was undrawn as at 30 September 2014 (2013: £30.0m 
revolving credit facility with £8.0m undrawn) and is secured against the assets and liabilities of material subsidiaries of the Group apart 
from the South African business. The loan bears interest at 1.85% above LIBOR, which is paid at the end of each draw down period.  
This is disclosed in full as borrowings not falling due until after one year in line with the expiry date of the facility of September 2019.  
£0.9m of fees in relation to the facility has been allocated against this balance, therefore reducing the overall loan balance. 

As part of the terms and conditions of the bank loans, the Group has to satisfy a number of covenants on a quarterly basis. The Group  
is not in breach of the covenants at the date of the approval of the financial statements or at any point during the financial year, and is  
not forecast to breach the covenants going forward.

Finance leases
Finance leases held by the Group primarily relate to the rental of fixtures and fittings and computer equipment for Group companies to 
utilise in the course of their business. The leases cover periods of between two to five years and are payable under terms with equal 
monthly or quarterly instalments. There are no other significant restrictions in place in regards to these assets. 

26. Provisions

Year ended 30 September 2014

Legal and 
restructuring 

£’000

Property 
leases 
£’000

NI on share 
options 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Balance at 1 October 2013 342 1,028 650 2,020
Provided in the year 105 – 197 302
Utilised in the year (20) (522) (45) (587)
Unwinding of discount – 73 – 73
Foreign exchange (17) (10) – (27)

Balance at 30 September 2014 410 569 802 1,781
Non-current liabilities – 307 53 360
Current liabilities 410 262 749 1,421

Legal and restructuring
This provision is expected to be utilised in full during the upcoming financial year. Provisions relate to restructuring performed in the year 
and small cases in relation to employment disputes. 

NI on share options 
The share option provision reflects the Directors’ estimate of the employer’s national insurance and other similar tax liabilities arising  
on outstanding share options. This is expected to be utilised over the upcoming 36 month period. 

Property leases
The property lease provision relates to the differential between the onerous element of the lease contract and the rental income  
received from sub-letting part of the empty property. The provision is expected to be utilised over the period to the end of the lease  
in August 2018. 

27. Financial instruments
Objectives, policies and strategies
The Group’s objective has been to finance acquisitions through new capital, cash reserves and borrowings. Investments in intangible  
fixed assets and property, plant and equipment have been made through cash and finance lease borrowings.

The Group’s policy towards using financial instruments is to manage credit, interest rate, liquidity and currency exposure risk without 
exposing the Group to undue risk or speculation. The policy is kept under review by the directors according to the Group’s foreign 
exchange and treasury policy.

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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27. Financial instruments continued
Risk management
The risks arising from the Group’s operations are explained below.

Credit risk
The Group monitors its exposure to credit risk on an ongoing basis. Cash investments are only allowed in liquid securities with major 
financial institutions that satisfy specific criteria. The maximum credit risk exposure at the balance sheet date is represented by the 
carrying value of financial assets and there are no significant concentrations of credit risk. 

Interest rate risk 
Interest bearing financial assets comprises cash. Interest bearing financial liabilities comprise net obligations under finance leases and 
bank loans used to fund previous acquisitions. The Group currently relies on the natural hedge of financial assets versus financial liabilities 
to manage the risk arising from changes to floating interest rates in the majority of cases and it is generally the policy of the Group to hold 
assets under floating interest rates. 

The interest rate risk is for cash and cash equivalents and bank loans only. All other financial assets are non-interest bearing. Interest on 
floating rate assets is based on the relevant national inter-bank rates, with short-term deposits being made for varying periods of 
between one and three months depending upon the immediate cash requirements of the Group. During the year interest rates on these 
assets ranged from 0.5% to 5.9% depending on the type of account and the location of the Group entity. Finance leases are held at fixed 
rates and as such bear no interest rate risk.

Capital risk 
The Group defines its capital as the Group’s total equity, including non-controlling interests. Its objectives when managing capital are to 
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders, to provide an adequate return to 
investors based upon the level of risk undertaken, to have available the necessary financial resources to allow the Group to invest in areas 
that may deliver future benefit to investors and maintain sufficient financial resources to mitigate risks and unforeseen events. The total 
equity of the Group increased significantly in the year, which improves the Group’s capital position.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

Gearing
The Group’s gearing ratio is calculated on the basis of the level of total debt against total equity. This is calculated as follows:

2014 
£’000

2013
 £’000

Total debt 23,705 23,322
Capital reserves attributable to shareholders 193,801 126,738
Non-controlling interests 4,018 3,894

Total equity 197,819 130,632
Gearing ratio 12.0% 17.9%

The Group manages capital on the basis of the level of net cash held and on the equity ratio, which is calculated as equity (including 
non-controlling interest) as a percentage of total assets. The Group’s capital and equity ratio are detailed below:

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

Capital reserves attributable to shareholders 193,801 126,738
Non-controlling interests 4,018 3,894

Total equity 197,819 130,632
Total assets 333,971 250,052
Equity ratio 59.2% 52.2%

Liquidity risk
The Group’s funds are principally held either as cash or short-term money market investments with a number of different major banking 
institutions. Throughout the year the Group policy has been to maintain a mix of short and medium term borrowings with their lenders.  
This flexibility is achieved by the use of the Group’s revolving credit facility. At the year end, this facility was due to expire in September 2019. 

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserves (comprising any undrawn borrowing facility (note 25) and cash 
and cash equivalents (note 21)) on the basis of expected cash flow. The Group’s liquidity management policy includes reviewing cash flows 
in major currencies and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against 
internal key performance indicators and external covenant requirements and maintaining debt financing plans.

The Group may choose to settle contingent consideration earlier than contractually due, if there is persuasive evidence that the 
conditions pertaining to the contingent consideration will be met. This is unlikely to significantly alter the amount to be paid, other than  
a discount for early settlement, but would lead to earlier maturity than disclosed within the table on the next page. 
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27. Financial instruments continued
Financial liabilities – by maturity
The table below summarises the remaining contractual maturity for the Group’s financial liabilities. 

Year ended 30 September 2014

Less than  
1 year 
£’000

Between  
1 and 2 years 

£’000

Between  
2 and 5 years 

£’000

Over  
5 years 

£’000

Trade and other payables 41,017 – – –
Contingent consideration 114 – – –
Borrowings 1,489 1,212 25,585 –
Onerous lease provision 357 357 620 –
Other contractual liabilities 4,636 – – –

47,613 1,569 26,205 –

Year ended 30 September 2013

Less than  
1 year 
£’000

Between  
1 and 2 years 

£’000

Between  
2 and 5 years 

£’000

Over  
5 years 

£’000

Trade and other payables 35,189 – – –
Contingent consideration 2,161 612 – –
Borrowings 1,994 1,199 22,657 –
Onerous lease provision 249 357 1,042 –
Other contractual liabilities 4,496 – – –

44,089 2,168 23,699 –

Other contractual liabilities are included within the other payables balance as disclosed in note 22. There are no other financial liabilities 
within this balance. Contingent consideration has been included at the maximum amount payable under each acquisition agreement. 

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value is considered to be materially equivalent to book value for the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, where items are short-term 
in nature, including cash, trade payables and other contractual liabilities. The borrowings relate to fixed and floating rate instruments. 
There have been no events that would impact the credit risk encountered by the Group since the revolving credit facility was taken out, 
therefore book value is deemed to equate to fair value. 

A summary of the fair values and book values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities is noted below. 

Year ended 30 September 2014 Note

Loans and 
receivables

£’000

Fair value 
through  

profit or loss
£’000

Amortised 
cost

£’000

Total  
carrying 
amount

£’000

Financial assets
Loans receivable 19 853 – – 853
Trade receivables 19 37,587 37,587
Accrued income 19 27,197 – – 27,197
Cash and cash equivalents 21 79,324 – – 79,324

144,961 – – 144,961

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 22 – – 41,017 41,017
Contingent consideration 22 – 114 – 114
Onerous lease provision 26 – – 569 569
Borrowings 25 – – 23,705 23,705
Other contractual liabilities 22 – – 4,636 4,636

– 114 69,927 70,041

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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27. Financial instruments continued

Year ended 30 September 2013 Note

Loans and 
receivables

£’000

Fair value 
through  

profit or loss
£’000

Amortised 
cost

£’000

Total  
carrying 
amount

£’000

Financial assets
Loans receivable 19 466 – – 466
Trade receivables 19 28,755 – – 28,755
Accrued income 19 25,137 – – 25,137
Cash and cash equivalents 21 50,646 – – 50,646

105,004 – – 105,004

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 22 – – 35,189 35,189
Contingent consideration 22 – 2,587 – 2,587
Onerous lease provision 26 – – 1,028 1,028
Borrowings 25 – – 23,322 23,322
Other contractual liabilities 22 – – 4,496 4,496

– 2,587 64,035 66,622

Currency risk
Currency exposure arises through intra-group loans and trading balances throughout all Group locations. Natural hedging is employed,  
to the extent possible, to minimise net exposures. 

Currency exposures comprise the monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in the functional 
currency of the operating unit involved. In general all overseas operating units trade and hold asset and liabilities in their functional 
currency. The parent company has long-term intercompany loans designated in foreign currency. As these are of a long-term nature, 
these are treated as quasi-equity and as such any foreign exchange arising is taken straight to reserves. Any foreign exchange incurred  
on trading loans is taken through the income statement. 

Sensitivities
The following table details the Group’s sensitivities to a change in Sterling against the respective foreign currencies. The sensitivities 
represent management’s assessment of the effect on monetary assets and liabilities of the possible changes in foreign exchange rates. 
The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the year end has been determined based on the assumption 
that the change is effective throughout the financial year and all other variables remain constant.

A positive number indicates an increase in profit after taxation and other components of equity where Sterling weakens against  
the respective currencies. A strengthening of Sterling would have the equal but opposite effect on the basis that all other variables  
remain constant.

2014 2013

Sensitivity
Profit
£’000

Equity
£’000

Profit
£’000

Equity
£’000

South African Rand 15% (1) – 3 –
Euros 10% 739 (153) 537 9
US Dollar 15% – (3,751) – (3,214)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to changes of 1% in interest rates throughout the year, with all other variables  
remaining constant.

A positive number indicates an increase in profit after taxation and equity (net assets) where interest rates rise. A fall in interest rates 
would have the equal but opposite effect on the basis that all other variables remain constant. The assets and liabilities included in  
this analysis are those which attract a floating interest rate. 

2014 2013

Sensitivity
Profit
£’000

Equity
£’000

Profit
£’000

Equity
£’000

Sterling 1% (27) – (139) –
South African Rand 1% 162 – 166 –
Euros 1% 205 – 163 –



110 The Innovation Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014

28. Share capital
2014 2013

Number £’000 Number £’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 2p each 1,206,867,678 24,137 986,494,935 19,730

The following share issues took place during the current financial year.
Date of issue Description

Number  
of shares

Price 
£

Consideration 
£

1 November 2013 Exercise of options under GSOP 867,483 0.247 214,268
6 December 2013 Exercise of options under PSP 1,186,800 0.00 –
19 December 2013 Shares issued as contingent consideration 2,400,000 0.20 480,000
23 December 2013 Exercise of options under PSP 3,100,000 0.00 –
6 January 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 1,194,500 0.00 –
15 January 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 550,000 0.00 –
6 February 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 200,000 0.00 –
21 February 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 132,259 0.00 –
27 February 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 350,000 0.00 –
13 March 2014 Placing of shares under Open Offer 209,375,000 0.32 67,000,000
14 March 2014 Exercise of options under GSOP 195,136 0.319 62,248
24 March 2014 Exercise of options under GSOP 33,579 0.319 10,712
31 March 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 150,000 0.00 –
25 June 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 350,000 0.00 –
21 July 2014 Exercise of options under Sharesave 18,946 0.182 3,448
25 September 2014 Exercise of options under Sharesave 269,040 0.182 48,965

As shares are issued, the cash received upon issuance is treated as consideration and included as additions to the Issued Capital and 
Share Premium accounts. Shares issued as contingent consideration are also added to share capital and share premium and form part of 
the calculation of goodwill on acquisition of Values Partners N.V.

The share placing on 13 March 2014 raised gross proceeds of £67,000,000, and net proceeds of £64,320,000 after related costs of 
£2,680,000. 

The following share issues took place during the previous financial year. 
Date of issue Description

Number  
of shares

Price 
£

Consideration 
£

21 November 2012 Shares issued for acquisition of subsidiary 10,519,172 0.221 2,327,367
13 December 2012 Exercise of awards under GMIP 1,962,998 0.00 –
28 January 2013 Exercise of options under Sharesave 874 0.183 160
28 May 2013 Exercise of options under RRP 3,878,773 0.00 –
6 June 2013 Exercise of options under GSOP 1,231,263 0.122 150,214
13 June 2013 Exercise of options under GSOP 111,933 0.122 13,656
25 June 2013 Exercise of options under PSP 5,439,500 0.00 –
1 July 2013 Shares issued as contingent consideration 800,000 0.200 160,000
2 July 2013 Exercise of options under PSP 593,400 0.00 –
15 July 2013 Exercise of options under GSOP 279,832 0.122 34,140
15 August 2013 Exercise of options under PSP 299,182 0.00 –
1 September 2013 Exercise of options under Sharesave 6,010 0.183 1,100

29. Employee share schemes
The Group operates five equity settled share based payment arrangements: the Global Share Option and Incentive Plan, the 
Performance Share Plan, the Key Executive Recruitment and Key Executive Retention Plan, the 2011 Retention Plan and the UK, US and 
International Sharesave Scheme. 

The main terms of the five employee share schemes are as follows:

Global share option and incentive plan
Options granted under this scheme have historically been to senior executives and management across the Group, as well as to staff  
with high potential or to recognise significant achievements. Under this scheme options will usually vest after between two and five years 
and be exercisable between two and ten years following grant, provided that the employee remains in employment at the date of exercise. 
Options issued up to 16 March 2004 have no performance conditions attached. Awards issued after this date will vest and become 
exercisable between the given dates if EPS growth, adjusted for amortisation of acquired intangibles, share based payment charges  
and any adjustments required in respect of exceptional gains or charges that may arise as made at the discretion of the remuneration 
committee, exceeds 3% per annum. The base EPS is that for the year ended 30 September 2004. Future options under this scheme will 
vest based on EPS growth plus 10%. No awards have been granted under this scheme in the current or prior year.

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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29. Employee share schemes continued
Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’)
Options under this scheme are made to senior executives and managers across the Group. The options will vest subject to meeting the 
two performance conditions. 

In regards to awards made from 2010 to 2012, vesting of up to 50% of the award is based upon the Group’s Total Shareholder Return 
(‘TSR’) relative to the TSR of a comparator group of other companies comprising the software and computer services and the support 
services sector of the FTSE, over a three year performance period. If the Group’s TSR growth ranks below the 50th percentile over the 
three year period 0% of the award will vest. At the 50th percentile 15% will vest and at 75% or above, 50% will vest. Between the 50th and 
75th percentile vesting will occur on a straight-line basis. Vesting of the remaining 50% of the award will be subject to the growth of the 
Group’s adjusted EPS. 15% of an award will vest for total adjusted EPS growth of 12% above RPI over the performance period, with 50%  
of an award vesting for total adjusted EPS growth of 45% or more above RPI over the performance period. Between these points,  
vesting will occur on a straight-line basis. 

In regards to the awards made in March 2013, May 2013 and July 2013, the vesting of the TSR element of the award is as described above. 
Vesting of the remaining 50% of the award remains subject to the growth of the Group’s adjusted EPS. The EPS performance conditions 
requires the adjusted EPS for the financial year ending 30 September 2015 to be 1.89p, where 50% of the award will vest, with 100% of the 
award vesting at 2.24p. Between these points, vesting will occur on a straight-line basis. These targets have been reduced from 1.90p and 
2.25p respectively following the firm placing and open offer that occurred on 13 March 2014. 

In regards to the awards made in March 2014, May 2014 and July 2014, the vesting of the TSR element of the award is as described above. 
Vesting of the remaining 50% of the award remains subject to the growth of the Group’s adjusted EPS. 15% of an award will vest for total 
adjusted EPS growth of 45% above RPI over the performance period, with 50% of an award vesting for total adjusted EPS growth of 100% 
or more above RPI over the performance period. Between these points, vesting will occur on a straight-line basis. 
 
Key Executive Recruitment Plan and Key Executive Retention Plan (‘RRP’)
Executive Directors only are eligible for awards under the RRP to facilitate recruitment and retention. Two-thirds of the initial award (the 
‘first tranche’) vest to the extent to which adjusted EPS growth exceeded RPI growth over the three year period ending with the financial 
year of the Company ending 30 September 2013. No awards will vest until adjusted EPS growth is RPI+ 12%. At RPI+ 12%, 30% will vest 
and at RPI+ 45% 100% of the awards will vest. Vesting will occur pro-rata on a straight-line basis between 30% and 100% between these 
amounts. One third of each such initial award (the ‘second tranche’) will ordinarily vest to the extent to which adjusted EPS growth 
exceeds RPI growth over the same timeframe. No awards will vest until adjusted EPS growth is RPI+ 45%. At RPI+ 45%, 0% will vest and  
at RPI+ 100%, 100% of the awards will vest. Vesting will occur pro rata on a straight-line basis between these amounts. All awards under 
this plan have vested as at the date of this report. No awards have been made during the financial year or to the date of this report.

2011 Retention Plan (‘2011 Plan’)
Options under this scheme were made to the Executive Directors to facilitate retention. Vesting of the awards will be determined by the 
Company’s share price growth which will normally be assessed by reference to the average share price achieved during the period of three 
months expiring on 30 September 2014, being the last day of the performance period. No awards will vest if the Company’s average share 
price in the three month period ending 30 September 2014 is less than 20p. If the Company’s average share price for this period is 20p, 
then 10% of the award will vest. If the Company’s average share price for this period is 40p or greater, then 100% of the award will vest. 
Vesting takes place on a straight-line basis between these two values. 

In addition, regardless of the average share price achieved, awards will only vest if i) the Company’s adjusted earnings per share as at  
30 September 2014 are no less than 1.18p and ii) to the extent that the Remuneration Committee is satisfied that the vesting result is  
a fair reflection of the Company’s underlying financial performance. If the Company’s adjusted EPS for the financial year ending  
30 September 2014 is at least 1.18p but the level of vesting does not, in the opinion of the Remuneration Committee, reflect the 
underlying financial performance of the Company, the Remuneration Committee will be required to reduce the level of vesting to a  
level that it considers fair and reasonable in light of the underlying financial performance of the Company during the period to  
30 September 2014.

The number of shares subject to both options and awards (including those granted to Executive Directors), the date on which they  
were granted and the periods in which they may be exercised are given below. 

UK, International and US Sharesave Schemes (‘Sharesave’)
All eligible employees have been given the opportunity to enter into a sharesave scheme to share in the benefits of future growth in the 
Company and to align their interests to those of our shareholders. 

Participants under each of the schemes have signed up to savings contracts of up to £150 per month, which upon maturity in three years 
time (two years in the case of the US scheme) will enable each participant to either use their savings to exercise a linked discounted share 
option or to ask for the return of their savings (and any interest). 

The option price for this scheme is 29.6p (2013: 24.5p), which represented a 10% discount to the previous three day average share price 
prior to the granting of the option. The option price is used on day one to determine the total number of shares which each participant  
will be eligible to exercise upon maturity. Any fluctuation in exchange rates are at the risk of the employee. 
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29. Employee share schemes continued
Options will normally be exercisable from the third anniversary of the commencement of the related savings contract. In the case of the 
US scheme, options will normally be exercisable from the second anniversary of the commencement of the related savings contract. 
Earlier exercise is permitted, however, in the following circumstances:

• Following cessation of employment by reason of death, injury, disability, redundancy, retirement on reaching age 60 (or any other age at 
which the employee is bound to retire under the terms of their employment) or the business or company that the employee works for 
ceasing to be part of the Company’s group;

• When an employee reaches 60;
• Where employment ceases more than three years from grant for any reason other than dismissal for misconduct; and
• In the event of a takeover, amalgamation, reconstruction or winding up of the Company, except in the case of an internal  

corporate re-organisation when the Board may decide to exchange existing options for equivalent new options over shares in a  
new holding company. 

Except where stated above, options will lapse on cessation of employment or directorship with the Group. Shares will be allotted or 
transferred to participants within thirty days of exercise.

During the prior year the Performance Share Plan, the Key Executive Recruitment and Key Executive Retention Plan and the 2011 
Retention Plan were converted from share awards to nil-cost options. This change in classification is detailed below. 

The summary of the outstanding options and awards made under these arrangements are as follows:

Share Options
Global share option and incentive plan
Date of grant Exercise price Note Exercise period from date of grant

2014 
Number

2013 
Number

16 March 2004 £0.319 a Between 2 and 10 years – 702,597
16 March 2004 £0.319 a Between 3 and 10 years – 351,299
16 March 2004 £0.319 a Between 4 and 10 years – 351,299
7 September 2004 £0.247 b Between 2 and 10 years – 37,311
7 September 2004 £0.247 b Between 3 and 10 years – 37,311
7 September 2004 £0.247 b Between 4 and 10 years – 37,311
31 March 2005 £0.409 b Between 3 and 10 years 56,244 55,966
31 March 2005 £0.409 b Between 4 and 10 years 56,244 55,966
31 March 2005 £0.409 b Between 5 and 10 years 56,244 55,966

 168,732 1,685,026

 
Performance Share Plan
Date of grant Note Release date

2014 
Number

2013 
Number

25 June 2010 c 25 June 2013 198,782 1,879,100
22 December 2010 c 22 December 2013 854,224 6,250,000
29 February 2012 c 1 March 2015 8,785,813 10,080,000
20 March 2012 c 20 March 2015 309,777 400,000
27 July 2012 c 27 July 2015 190,931 210,000
28 March 2013 c 28 March 2016 7,863,892 8,625,000
27 May 2013 c 27 May 2016 2,555,804 2,543,158
27 July 2013 c 27 July 2016 211,029 240,000
31 March 2014 c 31 March 2017 8,955,000 –
21 May 2014 c 31 March 2017 200,000 –
25 July 2014 c 25 July 2017 150,000 –

30,275,252 30,227,258

Key Executive Recruitment and Key Executive Retention Plan
Date of grant Note Release date

2014 
Number

2013 
Number

9 December 2010 d 9 December 2013 4,802,228 4,778,465

4,802,228 4,778,465

2011 Retention Plan
Date of grant Note Release date

2014 
Number

2013 
Number

16 May 2011 e 30 September 2014 9,195,503 15,000,000

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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29. Employee share schemes continued
Sharesave scheme
Date of grant Release date

2014 
Number

2013 
Number

26 June 2012 1 August 2014 – 281,873
26 June 2012 1 August 2015 3,001,695 3,339,665
27 June 2013 1 August 2015 181,181 209,678
27 June 2013 1 August 2016 1,125,067 1,234,738
1 June 2014 1 August 2017 1,774,800 –

6,082,743 5,065,954

Performance conditions
a These options had no performance conditions attached.
b Performance conditions detailed in ‘Global Share Option and Incentive Plan’ above.
c Performance conditions detailed in ‘Performance Share Plan’ above. 
d Performance conditions detailed in ‘Key Executive Recruitment and Key Executive Retention Plan’ above.
e Performance conditions detailed in ‘2011 Retention Plan’ above.

The movements in the number of share options and shares under the ‘GSOP’, ‘PSP’, ‘GMIP’, ‘RRP’, ‘2011 Plan’ and Sharesave schemes  
are shown below.

Global Share 
Option and 

Incentive Plan 
Number of 

awards

Weighted average  
exercise price 

£

Performance  
Share Plan 
Number of  

awards

Global 
Management 
Incentive Plan 

Number of awards

Outstanding at 1 October 2012 4,777,867 £0.19 27,574,000 1,984,998
Granted – – 11,658,158
Exercised (1,623,028) £0.12 (6,332,082) (1,962,998)
Forfeited – – (2,672,818) –
Lapsed (1,469,813) £0.12 – (22,000)

Outstanding at 30 September 2013 1,685,026 £0.32 30,227,258 –
Exercisable at 30 September 2013 1,685,026 £0.32 30,227,258 –
Granted 834 – 9,544,639 –
Exercised (1,096,198) £0.26 (7,213,559) –
Forfeited – – (2,283,086) –
Lapsed (420,930) £0.26 – –

Outstanding at 30 September 2014 168,732 £0.41 30,275,252 –

Exercisable at 30 September 2014 168,732 £0.41 1,053,006 –

Range of exercise prices £0.247–£0.409
Weighted average remaining contractual life 1 year 2 years 0 years

 
Key Executive 

Recruitment 
and Key 

Executive 
Retention Plan 

Number of 
awards

2011 Plan 
Number of  

awards

UK, International 
and US Sharesave 

Scheme 
Number of awards

Outstanding at 1 October 2012 8,657,238 15,000,000 4,277,892
Granted – – 1,450,538
Exercised (3,878,773) – (6,884)
Forfeited – – –
Lapsed – – (655,592)

Outstanding at 30 September 2013 4,778,465 15,000,000 5,065,954
Exercisable at 30 September 2013 – – –
Granted 23,763 74,595 1,797,993
Exercised – – (287,986)
Forfeited – – (493,218)
Cancelled – – –
Lapsed – (5,879,092) –

Outstanding at 30 September 2014 4,802,228 9,195,503 6,082,743

Exercisable at 30 September 2014 4,802,228 9,195,503 –

Weighted average remaining contractual life
Year ended 30 September 2014 0 year 0 year 2 years
Year ended 30 September 2013 0 year 1 year 3 years
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29. Employee share schemes continued
There were 8,597,743 share options and nil share awards exercised during the year to 30 September 2014 (2013: 11,840,767 share options 
and 1,962,998 share awards). 

The weighted average share price in the year was 33.4p (2013: 25.5p).

The weighted average exercise share price for share options and awards exercised during the period was 34.3p (2013: 26.6p).

7,213,559 share options and nil share awards were exercised at nil cost to the employee during the year (2013: 10,210,855 share options 
and 1,962,998 share awards). The remaining 1,384,184 share options were exercised at an average exercise price of 24.5p (2013: 1,629,912 
share options were exercised at an average exercise price of 12.2p). 

Assumptions used in the valuation of share based payments
The Group engaged a third party to determine the fair value of the share based payment arrangements under the PSP scheme granted 
during the year to 30 September 2014. For all other plans, the valuation methodology remains unchanged from previous periods.  
The assumptions used in the valuation are outlined as follows:

Assumptions

2014
Performance  

Share Plan

2014
Performance  

Share Plan

2014
Performance  

Share Plan

2014
UK Sharesave 

Scheme

Fair value per share option £0.278 £0.248 £0.323 £0.06
Share price on date of grant £0.348 £0.323 £0.323 £0.329
Exercise price £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.296
Share options granted in the year 9,055,000 200,000 170,000 1,841,769
Vesting period (years) 3 3 3 3.2
Expected volatility 20.2% 18.7% 150% 32.6%
Expected life (years) 3 3 3 3
Risk-free rate of return 1.12% 1.12% 4.5% 0.39%
Fair value model used Stochastic Stochastic Black-Scholes Black-Scholes

Assumptions

2013
Performance  

Share Plan

2013
Performance  

Share Plan

2013
Performance  

Share Plan

2013
UK & International 

Sharesave Scheme

2013
US Sharesave 

Scheme

Fair value per share option £0.203 £0.217 £0.29 £0.06 £0.06
Share price on date of grant £0.255 £0.27 £0.29 £0.272 £0.272
Exercise price £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.245 £0.245
Share options granted in the year 8,875,000 2,543,158 240,000 1,234,738 215,800
Vesting period (years) 3 3 3 3.2 2.2
Expected volatility 28.3% 25.5% 150% 32.6% 41.2%
Expected life (years) 3 3 3 3.2 2.2
Risk-free rate of return 0.31% 0.47% 4.5% 0.39% 0.32%
Fair value model used Stochastic Stochastic Black-Scholes Black-Scholes Black-Scholes

The only awards granted during the current and previous financial years were under the PSP and the UK, US and International Sharesave 
Scheme. All awards are expected to be exercised on the date of vesting. 

Expected volatility was determined using the historic volatility of the Company’s share price over the expected life of the option.  
The risk-free rate of return is calculated based on the yield of a UK Government strip with a term commensurate with the expected term. 

A share based payment charge of £1,938,000 (2013: £2,234,000) has been recorded in the income statement in the year.  
The total charge for the year includes £197,000 (2013: £926,000) of employer social security contributions expensed in the year. 

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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30. Operating lease commitments 
The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties and items of equipment. At 30 September 2014 the Group  
had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Land and buildings Other

Future minimum lease payments payable
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Within one year 2,999 2,857 1,008 1,155
Between one and two years 3,202 2,730 889 804
Between two and five years 6.694 6,556 799 662
After five years 3,267 4,359 – 117

16,162 16,502 2,696 2,738

Operating leases operated by the Group primarily relate to the rental of office space for the use of Group companies. The leases cover 
periods of between two to ten years and the majority of these leases have options to renew at the expiry of these periods. An extension  
of the lease would typically be associated by an escalation in the level of the rent payable on the lease in line with market changes.  
There are no other significant restrictions in place in regards to the assets being leased. 

31. Capital and financial commitments 
At 30 September 2014 there was no capital expenditure (2013: £nil) contracted for and not provided in the financial statements. 

32. Contingent liabilities
Warrants – Nobilas France
As part of the transaction where 30% of the Group’s shareholding in Nobilas France was sold to Vendomes Participations 3 (‘VP3’),  
a subsidiary of AXA, two warrants exist which enable VP3 to increase its shareholding in Nobilas France if certain volume targets are met. 

These outcomes are summarised as follows: 

• VP3 can exercise the first warrant to increase its shareholding in Nobilas France from 30% to 40% (an increase of 10%) if more than 
200,000 AXA claims are handled by Nobilas France in a consecutive 12 month period by April 2023.

• VP3 can exercise the second warrant to increase its shareholding in Nobilas France from 40% to 49% (an increase of 9%) if more than 
240,000 AXA claims are handled by Nobilas France in a consecutive 12 month period by April 2023.

The cost to VP3 to exercise these warrants has been calculated as part of the original transaction and has been set at €1.3m/£1.1m  
and €1.6m/£1.3m respectively. At the date of the exercise of each warrant, AXA will be entitled to charge Nobilas France a volume  
rebate equivalent to the price of the warrant. The Group will account for the cost of this volume rebate in line with its existing revenue 
recognition accounting policy, once the likelihood of the exercise of the warrants become probable and the timing of the exercise 
becomes more certain. 

Management considers it probable that the first warrant will be exercised within the contractual timeframe and hence the related  
volume rebate is being accrued as a reduction against revenue in the income statement (see note 3).

At the balance sheet date and at the date of the signing of the Annual Report, management considers it remote that the second warrant 
will be exercised by April 2023 and as such no disclosure of the contingent liability is made and no charge has been made to the Group’s 
income statement in the current financial year relating to the second warrant. 

The Group has no other material contingent liabilities to disclose at 30 September 2014. 
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33. Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not 
included in this note. Transactions between the Group and its associates are disclosed below. 

Trading transactions
Sales to  

related party 
£’000

Amounts  
owed by 

related party 
£’000

Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited
2014 2,085 –
2013 2,385 –

e-MTA
2014 – –
2013 – 19

Sureplan NZ
2014 7 35
2013 19 2

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management, recognised in the income statement, is set out below in aggregate. 
Key management are defined as the Board of the Innovation Group plc and those persons, directly or indirectly, having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. Further information on the remuneration of the Directors 
is disclosed within the Directors’ Remuneration report.

2014 
£’000

2013 
£’000

Short-term employee benefits 2,293 2,976
Post-employment benefits 121 132
Share based payments 1,081 1,404

3,495 4,512

34. Post balance sheet events 
On 3 December 2014, the group acquired 100% of the share capital of Ingleby (1879) Limited, the holding company of EMaC Limited,  
one of the UK’s leading motor service plan specialists, for total maximum cash consideration of £46.0m. £36.0m was paid in cash  
on completion with a further payment of up to £10.0m payable in cash in early 2017 based on a profit target for the calendar year to  
31 December 2016.
 
Due to the proximity of this acquisition to the announcement date of this Annual Report and Accounts, it has not been possible to prepare 
the purchase price accounting under IFRS 3, this will be prepared and disclosed in the interim report for the period ending 31 March 2015.

Notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable  
United Kingdom law and United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the  
state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements,  
the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained  

in the financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue  

in business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are  
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection  
of fraud and other irregularities.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in relation to the Company financial statements



118 The Innovation Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2014

Note
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

FIXED ASSETS
Investments 3 203,416 170,566

CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors 4 78,866 65,378
Cash at bank and in hand 14,364 1,506

93,230 66,884
CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year 5 (4,143) (2,324)

NET CURRENT ASSETS 89,087 64,560

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 292,503 235,126

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after more than one year
Other creditors 6 (58,700) (43,307)

(58,700) (43,307)

PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES 7 (802) (650)

NET ASSETS 233,001 191,169

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital 8 24,137 19,730
Share premium account 10 109,163 48,287
Merger reserve 10 2,121 2,121
Profit and loss account 10 97,580 121,031

TOTAL EQUITY  233,001 191,169

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 3 December 2014 and were signed on its behalf by:

Jane Hall
Director
3 December 2014

Company balance sheet
Year ended 30 September 2014
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Company notes to the financial statements
Year ended 30 September 2014

1. Accounting policies 
Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and UK 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (‘UK GAAP’) on a going concern basis. The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of these financial statements are set out below and have been applied consistently throughout the year and the preceding 
year. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish its 
individual profit and loss account and related notes.

Financial assets 
Investments
Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less any provision for impairment in value. Investments in unquoted equity 
investments which do not have a reliable market value are stated at cost less provision for any impairment in value. For investments where 
there is an actively traded market the investment is stated at fair value, determined by reference to a quoted market bid price at the close 
of business on the balance sheet date. 

Cash
Cash at bank and in hand represents cash in hand and deposits repayable with any qualifying institution. 

Debtors
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are stated at the lower of the original invoiced value and recoverable amount. A provision is 
made against the debtor when there is evidence that the Company may not be able to collect the full amount due. Any amounts provided 
for are recorded in the profit and loss account within administrative expenses. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against administrative expenses within the profit and loss account.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes party to the contracts which give rise to them and are classified as 
financial liabilities at fair value through the profit and loss or loans and payables as appropriate. When financial liabilities are recognised 
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through profit and loss, directly attributable 
transaction costs. The Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. A financial liability is generally 
derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an  
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts together with any costs or fees incurred are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past event and management believe it to be 
probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted to net present value where this is deemed  
to be material. 

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the gains or 
losses on translation are included in the profit and loss account. 

Dividends
Dividends are recognised once paid and once formally approved and recorded as a liability and no longer at the discretion of the Company.

Share based payments
Employees (including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share based payment transactions, whereby employees 
render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’). 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted 
using an appropriate model. 

A cost is recorded in the subsidiary company that benefits from the employee’s services. Since there are no employees within  
The Innovation Group plc no charge has been recorded in the current or previous year within the Profit and Loss account. 

The fair value of the equity-settled share based payment is recognised in the relevant subsidiary operating company as an expense, with 
the equity reserve being recognised in the Company and a capital contribution within Investments – shares in subsidiary undertakings.
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2. Profit for the year attributable to members of the Parent Company 
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its profit and loss account. The parent 
Company’s loss for the year ended 30 September 2014 was £24,183,000 (2013: £3,616,000 profit). 

3. Investments

The Company

Shares in 
subsidiary 

undertakings 
£’000

Other 
investments 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Cost
At 1 October 2013 677,341 913 678,254
Capital contribution to subsidiary companies1 1,938 – 1,938
Additions 31,383 – 31,383
Disposals – – –

At 30 September 2014 710,662 913 711,575

Amounts provided
At 1 October 2013 507,478 676 508,154
Impairment – 5 5

At 30 September 2014 507,478 681 508,159

Net book value
At 30 September 2014 203,184 232 203,416

At 30 September 2013 169,863 237 170,100

1 This represents the debit associated with the share options granted by The Innovation Group plc to employees of subsidiary companies. The cumulative charge to date is £14,543,000 
(2013: £12,605,000).

The increase in shares in subsidiary undertakings represents £22.6m in regards to the acquisition of LAS Claims Management Limited  
and £8.8m in regards to the acquisition of Crashworth Limited. 

Other investments includes an investment of £232,000 (2013: £232,000) in ETSIA Digital Inc, which represents 3.5% of the ordinary  
share capital in ETSIA Digital Inc. A shareholding of 2,937,500 ordinary shares in Resources in Insurance Group plc (formerly The Claims 
People Group plc), a company listed on the Alternative Investment Market with a value of £5,000 was impaired during the year to £nil. 
(2013: £5,000). 

Loans of £853,000 (2013: £466,000) to ETSIA Digital Inc are included within other debtors (note 4). 

Company notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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3. Investments continued
The Company held the following investments in principal subsidiary undertakings during the year:

Subsidiary undertakings
Country of 

incorporation

Direct/indirect holding  
and percentage of  

ordinary shares held

Software
The Innovation Group (EMEA) Limited UK Direct 100%
The Innovation Group Australia Pty Limited Australia Indirect 100%
The Innovation Group Japan Pty Limited Australia Indirect 100%
The Innovation Group Inc USA Indirect 100%
The Innovation Group (TIG) Limited Canada Direct 100%
TiG – Netsol (Pvt) Limited1 Pakistan Direct 49.5% 

BPS
Motorcare Services Limited UK Indirect 100%
Crashworth Limited UK Direct 100%
LAS Management Services Limited UK Indirect 100%
The Innovation Group (Pty) Limited South Africa Indirect 75%
Innovation Group AG Germany Indirect 100%
Innovation Property (UK) Limited UK Direct 100%
Sureplan Australia (Pty) Limited Australia Direct 100%
First Notice Systems Inc. USA Indirect 100%
Sureplan USA Inc USA Indirect 100%
Driven Solutions Inc USA Indirect 100%
Nobilas UK Limited UK Direct 100%
Wintec AG Germany Indirect 100%
TJH Financial Services Limited South Africa Indirect 70%
Claims Services Australia (Pty) Limited Australia Indirect 100%
Value Partners B.V. Belgium Direct 100% 
Nobilas France SAS France Direct 70%

Property
DIMO Computing Limited UK Direct 100%

Associates – BPS
Cell captive within Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited2 South Africa Indirect 100%
Cell captive within Absa Risk Insurance Management Services Limited2 South Africa Indirect 100%

1 The Directors have concluded that the Group exercises a dominant influence over this company as it is able to control its operating and financial decisions through its position on the Board. 
2 The Directors have concluded that the Group exercises significant influence over the cell captive but is unable to exercise control.

The Directors have taken the exemption permitted by section 410 of the Companies Act 2006, to only disclose those undertakings 
principally affecting the results and assets. 

4. Debtors
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings: amounts falling due within one year 78,013 64,890
Other debtors 853 488

78,866 65,378

Included within amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings is £33,523,000 (2013: £51,392,000) which is interest bearing at rates varying 
between 2.25% – 4.52% (2013: 0.5% – 4.52%). All amounts due are unsecured. 

All amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are repayable on demand and are therefore classified as current.
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5. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Accruals 149 349
Other creditors 54 –
Post-acquisition compensation 1,250 –
Deferred consideration on acquisition of subsidiaries 2,576 –
Contingent consideration on acquisition of subsidiaries 114 1,975

4,143 2,324

Contingent consideration represents amounts owing to the previous shareholders of Gemini Vehicle Solutions Limited and 
ValuePartners BV as outlined in Note 17 of the consolidated financial statements. 

6. Creditors: amounts falling due after one year
2014 

£’000
2013 

£’000

Bank loans and overdrafts 21,094 –
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 36,659 42,695
Other creditors 947 –
Contingent consideration on acquisition of subsidiary – 612

58,700 43,307

Included within amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings is £15,882,000 (2013: £32,487,000) which is interest bearing at rates varying 
between 2.25% – 4.52% (2013: 0.5% – 4.52%). All amounts due are unsecured. 

All amounts due to subsidiary undertakings are repayable on demand however the Directors control when repayment occurs and 
therefore balances are not expected to be called for repayment within one year and so are classified as due after more than one year.

Contingent consideration payable relates to the Value Partners N.V. acquisition performed in the prior year. 

7. Provisions for liabilities 
NI on share 

options
£’000

Balance at 1 October 2013 650
Provided in the year 197
Utilised in the year (45)

Balance at 30 September 2014 802

The share option provision reflects the Directors’ estimate of the employer’s national insurance and other similar tax liabilities arising on 
outstanding share options. This provision is expected to be utilised over the coming 36 month period. 

The Company had no unrecognised deferred tax assets or liabilities at the balance sheet date (2013: £nil).

Company notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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8. Share capital 
2014 2013

Number £’000 Number £’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 2p each 1,206,867,678 24,137 986,494,935 19,730

The following share issues took place during the current financial year.
Date of issue Description

Number of  
shares

Price 
£

Consideration 
£

1 November 2013 Exercise of options under GSOP 867,483 0.247 214,268
6 December 2013 Exercise of options under PSP 1,186,800 0.00 –
19 December 2013 Shares issued as contingent consideration 2,400,000 0.20 480,000
23 December 2013 Exercise of options under PSP 3,100,000 0.00 –
6 January 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 1,194,500 0.00 –
15 January 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 550,000 0.00 –
6 February 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 200,000 0.00 –
21 February 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 132,259 0.00 –
27 February 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 350,000 0.00 –
13 March 2014 Placing of shares under Open Offer 209,375,000 0.32 67,000,000
14 March 2014 Exercise of options under GSOP 195,136 0.319 62,248
24 March 2014 Exercise of options under GSOP 33,579 0.319 10,712
31 March 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 150,000 0.00 –
25 June 2014 Exercise of options under PSP 350,000 0.00 –
21 July 2014 Exercise of options under Sharesave 18,946 0.182 3,448
25 September 2014 Exercise of options under Sharesave 269,040 0.182 48,965

As shares are issued, the cash received upon issuance is treated as consideration and included as additions to the Issued Capital and 
Share Premium accounts. Shares issued as contingent consideration are also added to share capital and share premium and form part  
of the calculation of the total investment in Values Partners N.V.

The share placing on 13 March 2014 raised gross proceeds of £67,000,000, and net proceeds of £64,320,000 after related costs of 
£2,680,000.

The following share issues took place during the previous financial year. 
Date of issue Description

Number of  
shares

Price 
£

Consideration 
£

21 November 2012 Shares issued for acquisition of subsidiary 10,519,172 0.221 2,327,367
13 December 2012 Exercise of awards under GMIP 1,962,998 0.00 –
28 January 2013 Exercise of options under Sharesave 874 0.183 160
28 May 2013 Exercise of awards under RRP 3,878,773 0.00 –
6 June 2013 Exercise of awards under GSOP 1,231,263 0.122 150,214
13 June 2013 Exercise of awards under GSOP 111,933 0.122 13,656
25 June 2013 Exercise of awards under PSP 5,439,500 0.00 –
1 July 2013 Shares issued as contingent consideration 800,000 0.200 160,000
2 July 2013 Exercise of awards under PSP 593,400 0.00 –
15 July 2013 Exercise of awards under GSOP 279,832 0.122 34,140
15 August 2013 Exercise of awards under PSP 299,182 0.00 –
1 September 2013 Exercise of options under Sharesave 6,010 0.183 1,100
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9. Employee share schemes 
The number of shares subject to options (including those granted to Executive Directors), the date on which they were granted and  
the periods in which they may be exercised are given below. 

Share Options
Global Share Option and Incentive Plan
Date of grant Exercise price Exercise period from date of grant

2014 
Number

2013 
Number

16 March 2004 £0.319 Between 2 and 10 years – 702,597
16 March 2004 £0.319 Between 3 and 10 years – 351,299
16 March 2004 £0.319 Between 4 and 10 years – 351,299
7 September 2004 £0.247 Between 2 and 10 years – 37,311
7 September 2004 £0.247 Between 3 and 10 years – 37,311
7 September 2004 £0.247 Between 4 and 10 years – 37,311
31 March 2005 £0.409 Between 3 and 10 years 56,244 55,966
31 March 2005 £0.409 Between 4 and 10 years 56,244 55,966
31 March 2005 £0.409 Between 5 and 10 years 56,244 55,966

168,732 1,685,026

Share Awards
Performance Share Plan
Date of grant Release date

2014 
Number

2013 
Number

25 June 2010 25 June 2013 198,782 1,879,100
22 December 2010 22 December 2013 854,224 6,250,000
29 February 2012 1 March 2015 8,785,813 10,080,000
20 March 2012 20 March 2015 309,777 400,000
27 July 2012 27 July 2015 190,931 210,000
28 March 2013 28 March 2016 7,863,892 8,625,000
28 May 2013 28 May 2016 2,555,804 2,543,158
27 July 2013 27 July 2016 211,029 240,000
31 March 2014 31 March 2017 8,955,000 –
21 May 2014 31 March 2017 200,000 –

150,000

30,275,252 30,227,258

Key Executive Recruitment and Key Executive Retention Plan
Date of grant Release date

2014 
Number

2013 
Number

9 December 2010 9 December 2013 4,802,228 4,778,465

4,802,228 4,778,465

2011 Retention Plan
Date of grant Release date

2014 
Number

2013 
Number

16 May 2011 30 September 2014 9,195,503 15,000,000

Sharesave scheme
Date of grant Release date

2014 
Number

2013 
Number

26 June 2012 1 August 2014 – 281,873
26 June 2012 1 August 2015 3,001,695 3,339,665
27 June 2013 1 August 2015 181,181 209,678
27 June 2013 1 August 2016 1,125,067 1,234,738
1 June 2014 1 August 2017 1,774,800 –

6,082,743 5,065,954

Further details on the scheme are included in note 29 of the consolidated financial statements. 

Company notes to the financial statements continued
Year ended 30 September 2014
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10. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
Called up  

Share capital 
£’000

Share  
premium 

account 
£’000

Merger  
reserve 

£’000

Profit and  
loss account 

£’000

Total 
Shareholders’ 

funds
£’000

At 30 September 2013 19,730 48,287 2,121 121,031 191,169
Profit for the year – – – (24,183) (24,183)
Credit arising in respect of share options granted to employees of 

subsidiary companies – – – 1,938 1,938
Shares issued 4,407 60,876 – – 65,283
Dividends paid – – – (1,206) (1,206)

At 30 September 2014 24,137 109,163 2,121 97,580 233,001

The profit and loss account reserve includes £14,543,000 (2013: £12,605,000) relating to the share option charge arising in respect of 
share options granted to employees of subsidiary companies.

An interim dividend on ordinary shares of 0.1p per share was paid during the year (2013: nil).

11. Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 8 not to disclose transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries.  
During the year, the Company entered into transactions in the ordinary course of business with the following subsidiaries.  
Transactions entered into and trading balances outstanding as at 30 September 2014, are as follows: 

Sales to  
related party 

£’000

Purchases 
from  

related party 
£’000

Amounts  
owed by 

related party 
£’000

Amounts  
owed to  

related party 
£’000

The Innovation Group (Pty) Limited
2014 – – – –
2013 – – – 24

Addressology Limited
2014 – – – –
2013 – – 278 –

Nobilas France SAS
2014 – – – 3,978
2013 – – – 5,374

The Innovation Group plc is the Parent Company of The Innovation Group (Pty) Limited and owns 75% of the ordinary share capital of  
the Company. It is also the Parent Company of Nobilas France SAS and owns 70% of the ordinary share capital of this company.

12. Contingent liabilities
At 30 September 2014 there was no capital expenditure (2013: £nil) contracted for and not provided in the Company financial statements.

There are no contingent liabilities in relation to the Company (2013: £nil). 

13. Statutory and other information
There are no employees of the Company (2013: nil).

Directors’ remuneration is disclosed on page 56 of the Directors’ Remuneration report. 

The Company paid £9,000 (2013: £9,000) to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements of the Company.

Fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP for non-audit services to the Company are not disclosed in the individual accounts of The Innovation 
Group plc because Group financial statements are prepared which are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

14. Post balance sheet events
On 3 December 2014, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital of Ingleby (1879) Limited, the holding company of EMaC Limited,  
one of the UK’s leading motor service plan specialists, for total maximum cash consideration of £46.0m. £36.0m was paid in cash  
on completion with a further payment of up to £10.0m payable in cash in early 2017 based on a profit target for the calendar year to  
31 December 2016.
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Investor Calendar – Financial Year 2015

Event Date

H1 Interim Management Statement February 2015
Annual General Meeting March 2015
Interim Financial Results May 2015
H2 Interim Management Statement August 2015
2015 Financial Results December 2015

Share price history
The following table sets out the closing high and low middle market quotation of the ordinary share price of the Company on the  
London Stock Exchange for the periods as described. 

Year ended 30 September
High 

(p)
Low 

(p)
Year end price 

(p)

2010 9.75 14.25 11.25
2011 23.00 11.75 19.75
2012 22.00 16.75 22.00
2013 30.25 20.75 29.25
2014 36.50 26.00 28.50

Appendix 1 – Shareholder information
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Adjusted profit and adjusted earnings per share
Group adjusted profit is defined as being Group profit before tax adjusted for:

• Amortisation of intangible assets created through business combinations accounted for under IFRS 3(R);
• Advisor and other related costs incurred on business combinations;
• Share based payments charges as calculated under IFRS 2;
• Exceptional and other one-off items which do not reflect the underlying trade of the business;
• Impairment of non-current assets; and
• Profit or loss created on disposal of non-current assets.

Adjusted earnings per share is profit after tax attributable to equity shareholders adjusted for the items outlined above in  
‘Group Adjusted Profit’ divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the financial year.

We believe it is important to report these measures to shareholders and analysts for the following reasons:

• these form part of the internal performance measurement of the Group by those charged with governance and reflects the  
ongoing underlying trade of the business;

• these measures inform remuneration policies for Executive Directors and senior management for both bonus and long-term  
incentive plans; and

• these measures are commonly used within the investment analyst community.

Adjusted EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and Amortisation)
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as being operating profit excluding share in the results of associates, depreciation and amortisation,  
share based payment charges, exceptional items, impairment losses and other operating income and expense.

We use adjusted EBITDA, in conjunction with adjusted profit (defined below) to assess our operating performance.

We believe that EBITDA is an operating performance measure, not a liquidity measure, as it includes non-cash changes in working  
capital and is reviewed by the Executive Directors to assess internal performance in conjunction with adjusted profit margin, which is  
an alternative net margin figure.

Adjusted EBITDA is also used by our bankers to monitor compliance against the covenants to which the Group is signed up to as part  
of its revolving credit facility.

Cash flow measures
One of the key performance indicators used by the Group is cash conversion of adjusted EBITDA.

Cash conversion of adjusted EBITDA is defined as being the net cash flow from operating activities, adjusted for payments made in  
the year on corporation tax, exceptional items and executive team bonuses divided by adjusted EBITDA.

We believe it is important to report this measure to shareholders and analysts as:

• this demonstrates our capabilities in being able to convert profits into cash available for reinvestment into the business so as to 
increase shareholder value;

• this forms part of the internal performance measurement of the Group;
• this measure informs the remuneration policy for Executive Directors and senior management for bonus payments; and
• this measure is commonly used within the investment analyst community.

Organic growth
Organic growth is used by the Group to present the growth of the business allowing for any acquisition activity undertaken by the Group  
in the current and previous financial years.

We believe it is relevant to report this measure to shareholders and analysts as:

• it provides additional information on the underlying performance of the business without the impact of any mergers and acquisition 
activity; and

• it enables comparison of performance with other companies, however as the term ‘organic growth’ is not defined under IFRS, it may  
not reflect a consistent application of the terminology.

Constant currency
Constant currency is used by the Group to present performance metrics for the previous year using the current year’s average and closing 
exchange rate. As the Group generated over 74% of its revenues (2013: 77%) and over 79% of its profits (2013: 90%) through operations 
outside of the UK in the current financial year we believe this provides a more accurate representation of the performance of the global 
management team on a year to year basis. 

Appendix 2 – Definition of non-GAAP measures
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Adjusted effective tax rate
The adjusted effective tax rate is defined as being the Group’s adjusted tax charge divided by Adjusted EBITDA.

The Group’s adjusted tax charge is the Group’s tax charge for the year adjusted for the tax effect from:

• Amortisation of intangible assets created through business combinations accounted for under IFRS 3(R);
• Advisor and other related costs incurred on business combinations;
• Share based payments charges as calculated under IFRS 2;
• Exceptional one-off items which do not reflect the underlying trade of the business; and
• Impairment of non-current assets.
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The quantity of emissions in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e) resulting from activities for which the Group is responsible  
has been calculated for year ended 30 September 2014 as follows:

Emissions source

FY13 tCO2e  
(as reported in  

FY13 annual report)

FY13 tCO2e  
(including 
base year 

adjustment 
to account for 
acquisitions1) FY14 tCO2e

% change  
FY13 revised  

to FY14

Scope 1 emissions (including combustion of fuel, fugitive emissions and emissions 
from owned or controlled vehicles)

2,694 3,238 3,122 -3.58

Scope 2 emissions (including purchase of electricity) 7,468 7,496 7,058 -5.84

Total Scope 1 & 2 tCO2e 10,162 10,734 10,180 -5.16

Total Scope 1 & 2 tCO2e per FTE 4 4.09 3.45 -15.65
Total Scope 1 & 2 tCO2e per m2 0.28 0.28 0.24 -14.29
Scope 3 emissions (including business travel in aeroplanes, 
cars, taxis, trains, ferries buses and motorbikes)

2,921 3,211 3,572 +11.24

Total scope 1, 2, and 3 emissions tCO2e (excluding scope 3 transmission and 
distribution and distribution)

13,083 13.945 13,752 -1.38

Total scope 1, 2, and 3 emissions tCO2e per FTE (excluding scope 3 transmission 
and distribution)

5.15 5.31 4.66 -12.24

Scope 3 transmission and distribution for electricity 711 716 678 -5.31
Outside of scopes (figures for biofuel blend for UK car travel only) 11 11.7 22.1 +88.9
Total tCO2e 13,805 14,673.7 14,452.2 -1.51

Total tCO2e per FTE 5.43 5.59 4.89 -12.52

Carbon credits purchased from certified offset projects. 828 
(1,656)2

1,656 2,890 +74.52

Total tCO2e less offsets 12,977 
(12,149)2

12,149 11,561.8 -4.83

1  This base year figure has been recalculated from the figures in our FY13 Annual Report and Accounts. The recalculated figure now includes emissions for Crashworth Limited and LAS Claims 
Management Limited which were acquired on 31 January and 13 March 2014. The recalculation has been completed in line with the GHG Protocol guideline. We have recalculated under the fixed base 
year approach where emissions sources from an acquired company are included both with their emissions in the base year (when the acquiring company didn’t control these sources yet) and in the 
current years. Emissions have also been recalculated for the entire year (all-year option), rather than only for the remainder of the reporting period after the structural change occurred (the pro-rata 
option). Further detail is available in our GHG Emissions Inventory report at this link: http://www.innovation-group.com/sustainability.

2  We reported the purchase of 828 tCO2e for FY13 in last year’s annual report. However, we later doubled our offset commitment and purchased a further 828 tCO2e to account for 12% of the Scope 1, 
2 and 3 emissions for FY13.

Appendix 3 – Greenhouse gas (‘GHG’) emissions disclosure
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As a Group we employ over 3,000 people in 14 countries, all of whom contribute to the success of our business. As required by legislation, 
we report the split of our employees as follows (numbers include full and part time employees):
 
Segment Female Male Female (%) Male (%)

AsiaPacific1 135 322 30 70
Germany 119 87 58 42
North America1 252 203 55 45
Rest of Europe 113 94 55 45
South Africa 444 397 53 47
United Kingdom 405 527 43 57

Total 1,468 1,630 47 53

Directors of the Company 1 4 20 80
Senior Managers of the Company2 7 34 17 83

1 Group and development employees included in their normal home country.
2 Senior management (excluding Directors) is considered to be those who form part of the senior management team within regions and make decisions which could impact the results of the Group. 

This includes all officers of subsidiary undertakings.

 
Due to the geographical spread of our business, we feel it is inappropriate to report diversity on any measure other than gender.

Appendix 4 – Employee diversity
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2014
IFRS

2013
IFRS

2012
IFRS

2011
IFRS

2010
IFRS

Profit and loss account
Revenue £’000 209,772 204,431 193,730 175,868 162,144

Adjusted EBITDA a £’000 36,964 29,802 24,209 21,448 15,903
Adjusted profit b £’000 27,465 21,913 18,456 15,085 9,824
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation £’000 13,155 14,429 11,772 10,207 (1,696)
Dividends £’000 1,206 – – – –

Earnings/(loss) per share c
– Basic p 0.77 0.78 0.63 0.47 (0.64)
– Adjusted p 1.87 1.44 1.25 0.95 0.57
Dividend per share p 0.1 – – – –

Balance sheet
Non-current assets/Fixed assets £’000 180,959 137,424 133,095 112,527 111,781
Other assets less liabilities £’000 (38,759) (34,116) (37,060) (37,405) (39,079)
Net funds £’000 55,619 27,324 26,046 32,713 28,771

Total equity/Net assets £’000 197,819 130,632 122,081 107,835 101,473

Operating cash flow £’000 22,917 19,046 16,638 16,897 7,662

Key ratios
Operating cash conversion d % 88 90 95 103 119
Adjusted EBITDA margin e % 17.6 14.6 13.3 12.2 9.8
Adjusted profit margin f % 13.1 10.7 9.5 8.6 6.0

Employees (average) Number 2,873 2,787 2,627 2,355 2,212

a Adjusted EBITDA is operating profit/(loss) before amortisation, impairment of assets, depreciation, share based payments, utilisation of pre-acquisition brought forward tax losses and 
exceptional items.

b Adjusted profit is profit/(loss) before tax, after adding back amortisation of acquired intangibles, impairment of assets, share based payments, utilisation of pre-acquisition brought forward  
tax losses and exceptional items.

c Earnings/(loss) per share has been adjusted in all years in respect of the shares issued by way of rights issue in December 2006.
d Operating cash conversion is the adjusted operating cash inflow divided by adjusted EBITDA.
e Adjusted EBITDA margin is adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue.
f Adjusted profit margin is adjusted profit as a percentage of revenue.

Five year review
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